University of Alberta

Isolation and Characterization of Mutations Affecting Alternative Oxidase Regulation in *Neurospora crassa*

by

Andrea Teresa Descheneau



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

Molecular Biology and Genetics

Department of Biological Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2004

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

Patrimoine de l'édition

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada 395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et

Direction du

Archives Canada

Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-96257-1 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-96257-1

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing the Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou aturement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Abstract

When the cytochrome mediated electron transport chain in the fungus *Neurospora crassa* is disrupted, an alternative oxidase, encoded by the nuclear gene *aod-1*, is induced. The alternative oxidase donates electrons directly to oxygen from ubiquinone, bypassing two proton pumping sites of the normal electron transport chain.

Little is known about the control of *aod-1* expression. To facilitate isolation of mutations affecting the regulation of the gene, a tyrosinase based reporter system was constructed. The reporter construct contains the region upstream of the *aod-1* gene fused to the coding sequence of the *N. crassa* enzyme tyrosinase, so that expression of the enzyme is controlled by signals that normally affect *aod-1*. Expression of tyrosinase is easily monitored, as its activity turns colonies brown when they are overlaid with a tyrosine solution. The reporter construct was integrated into the genome of a strain shown to carry a null allele of the endogenous gene encoding tyrosinase.

When cells containing the reporter system were mutagenized and assayed for tyrosinase activity under conditions that normally induce alternative oxidase, eighteen mutant strains were isolated that affected induction of both the reporter and endogenous alternative oxidase. Complementation analysis revealed that four novel loci involved in *aod-1* regulation, named *aod-4*, *aod-5*, *aod-6*, and *aod-7*, had been isolated. Mutations in these genes were shown to prevent induction of *aod-1* mRNA and protein. An *aod-4* strain also exhibited a temperature-sensitive growth defect at 30° C and was deficient in cytochromes *aa*₃ and *b*. The *aod-4* gene maps to the right arm of linkage group V.

A chloramphenicol resistant mutation (*chl-1*) was also isolated. Chloramphenicol prevents mitochondrial translation, thereby disrupting oxidative phosphorylation and

inducing alternative oxidase. Unlike wild-type strains grown in the presence of chloramphenicol, cells carrying the *chl-1* mutation have normal levels of cytochromes *aa*₃ and *b*, and do not induce alternative oxidase activity. However, growth of the *chl-1* strain in the presence of the complex III inhibitor antimycin A does induce alternative oxidase activity. The *chl-1* gene maps to the right arm of linkage group II, and is the only chloramphenicol resistance marker reported for *N. crassa* to date.

Dedicated to my family, my friends, and Dr. Chris Todd.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Frank Nargang. After agreeing to write a letter of recommendation, Frank offered me a technician/summer student position after my first year as an undergraduate, and I have been in his lab ever since. He gave me not only the technical, theoretical and financial aid to finish this project, but also support and encouragement when experiments did not go as well as expected. Frank has been an excellent mentor for how to achieve great science.

I am grateful for the technical support and friendship that I have received from Bonnie Crowther, Nancy Go and Cheryl Nargang, as well as from numerous summer students that have been through the lab. I am also indebted to the members of the Molecular Biology Services Unit for their help in supporting my work. I could not have done the two-dimensional mitochondrial proteomic work without the aid of Dr. R. Rachubinski, or the advice of his technician, Rick Poirier. I would also like to thank those members of the Nargang lab that helped Ian and I deal with the vast numbers of EMS treated conidia, as well as Tehnia Aziz, who came back especially for this project.

I am also appreciative of the help that all the faculty members in Molecular Biology and Genetics have offered. From honing my presentation skills to writing numerous letters of recommendation, they have always been helpful and encouraging. I am especially thankful to the members of my committee for their help in keeping the project on track and in perspective.

Needless to say, I am extremely thankful to all the past and present members of the Nargang lab. They have always been there to support me scientifically and emotionally. I have made some true friends in Frank's lab that I will hopefully keep forever.

I am also indebted to my family and friends. They have always been interested in my research, and have even listened to and tried to understand my long and elaborate explanations. As well, I am enormously thankful to Chris for always listening and always being encouraging. I cannot thank everyone enough for their support, without which this thesis would not have been worthwhile.

Table of Contents

			page	
1	Intro	oduction	1	
	1.1	Mitochondria	1	
	1.2	Mitochondrial origin		
	1.3	Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)	2	
		1.3.1 Neurospora crassa mitochondrial DNA	3	
		1.3.2 Mitochondrial DNA structure and inheritance	4	
	1.4	Mitochondrial protein import	5	
	1.5	Mitochondrial function	8	
	1.6	Oxidative phosphorylation	10	
	1.7	Alternative oxidase	17	
		1.7.1 Alternative oxidase structure	19	
		1.7.2 Alternative oxidase capacity versus engagement	23	
		1.7.3 Alternative oxidase dimerization and regulation by pyruvat	e 25	
		1.7.4 Alternative oxidase activation by mononucleotides	27	
		1.7.5 Regulation of alternative oxidase expression	28	
	1.8	Physiological role of alternative oxidase		
	1.9	Alternative oxidase in N. crassa		
	1.10	0 Mitochondrial – nuclear communication		
		1.10.1 Two-component signaling pathways	38	
		1.10.2 Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules	39	
		1.10.3 Retrograde regulation	40	
		1.10.4 More than one signaling pathway	41	
	1.11	Tyrosinase	41	
	1.12	Objective of this study	46	
2	Mate	Materials and Methods		
	2.1	Growth of N. crassa	47	
	2.2	Yeast one hybrid vector and transformation	56	
	2.3	Tyrosinase reporter system	56	

2.4	Construction of reporter system	58
2.5	DNA modification and gel electrophoresis	58
2.6	Isolation of DNA from agarose gels	61
2.7	Growth of E. coli	61
2.8	Transformation of competent E. coli cells	62
2.9	Small scale plasmid or cosmid isolation	62
2.10	Large scale plasmid or cosmid isolation	62
2.11	Determination of nucleic acid concentration	63
2.12	DNA sequencing and analysis	63
2.13	Oligonucleotides used in this study	63
2.14	Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	65
2.15	Conidial DNA preparation for PCR	65
2.16	Transformation of N. crassa using sphaeroplasts	65
2.17	Transformation of N. crassa by electroporation	67
2.18	Purification of transformant strains	68
2.19	N. crassa genomic DNA isolation	68
2.20	Genomic DNA gels and Southern blotting	69
2.21	Southern hybridization	70
2.22	Radio-active labeling of DNA	70
2.23	Sephadex G50 columns for probe purification	71
2.24	RNA isolation	71
2.25	RNA gels and Northern blotting	71
2.26	Northern hybridization	72
2.27	Tyrosinase plate assay	72
2.28	Insertional mutagenesis	73
2.29	Ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS) mutagenesis and enrichment	73
2.30	Respiration assay	77
2.31	Mating strains and isolating progeny	78
2.32	Growth rate measurement	78
2.33	Mitochondrial isolation	79
2.34	Mitochondrial purification	79

	2.35	Cytochrome spectra	80	
	2.36	SDS-PAGE and Western blotting	80	
	2.37	Immunological protein detection (Western blot analysis)	81	
	2.38	Two-Dimensional gel electrophoresis	81	
	2.39	Silver staining	82	
	2.40	MALDI-TOF mass spectroscopy sequencing	82	
3	Resu	ılts	84	
	3.1	Assay for alternative oxidase activity	84	
	3.2	Initial attempts to identify factors involved in alternative oxidase	87	
		expression		
		3.2.1 Yeast one hybrid analysis	87	
		3.2.2 Alternative oxidase activity in kinase mutants	88	
	3.3	Selection scheme for isolating alternative oxidase regulatory mutants	88	
	3.4	Initial reporter strain	91	
		3.4.1 Mutagenesis of initial reporter strain	94	
	3.5	Creation of oxidative phosphorylation mutant reporter strain	95	
	3.6	Characterization of the tyrosinase gene in mutant strains	96	
	3.7	Construction of second reporter strain	111	
	3.8	Mutagenesis of strain T11-76	113	
		3.8.1 Comparison of methods of EMS mutagenesis	122	
	3.9	Crossing of mutant strains to obtain progeny	127	
	3.10	Complementation analysis	131	
	3.11	Growth rates	140	
	3.12	Cytochrome spectra	146	
	3.13	Alternative oxidase expression 1		
	3.14	Mapping of the regulatory mutations 15		
	3.15	Rescue and identification of isolated mutations	152	
	3.16	Two-Dimensional gel electrophoresis	164	

4	Discussion		178	
	4.1	Role of the upstream CRE in regulating alternative oxidase	178	
	4.2	Possible involvement of two-component or retrograde signaling	179	
		pathways		
	4.3	Tyrosinase reporter system	180	
	4.4	Characterization of the tyrosinase RIP allele	182	
	4.5	Analysis of the mutagenic approaches	184	
	4.6	Isolation of alternative oxidase regulatory mutants	186	
	4.7	Growth rates of isolated mutant strains	188	
	4.8	Cytochrome spectra of isolated mutant strains	190	
	4.9	The chloramphenicol resistance gene <i>chl-1</i>	190	
	4.10	Alternative oxidase expression	191	
	4.11	Mapping and rescue of isolated mutations	193	
	4.12	Mitochondrial proteome analysis	196	
	4.13	Summary	198	

References

199

List of Tables

		page
Table 1.	Strains used during this study.	48
Table 2.	Isolated mutant strains and their progeny.	50
Table 3.	Heterokaryotic strains created for complementation analysis.	52
Table 4.	Plasmids used during this study.	57
Table 5.	Primers used during this study.	64
Table 6.	Tests of conidial survival after treatment with different concentrations	76
	of EMS.	
Table 7.	Tyrosinase assay of potential reporter strains from the transformation	112
	of T1P11 with pBAT.	
Table 8.	Mutants isolated from EMS mutagenesis.	119
Table 9.	Comparison of the EMS mutagenesis methods.	126
Table 10.	Crosses of mutant strains to introduce auxotrophic markers.	128
Table 11.	Complementation analysis using heterokaryotic strains.	132
Table 12.	Assignment of <i>aod</i> gene designations to new alternative oxidase	139
	regulatory mutant complementation groups.	
Table 13.	Mapping of the <i>aod-4</i> gene.	153
Table 14.	Mapping of the <i>chl-1</i> gene.	157
Table 15.	Mapping of the <i>E3</i> mutation.	159
Table 16.	Mapping of the <i>aod-6</i> gene.	160

List of Figures

		page
Figure 1.	Cytochrome and alternative respiratory pathways.	12
Figure 2.	Ubiquinone cycle.	16
Figure 3.	Structural models of alternative oxidase.	22
Figure 4.	Melanin biosynthetic pathway.	44
Figure 5.	Reporter construct pBAT.	60
Figure 6.	Two methods for EMS mutagenesis of the reporter strain T11-76.	75
Figure 7.	Respirometer tracings and cytochrome spectra.	86
Figure 8.	Alternative oxidase activity in putative signaling component mutants.	90
Figure 9.	Tyrosinase plate assay of strains T1P11P08 and 8-18.	93
Figure 10.	Respiration in the <i>cya-5</i> , <i>T</i> mutant strain.	98
Figure 11.	Southern analysis of potential cya-5, T, reporter strains.	100
Figure 12.	Alignment of the T gene nucleotide sequence from strains T1P11,	103
	T1P11P08, 74-OR8-1a (OR), 69-1113 (TS), and 74-OR23-1VA	
	(Whitehead).	
Figure 13.	Alignment of the predicted protyrosinase protein sequence from strains	109
	T1P11, 74-OR8-1a (OR), 69-1113 (TS), and 74-OR23-1VA (Whitehead).	
Figure 14.	Southern analysis of T1P11 and potential reporter strains.	115
Figure 15.	Tyrosinase plate assay of strains T1P11, T11-9, T11-47 and T11-76.	117
Figure 16.	Tyrosinase plate assay of strains T1P11, T11-76, and isolated mutant	121
	strain 5-14.	
Figure 17.	Alternative oxidase activity in putative regulatory mutants.	124
Figure 18.	PCR of endogenous <i>aod-1</i> promoter fragment and integrated reporter	130
	construct.	
Figure 19.	Alternative oxidase activity in heterokaryotic strains.	134
Figure 20.	Growth rates of the mutant strains at 30°C.	142
Figure 21.	Growth rates of the mutant strains at room temperature.	144
Figure 22.	Cytochrome spectra of the reporter and mutant strains.	148
Figure 23.	Northern and Western blot analysis of alternative oxidase expression.	150
Figure 24.	Maps of linkage groups containing the <i>aod-4</i> and <i>chl-1</i> genes.	156

Figure 25.	Immunoblot analysis of 2-D gels of wild-type strain NCN246.	166
Figure 26.	2-Dimensional gel electrophoresis of mitochondrial proteins from	168
	wild-type strain NCN246.	
Figure 27.	2-Dimensional gel electrophoresis of mitochondrial proteins from	171
	strains NCN246, T1P11, T11-76, aod-1, aod-2, and chl-1 (EN294-46).	

Abbreviations

A. chrysogenum	Acremonium chrysogenum
A. italicum	Arum italicum
A. maculatum	Arum maculatum
A. nidulans	Aspergillus nidulans
A. thaliana	Arabidopsis thaliana
3-AT	3-amino-1,2,4-triazole
AAC	adenosine 5'-diphosphate adenosine 5'-triphosphate carrier
ADP	adenosine 5'-diphosphate
AMP	adenosine 5'-monophosphate
amp	ampicillin
arc	aerobic respiratory control
ATP	adenosine 5'-triphosphate
β-Gal	β-galactosidase
BAC	bacterial artificial chromosome
bHLH/Zip	basic helix-loop-helix zipper
BLAST	basic local alignment search tool
C. albicans	Candida albicans
C. elegans	Caenorhabditis elegans
C. parapsilosis	Candida parapsilosis
°C	degrees Celsius
cAMP	cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate
<i>m</i> -CLAM	<i>m</i> -chlorobenzhydroxamic acid
CORR	co-localization for redox regulation
CRE	cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate response element
CREB	cyclic adenosine 5'-monophosphate response element binding protein
D. melanogaster	Drosophila melanogaster
2-D	two-dimensional
ddNTP	dideoxynucleotide 5'-triphosphate
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate
dH ₂ O	distilled water
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	deoxynucleotide 5'-triphosphate
Dopa	dihydroxyphenylalanine
DTT	dithiothreitol
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EM	electron microscopy
EMS	ethyl methanesulfonate
EPR	electron paramagnetic resonance
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FAD/FADH ₂	flavine adenine dinucleotide
FCCP	carbonyl cyanide <i>p</i> -trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone
FMN	flavine mononucleotide
G. graminis	Gaeumannomyces graminis

G. max	Glycine max
g	grams
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GIP	general insertion pore
GMP	guanine 5'-monophosphate
gRNA	guide ribonucleic acid
GUS	β-glucouronidase
H. capsulatum	Histoplasma capsulatum
HOG	high osmolarity glycerol
hr	hours
Hsp	heat shock protein
IMS	intermembrane space
IPG	immobilized pH gradient
kan	kanamycin
kb	kilobases
kbn	kilobase pairs
KCN	potassium cvanide
kDa	kiloDalton
L	liter
IR	Luria-Bertani
LG	linkage group
M atronurnuraum	Macrontilium atronurnureum
M. arrisea	Magnaportha grisag
M. griseu M indica	Magnuporne griseu Mangifera indica
110	micrograms
μL	microliters
μL M	molar
MAI DI-TOF	matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization – time of flight
mA	milliamn
МАРК	mitogen activated protein kinase
Mhp	megahase nairs
MRSU	Molecular Biology Service Unit
MDa	megaDalton
MIM	mitachandrial inner membrane
min	minutes
mľ	milliliter
mM	millimolar
MNNG	N mathyl N nitro N nitrogoguaniding
MnSOD	monganese superovide dismutese
MOM	mitashandrial outer mombrone
MDD	matrix processing pontidese
IVIF F mDN A	matrix processing peptidase
maaa	messenger moonucleic acid
mtDNA	ministrollas
	Innochondrial deoxyridonuciele acid
IV. Crassa	Neurospora crassa
N. tabacum	Nicotiana tabacum

$NAD/NADH + H^{+}$	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NEM	<i>N</i> -ethylmaleimide
nm	nanometers
ori	origin of replication sequences
OD	optical density
ORF	open reading frame
P. anomala	Pichia anomala
P. anserina	Podospora anserina
P. stipitis	Pichia stipitis
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
Pi	inorganic phosphate
pI	isoelectric point
PR	pathogenesis related
PSI	pounds per square inch
РТ	permeability transition
ρ	large deletion of mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
ρ^0	no mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
RIP	repeat induced point mutation
RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
rpm	revolutions per minute
rRNA	ribosomal ribonucleic acid
S. cerevisiae	Saccharomyces cerevisiae
S. foetidus	Symplocarpus foetidus
S. guttatum	Sauromatum guttatum
S. lipolytica	Saccharomyces lipolytica
S. pombe	Schizosaccharomyces pombe
spp.	species
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SHAM	salicylhydroxamic acid
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SSF-126	(E)-2-methoxyimino-N-methyl-2-(2-phenoxyphenyl)acetamide
T. brucei	Trypanosoma brucei
TCA	tricarboxylic acid cycle
TIM	translocase of the inner membrane
TOM	translocase of the outer membrane
Tris	tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid
UAS	upstream activation site
URF	unidentified open reading frame
UV	ultraviolet
V	volt
Vhr	volt hour
V. radiata	Vigna radiata

,

1 Introduction

1.1 Mitochondria

Mitochondria are double membrane-bound organelles found in almost all eukaryotic organisms. Of the few eukaryotes that lack mitochondria, some contain hydrogenosomes, which are thought to have evolved from the same ancestor (Bui *et al.*, 1996; Dyall and Johnson, 2000), while others contain genetic vestiges that suggest they once had mitochondria that have since been lost (Lang *et al.*, 1999). Well known as the site of energy production by oxidative phosphorylation, mitochondria also play a role in iron and calcium homeostasis, β -oxidation, amino acid biosynthesis, apoptosis and cellular aging. Mitochondria are not created *de novo* but are formed by growth and division of pre-existing organelles. Mitochondrial morphology and distribution can vary in different cell types or at different developmental stages (Yaffe, 1999; Jensen *et al.*, 2000; Shaw and Nunnari, 2002; Westermann, 2002). From the traditional bean shape, to elongated tubes, to a branching reticulum, mitochondria can assume more than one external conformation. They can be evenly distributed throughout the cell or localize to specific subcellular regions.

1.2 Mitochondrial origin

Mitochondria are thought to have arisen from an endosymbiotic event, a model of which is known as the serial endosymbiosis hypothesis (Gray *et al.*, 1999; Andersson *et al.*, 2003; Doolittle *et al.*, 2003; Allen, 2003). The proto-mitochondrion is thought to have been a free-living α -proteobacterium that was engulfed by an anaerobic archaebacterium, which may or may not have already had a true nucleus. Mitochondria still contain remnants of this lineage, as their genetic system resembles that of bacteria and several mitochondrial proteins appear to have a proteobacterial origin. Initially it was thought that the endosymbiont offered the host energy in exchange for a favorable environment. However it seems unlikely that a free-living proteobacterium would have an adenosine triphosphate (ATP) excretion system for releasing energy. A syntrophic hypothesis has been suggested with the endosymbiont providing hydrogen to the host in exchange for host-produced methane (Martin and Muller, 1998; Moreira and Lopez-Garcia, 1998). The

ATP generating pathway of the endosymbiont may also have detoxified the increasingly abundant oxygen of the host's environment (Andersson and Kurland, 1999). Oxygen maintained a selective pressure on the host to keep the proto-mitochondrion, and on the proto-mitochondrion to keep the energy pathway. Over time, proto-mitochondria lost much of their ancestral genome. There would be no selective pressure to maintain redundant genes, and the essential proto-mitochondrial genes were transferred to the nucleus. Gene transfer may have been favoured because of the selective pressure described as Muller's ratchet: in asexually inherited genomes, deleterious mutations accumulate because they cannot be removed or repaired through recombination (Race *et al.*, 1999; Blanchard and Lynch, 2000).

1.3 Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)

Despite the large gene transfer that occurred over evolution, mitochondria maintain their own genome, and there are several theories for why certain genes have not been transferred. One hypothesis suggests that gene transfer is ongoing and eventually all mitochondrial proteins will be encoded in the nucleus (Adams et al., 2000; Doolittle et al., 2003). However, the subset of genes that are currently present in mtDNA across a range of species is not random, suggesting that selective pressure has maintained certain genes in the mitochondrial genome while allowing others to transfer (Race et al., 1999; Allen, 2003). It has been suggested that mtDNA still encodes proteins that cannot be imported from the cytosol, possibly due to large hydrophobic domains that would hinder passage through mitochondrial membranes, or to a toxic effect that might occur if the proteins were released in the cytosol (von Heijne, 1986; Palmer, 1997; Martin and Herrmann, 1998). In support of this notion, the degree of hydrophobicity of a nuclear encoded mitochondrial protein has been shown to be responsible for allowing or preventing its import (Daley et al., 2002). However, it is also conceivable that cytosolic chaperones could be adopted to allow hydrophobic domains or toxic proteins to correctly import (Race et al., 1999; Allen, 2003). Another theory is known as the hypothesis of colocalization for redox regulation (CORR), which suggests that organellar genomes retained a specific subset of genes whose expression is directly controlled by the redox state of either their gene product or other components with which their gene product

interacts (Race *et al.*, 1999; Allen, 2003). Mitochondria would thereby be able to immediately and directly regulate mtDNA gene expression to respond and adapt to changing redox states. The unrelated subset of genes encoding mitochondrial ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs) and other factors for gene expression would have to be retained in the mitochondrial genome to allow synthesis of the CORR gene products within mitochondria. While the transcription of the chloroplast genome encoded photosystem I and II genes is known to be regulated by the redox status of plastoquinone, there is no evidence as yet for CORR in mitochondria. Nevertheless, mtDNA generally encodes oxidative phosphorylation subunits that could be subjected to CORR, as well as the rRNAs and in many cases the transfer RNAs (tRNAs) required to translate mtDNA encoded messenger RNAs (mRNAs).

The mitochondrial genome can range in size from less than 6 kbp in apicomplexan *Plasmodium* species to over 2400 kbp in certain higher plants (Backert *et al.*, 1997; Gray *et al.*, 1999; Nosek and Tomaska, 2003). Many species also contain mitochondrial plasmids, and both plasmids and the main mitochondrial genome can be maintained as either circular or linear molecules depending on the species (Nosek *et al.*, 1998; Nosek and Tomaska, 2003).

1.3.1 Neurospora crassa mitochondrial DNA

Fungal mtDNA ranges in size from 18 to 167 kbp (Backert *et al.*, 1997) and can be compact or contain large non-coding regions (Paquin *et al.*, 1997). The linear or circular mtDNA encodes 7 to 14 oxidative phosphorylation subunits, 2 rRNAs, a variable number of tRNAs, and may contain unidentified open reading frames (URFs). mtDNAs from some fungi, including *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, do not encode subunits for complex I of oxidative phosphorylation. Both group I and group II introns and mobile elements have been seen in fungal mtDNA.

The mtDNA in *N. crassa* is a circular molecule 64.84 kbp in length (Griffiths *et al.*, 1995; Kennell *et al.*, in press). It encodes 2 rRNAs, 27 tRNAs, 5 URFs, and 15 polypeptides, including 7 complex I subunits, apocytochrome *b* of complex III, 3 complex IV subunits, 3 complex V subunits, and a ribosomal subunit called S5. In various natural isolates, different combinations of group I and group II introns can be

found, as well as linear and circular plasmids. Integration of certain plasmids into the mtDNA can cause senescence, a cessation of growth thought to be caused by disruption of oxidative phosphorylation (Griffiths *et al.*, 1995; Kennell *et al.*, in press). Many mtDNA mutations have been described and certain deletions, insertions and point mutations can be suppressive, such that extended growth or sub-culturing leads to the predominance of mutant mtDNA over wild-type. Suppressive mutations affect oxidative phosphorylation and cause a three-fold increase in number of mitochondria seen by electron microscopy (EM; Bertrand, 1995). The preponderance of mutant mtDNAs could be due to a replicative advantage of a mtDNA with a large deletion, or a bias in gene conversion favouring the mutant sequence (Bertrand, 1995; Griffiths *et al.*, 1995; Kennell *et al.*, in press). Functionally impaired mitochondria may also be induced to proliferate in response to their reduction in oxidative phosphorylation resulting in an increase in mutant mtDNA over wild-type (Bertrand, 1995).

1.3.2 Mitochondrial DNA structure and inheritance

Studies on mtDNA replication, maintenance and inheritance have focused on *S*. *cerevisiae* since this yeast is a facultative aerobe and can survive when oxidative phosphorylation is disrupted, enabling isolation of mtDNA mutants (Contamine and Picard, 2000). Yeast *petite* mutants have been described that contain either large deletions of mtDNA, called ρ° ; or no mtDNA, called ρ^{0} . In *S. cerevisiae*, mtDNA has been shown to associate with proteins in a complex called the nucleoid (Kaufman *et al.*, 2000; Birky, 2001). Approximately 100 mtDNA molecules per cell are organized into 10 to 20 nucleoids, in which the mtDNA may be held together by Holliday junctions created during replication and recombination. Nucleoids have been suggested to be attached to the mitochondrial inner membrane (MIM), an arrangement that may be required for proper mtDNA transmission to daughter cells (Nunnari *et al.*, 1997; Contamine and Picard, 2000; Hobbs *et al.*, 2001). When mitochondria from both parents fuse in the zygote, their proteins intermix but their mtDNA remain localized to distinct regions, resulting in reduced heteroplasmy in daughter cells (Nunnari *et al.*, 1997).

1.4 Mitochondrial protein import

The majority of mitochondrial proteins are encoded in the nucleus, synthesized on cytosolic ribosomes as precursor proteins, and imported into mitochondria (reviewed in Bauer et al., 2000; Kunau et al., 2001; Truscott et al., 2003; Rehling et al., 2003; Hoppins et al., in press). These precursor proteins have to be sorted to the correct subcompartment: the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM), the MIM, the intermembrane space (IMS) or the matrix. Studies of the import and sorting of precursors have been done primarily using S. cerevisiae and N. crassa as models. Most precursor proteins have an N-terminal targeting presequence 10 to 80 residues long that contains basic, hydrophobic and hydroxylated amino acids that can form an amphipathic α -helix with positive amino acids on one side and hydrophobic residues on the other (Roise *et al.*, 1988; Lemire *et al.*, 1989; Abe et al., 2000). The presequence is cleaved by the matrix processing peptidase (MPP) during or after import (Luciano and Geli, 1996). Further sorting signals can follow the presequence and may also be cleaved by MPP or by the inner membrane peptidase (Nunnari et al., 1993). Other precursor proteins do not have a recognizable presequence; rather, they carry their import and sorting signals internally within the mature protein sequence (Brix et al., 1999; Wiedemann et al., 2001). Various cytosolic chaperones may bind the precursor to maintain an import competent conformation (Murakami et al., 1988; Hachiya et al., 1993).

Only one import complex has been described for the MOM, the translocase of the outer membrane (TOM) complex. The TOM complex facilitates the translocation of precursor proteins across or into the MOM, and consists of a general insertion pore (GIP), or core complex composed of the more tightly associated components Tom40¹, Tom22, Tom7, Tom6 and Tom5, as well as the more loosely associated Tom70 and Tom20 subunits (Dekker *et al.*, 1998; Ahting *et al.*, 1999). Tom70, Tom22 and Tom20 have large cytosolic domains, and Tom70 and Tom 20 act as receptors for initial precursor recognition. Tom70 is a receptor for precursors that contain no presequence (Brix *et al.*, 1999; Wiedemann *et al.*, 2001) and may also be a docking site for cytosolic chaperones (Komiya *et al.*, 1997; Young *et al.*, 2003). Tom20 is the receptor for presequence

¹ Numerals following the "Tom" designation indicate the molecular weight of an individual TOM complex component (Pfanner *et al.*, 1996).

containing precursors (Brix *et al.*, 1999; Abe *et al.*, 2000). Tom70 and Tom20 then pass precursor proteins to the secondary receptor, Tom22, which facilitates the insertion of precursors into the GIP (Kiebler *et al.*, 1993). Receptor dependent binding of precursor proteins on the cytosolic side of the MOM is said to occur at a position called the *cis* binding site. As precursors traverse the TOM complex pore, they bind the *trans* site on the IMS side of the TOM complex (Mayer *et al.*, 1995). Tom40 is the major component of the TOM complex and is thought to make up the pore through which precursors pass (Hill *et al.*, 1998). Tom5 aids in correctly positioning the precursor for translocation and may act as the receptor for small Tim proteins (Dietmeier *et al.*, 1997). Tom6 helps stabilize Tom40 and the receptors (Alconada *et al.*, 1995), while Tom7 destabilizes the Tom40/receptor interaction (Hönlinger *et al.*, 1996).

Once the precursor has bound the *trans* site, it can go on to interact with one of two translocases of the inner membrane (TIM) complexes. The interaction of a precursor at the trans binding site with either TIM complex causes contact sites between the MOM and the MIM (Schleyer and Neupert, 1985). Pores through the MIM must be tightly regulated to prevent leakage of ions that would dissipate the chemiosmotic gradient essential for energy formation, and interaction of the presequence in the presence of membrane potential stimulates pore activation (Bauer et al., 1996; Truscott et al., 2001; Kovermann *et al.*, 2002). The TIM23 complex is generally responsible for sorting precursors containing presequences into the matrix, while the TIM22 complex deals with precursors with internal sorting signals that are destined for insertion into the MIM. The TIM23 complex consists of Tim23¹, Tim17, Tim44, and Tim50. Subunits Tim23 and Tim17 are homologous, and either Tim23 alone (Truscott et al., 2001) or both Tim23 and Tim17 (Milisav et al., 2001) are thought to form the pore of the TIM23 complex. In S. cerevisiae, the N-terminus of Tim23 may insert into the MOM, suggesting a role for this protein in keeping the TIM23 complex in close proximity to the MOM to facilitate rapid precursor transfer (Donzeau et al., 2000). Tim44 is peripherally associated with the TIM23 complex on the matrix side of the MIM (Moro et al., 1999). Tim44 associates with the chaperone heat shock protein (Hsp) mtHsp70 that binds to the precursor as it

¹ Numerals following the "Tim" designation indicate the molecular weight of an individual TIM complex component (Pfanner *et al.*, 1996).

traverses the pore. mtHsp70 may either generate an ATP derived force required to pull the precursor, as described in the motor or pulling model, or may act as an anchor to prevent retrograde movement of the precursor, as in the Brownian ratchet or trapping model (Neupert and Brunner, 2002).

The TIM22 complex consists of Tim22, Tim18, Tim54 and Tim12. Soluble complexes consisting of Tim9 and Tim10, or Tim8 and Tim13 direct transfer of the precursor from the TOM complex to the TIM22 complex (Koehler *et al.*, 1998a; Koehler *et al.*, 1998b; Paschen *et al.*, 2000; Curran *et al.*, 2002). These complexes associate with the precursor and may stimulate its release from the TOM complex, shield hydrophobic domains from the aqueous environment of the IMS, and/or guide the precursor to the TIM22 complex. The carrier class of proteins, including the adenosine diphosphate ADP/ATP carrier (AAC), utilizes the Tim9-Tim10 complex in the IMS (Koehler *et al.*, 1998a; Koehler *et al.*, 1998b; Curran *et al.*, 2002). Under conditions of low membrane potential, insertion of Tim23 itself requires the Tim8-Tim13 complex (Paschen *et al.*, 2002) and has homology to Tim23 and Tim17 (Sirrenberg *et al.*, 1996).

At least one more translocase exists in the MIM to insert precursors from the mitochondrial matrix into the MIM. This process is called mitochondrial export because it occurs in the opposite direction as mitochondrial protein import (Truscott *et al.*, 2003; Hoppins *et al.*, in press). These precursors are either nuclear-encoded proteins that have gone through both the TOM and TIM23 complexes to the matrix, or mitochondrially encoded proteins synthesized in the matrix. Mitochondrial protein export can be achieved via the Oxa1 translocase protein, which has homology to bacterial inner membrane proteins and a chloroplast thylakoid membrane protein involved in insertion of proteins into membranes (Stuart, 2002). Oxa1 is required for insertion of several membrane proteins, but it remains unclear whether Oxa1 proteins form a pore (Hell *et al.*, 2001; Truscott *et al.*, 2003). There may be other matrix exporting complexes beyond the OXA translocase that have yet to be identified.

1.5 Mitochondrial function

Several enzymes of the urea cycle and arginine biosynthetic pathways are localized to the mitochondrial matrix (reviewed in Wu and Morris, 1998; Morris, 2002). Arginine is a precursor for the synthesis of proline and glutamate, a compound involved in the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Mitochondria are also the major site for β oxidation, the breakdown of fatty acids to produce energy (reviewed in Eaton *et al.*, 1996; Eaton, 2002). Enzymes in the MIM and the matrix synthesize acetyl-CoA during fatty acid breakdown, a process that generates reducing equivalents directly passed to ubiquinone or stored in reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH + H⁺). Acetyl-CoA is used as a substrate of the TCA cycle, producing more cellular energy.

Mitochondria are also involved in controlling the homeostasis of iron and calcium ions in the cell. Iron ions are incorporated in the mitochondria into heme groups and ironsulfur clusters used to catalyze electron transfer (reviewed in Lill and Kispal, 2000; Mühlenhoff and Lill, 2000; Atamna *et al.*, 2002; Foury and Kucej, 2002). Calcium ions are important in cellular signaling and in regulating processes such as transcription, cell proliferation, muscle contraction, neurotransmitter release, pancrease secretion, fertilization and apoptotic cell death (reviewed in Pozzan *et al.*, 2000; Berridge *et al.*, 2000; Breckenridge *et al.*, 2003; Carafoli, 2003; Roderick *et al.*, 2003). Calcium ion release from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) can create localized regions of high calcium concentration called microdomains. The close proximity of mitochondria and ER observed microscopically (Manella *et al.*, 1998) may allow mitochondria to act as a buffering system to control the amplitude and spread of the calcium signal.

Apoptosis is vital for multicellular development and homeostasis because it allows removal of cells without the toxic release of cellular contents. Mitochondria have been described as scaffolds for assembly of apoptosis controlling factors in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, and are known to be direct regulators of apoptosis in higher animals (reviewed in Desagher and Martinou, 2000; Green, 2000; Waterhouse, 2003; Newmeyer and Ferguson-Miller, 2003). Bcl-2 family members in higher animals are key regulators of apoptosis, hypothesized to control mitochondrial fragmentation during apoptosis. These proteins may facilitate mitochondrial protein release by destabilizing the MOM, opening the permeability transition (PT) pore, or oligomerizing to form a pore. Mitochondria release cytochrome *c*, which then binds apoptotic protease activating factor and causes its oligomerization into the caspase activating apoptosome (Liu *et al.*, 1996; Zou *et al.*, 1997; Cain *et al.*, 2000). Smac/DIABLO protein is also released from mitochondria and joins the apoptosome to inhibit a caspase inhibitor (Du *et al.*, 2000; Verhagen *et al.*, 2000). Another protein released from mitochondria, apoptosis inducing factor, translocates to the nucleus and initiates chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation (Susin *et al.*, 1999).

Mitochondrial have also been implicated in aging (reviewed in Mandavilli et al., 2002; Brunk and Terman, 2002; de Grey, 2002a; de Grey, 2002b; Wei and Lee, 2002; Sastre et al., 2003; Hekimi and Guarente, 2003). The mitochondrial theory of aging suggests that mitochondria accumulate damage to mtDNA, proteins and lipids from exposure to reactive oxygen species (ROS) created during oxidative phosphorylation. This damage and the resulting reduction in energy production can target cells for apoptosis. Multiple cell death events over time cause a decrease in organ function, and eventually organism death. The *clk-1* gene product in *C. elegans* is involved in ubiquinone biosynthesis, and *clk-1* mutants do not contain the normal isoform of ubiquinone, but use a ubiquinone precursor as an electron carrier (Ewbank et al., 1997; Miyadera et al., 2001). Mutations of clk-1 slow development and increase life span while maintaining the same ATP level as wild-type. Mutation of mev-1, a subunit of complex II in C. elegans, causes increased ROS production and premature aging (Senoo-Matsuda et al., 2001). Again, ATP levels are the same in this mutant as in wild-type. Finally, mutations in isp-1, an iron-sulfur cluster subunit of complex III in C. elegans, reduce ROS production and slow development and aging (Hekimi and Guarente, 2003). These mutants demonstrate a correlation between aging and ROS production, but not necessarily between aging and a decrease in energy levels.

A role for ROS scavenging systems in controlling aging has been investigated in *C. elegans, Drosophila melanogaster*, and *Mus musculus*. Mutations in the *C. elegans* genes *age-1* (Larsen, 1993; Yanase *et al.*, 2002) and *daf-1* (Honda and Honda, 1999) that increase life span also increase the activity of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), a mitochondrial enzyme involved in removing ROS. In *D. melanogaster*, mutations in catalase, an enzyme that converts hydrogen peroxide to water, cause a

decrease in life span (Griswold *et al.*, 1993). Deletions of the SOD genes in mice have also been shown to decrease life span (Li *et al.*, 1995; Melov *et al.*, 1999). Homozygous knock out mice rarely survive past 7 days after birth, and heterozygotes have increased mtDNA damage and exhibit a swift aging-like decline. Thus, the role of mitochondria in aging may be limited to generation and removal of cytotoxic ROS, rather than induction of apoptosis due to declining energy production or accumulation of mtDNA mutations.

Deficiencies in mitochondrial function are found in many human diseases (reviewed in Wallace, 1999; Simon and Johns, 1999; Graff *et al.*, 2002; Di Mauro *et al.*, 2002; Khrapko *et al.*, 2003; Rossignol *et al.*, 2003). Mitochondrial disease is estimated to occur in 1 in 10, 000 live births, though the frequency of involvement of mtDNA mutations in many common diseases may be more widespread than predicted (Chinnery and Turnbull, 2001). Mitochondrial diseases exhibit a wide phenotypic variability due to varying mutational loads and threshold effects, and it is hard to relate specific mtDNA mutations with clinical symptoms. The phenotype of a given mutation can also vary with age, and many diseases show delayed onset. This delay could be due to the additive effect of general mitochondrial decline seen with aging, or changing mutational loads that occur during mitotic segregation of mtDNA. Environmental factors, and nuclear and mitochondrial genetic factors may also play a role in the disease penetrance.

1.6 Oxidative phosphorylation

Mitochondria are the site of oxidative phosphorylation, the process by which energy from electron transfer generates a chemiosmotic gradient used to produce ATP (reviewed in Hatefi, 1985; Saraste, 1999; Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2001; Schultz and Chan, 2001). During glycolysis and the TCA cycle, electrons are transferred to the carriers NADH + H⁺ and flavine adenine dinucleotide (FADH₂), which then pass the electrons on to the respiratory chain (Fig. 1). Four complexes in the MIM make up the electron transport chain: complex I, the NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase; complex II, the succinate:ubiquinone oxidoreductase; complex III, the ubiquinone:cytochrome *c* oxidoreductase; and complex IV, the cytochrome *c*:oxygen oxidoreductase. Complex V constitutes the ATP synthase and is made up of the F₀ portion in the MIM, and the peripheral membrane proteins of the F₁ portion on the matrix side of the MIM. Electrons

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



move from complex I or complex II to ubiquinone, then to complex III, to cytochrome c, and finally to complex IV, where electrons are donated to molecular oxygen with four hydrogen ions to produce two molecules of water. As electrons flow through the redox centers of complexes I, III and IV, their potential energy is used by the complexes to drive the unidirectional movement of hydrogen ions from the matrix to the IMS. This pumping of hydrogen ions creates a chemiosmotic gradient across the MIM, the potential energy of which is harvested by complex V.

Complex I has been well studied in *N. crassa* (Videira, 1998; Videira and Duarte, 2002). The complex is made up of about 35 peptide subunits, 32 of which have been identified, and has a molecular weight of approximately 1 MDa. Electrons are passed by eight iron-sulfur clusters, a flavin mononucleotide (FMN), and an as vet unidentified redox center thought to be unique to N. crassa (Joseph-Horne et al., 2001; Videira and Duarte, 2002). The flow of one electron through complex I is estimated to pump two hydrogen ions (Joseph-Horne et al., 2001; Schultz and Chan, 2001). EM studies of complex I from *N. crassa* reveal that the complex is L-shaped, with a membrane arm in the MIM and a peripheral arm in the matrix (Guénebaut *et al.*, 1998). The redox centers are all found on the peripheral arm, which also contains the binding site for NADH + H⁺. The membrane arm is thought to form a channel for hydrogen ion pumping and contains at least two ubiquinone binding sites (Schultz and Chan, 2001; Videira and Duarte, 2002). Rotenone binds complex I at these ubiquinone sites, thus preventing electron flow (Earley et al., 1987). The seven subunits encoded by N. crassa mtDNA are positioned in the membrane arm (Videira, 1998; Videira and Duarte, 2002). In the presence of chloramphenicol, an inhibitor of mitochondrial protein synthesis (Schlünzen et al., 2001), a smaller complex I assembles that is thought to consist of only the peripheral arm (Friedrich et al., 1989; Schultz and Chan, 2001).

Bacteria, plants, and fungi (including *N. crassa*) also contain alternative dehydrogenases that transfer electrons from NADH + H⁺ to ubiquinone without pumping hydrogen ions (Kerscher, 2000; Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2001). In fact, *S. cerevisiae*, *Saccharomyces carlsbergii*, *S. pombe*, and *Kluyveromyces lactis* have no complex I, and rely entirely on alternative NADH dehydrogenases. These dehydrogenases are rotenone insensitive and can accept electrons from NADH + H⁺ in either the matrix (internal) or the IMS (external). *N. crassa* has at least one internal and two external NADH dehydrogenases. One of the external NADH dehydrogenases can bind, and may be regulated by, calcium ions (Videira and Duarte, 2002). When the electron transport chain is highly reduced, the alternative dehydrogenases are thought to prevent ROS formation at complex I (Kerscher, 2000; Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2001).

Complex II is part of the TCA cycle and converts succinate to fumarate, coupled to the reduction of FAD to FADH₂. Electrons from FADH₂ are then passed to ubiquinone with no associated hydrogen ion pumping (Hägerhäll, 1997). Complex III contains cytochromes c_1 and b, exists as a dimer, and uses the ubiquinone cycle to pass electrons and shuttle hydrogen ions to the IMS (Fig. 2; Mitchell, 1979; Brandt and Trumpower, 1994; Zhang et al., 1998). Oxidized ubiquinone located on the matrix side of complex III is reduced by two electron uptake events, each of which is coupled to the binding of a hydrogen ion from the matrix. One electron is donated by cytochrome b_{560} while the other comes from complex I or II. Reduced ubiquinol then moves to the IMS side of complex III where it is oxidized in two stages, each of which allows the release of a hydrogen ion to the IMS. The first oxidation event donates an electron to an iron-sulfur cluster, causing a conformational change in the iron-sulfur containing protein (Zhang et al., 1998). The hydrophilic IMS domain of this subunit rotates, taking the cluster away from ubisemiquinone. The iron-sulfur cluster donates this electron to cytochrome c_1 , which passes the electrons to the IMS soluble cytochrome c. The movement of this complex III subunit forces ubisemiquinone to donate the second electron to cytochrome b_{565} . Fully oxidized ubiquinone then moves back to the matrix side of the complex, and the second electron is passed from cytochrome b_{565} to cytochrome b_{560} to begin the cycle again (Mitchell, 1979; Brandt and Trumpower, 1994). Antimycin A binds to cytochrome b_{560} , thereby blocking electron flow through the ubiquinone cycle (Zhang *et al.*, 1998).

Reduced cytochrome *c* is oxidized by complex IV, which pumps one hydrogen ion for every electron (Michel *et al.*, 1998). Complex IV has four redox centers consisting of two copper ions and the cytochromes *a* and a_3 . One of the copper ions and cytochrome a_3 form a binuclear site responsible for transferring electrons to oxygen to produce water. The inhibitor cyanide binds cytochrome a_3 and prevents electron flow (van Buuren *et al.*, 1972). Complex IV is thought to have at least two channels for



hydrogen ion pumping (Michel *et al.*, 1998), and conformational changes caused by electron flow through the complex result in the unidirectional movement of hydrogen ions through these channels (Schultz and Chan, 2001).

Complex V harnesses the energy of the chemiosmotic gradient by coupling hydrogen ion flow to the production of ATP (Boyer, 1997). Subcomplex F_0 is embedded in the MIM and forms the channel for hydrogen ion flow back to the matrix. Connected to F_0 by a stalk, the F_1 subcomplex is the site of ATP formation. The flow of hydrogen ions makes the γ subunit of F_1 rotate, causing conformational changes that regulate binding of ADP and inorganic phosphate (P_i), and release of ATP (Noji *et al.*, 1997).

1.7 Alternative oxidase

In addition to the cytochrome pathway, higher plants, non-fermenting fungi, algal species and trypanosomes also contain an alternative pathway of respiration (Fig. 1; Henry and Nyns, 1975; Lambers, 1982; McIntosh, 1994; Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1997; Siedow and Umbach, 2000; Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2001). Electron flow through the alternative pathway is insensitive to antimycin A, cyanide, carbon monoxide and nitric oxide, but is inhibited by iodoacetate, fluoride (James and Beevers, 1950), thiocyanate, 8-hydroxyquinoline, α , α '-dipyridyl (Bonner *et al.*, 1967), aromatic hydroxamic acids such as salicylhydroxamic acid (SHAM) or *m*-chlorobenzhydroxamic acid (*m*-CLAM; Schonbaum *et al.*, 1971), disulfiram (Grover and Laties, 1978), and gallate esters (Stegink and Siedow, 1986).

Use of specific inhibitors of the cytochrome and alternative pathway was crucial for the elucidation of the order and kinetics of the different electron carriers (Storey and Bahr, 1969a). *Symplocarpus foetidus* mitochondria were isolated from the reproductive spadix tissue, which was known to exhibit high levels of alternative respiration. ADP/oxygen ratios for these mitochondria in the presence or absence of cyanide revealed that alternative respiration bypassed two sites of phosphorylation and did not involve the cytochromes (Storey and Bahr, 1969b). The oxidation rates of ubiquinone and flavoproteins were unaffected by the addition of cyanide to mitochondria from *S. foetidus*, or to mitochondria isolated from etiolated hypocotelydons of *Phaseolus aureus*, which also have alternative respiration (Storey and Bahr, 1969a; Storey, 1970a). The

redox state of ubiquinone in *N. crassa* mitochondria isolated from cultures with alternative respiration was also unaltered by cyanide, and extraction of ubiquinone inhibited both pathways, which suggested that ubiquinone may act as a branch point between the two pathways (von Jagow *et al.*, 1973; von Jagow and Bohrer, 1975). Indeed, ubiquinone oxidation in isolated *S. foetidus* spadix mitochondria in the presence of carbon monoxide was blocked by *m*-CLAM, further proving that ubiquinone is the branch point (Storey, 1976). Electron flow from ubiquinone to the alternative pathway bypasses complexes III and IV, explaining the loss of two sites of phosphorylation (Fig. 1). Thus, alternative respiration does not contribute to the chemiosmotic gradient and can be considered energetically wasteful (Moore *et al.*, 1978). The alternative pathway uses oxygen as the final electron acceptor, forming water (Sharpless and Butow, 1970; Downie and Garland, 1973; Huq and Palmer, 1978; Rich, 1978).

The molecular nature of alternative respiration was unclear for several years because it was spectroscopically indistinct (Bonner *et al.*, 1986). Early studies with electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) failed to reveal a specific signal for alternative respiration despite the sensitivity of this pathway to metal chelators (Schonbaum *et al.*, 1971; Downie and Garland, 1973; Rich and Bonner, 1978). It was hypothesized that a novel cytochrome or flavoprotein may be involved in this pathway (James and Beevers, 1950; Bendall and Hill, 1956; Storey, 1970a; Storey, 1970b; Erecinska and Storey, 1970; Storey, 1970c). However, redox rates of the cytochromes and flavoproteins of *S. foetidus* spadix mitochondria in the presence of antimycin A were exceedingly slow, ruling out their involvement in alternative respiration (Storey and Bahr, 1969a; Bonner *et al.*, 1967; Bendall and Bonner, 1971). Partial purification of alternative respiration from *Arum maculatum* spadix mitochondria contained a quinol oxidase but no cytochromes (Huq and Palmer, 1978; Rich 1978).

Polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies were raised against a further purified fraction from *Sauromatum guttatum* spadix mitochondria, and identified four polypeptides of 37, 36, 35.5 and 35 kDa associated with alternative respiration (Elthon and McIntosh, 1987; Elthon *et al.*, 1989). These antibodies cross reacted to all four polypeptides, suggesting that they were post-translationally modified or degradation products of the same polypeptide. The antibody recognized related proteins in a variety of plant and fungal species: *Arum italicum, Vigna radiata, Amorphophallus rivieri, S. foetidus* (Elthon and McIntosh, 1987), *Persea americana, Solanum tuberosum, Nicotiana tabacum* (Elthon *et al.*, 1989), *Glycine max, Macroptilium atropurpureum* (Kearns *et al.*, 1992), *Petunia hybrida* (Wagner, 1995), *Poa spp.* (Millenaar *et al.*, 2001), *Mangifera indica* (Considine *et al.*, 2001), *N. crassa* (Lambowitz *et al.*, 1989), *Pichia anomala* (Sakajo *et al.*, 1993), *Gaeumannomyces graminis* (Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 1998), *Candida albicans* (Huh and Kang, 1999), *Pichia stipitis* (Umbach and Siedow, 2000), and *Podospora anserina* (Borghouts *et al.*, 2001). The cross reactivity of the antibodies suggests that alternative oxidase has been conserved throughout diverse species.

Using the antibody to screen expression libraries, the alternative oxidase gene was cloned from *S. guttatum* (Rhoads and McIntosh, 1991) and *G. max* (Whelan *et al.*, 1993). A *hemA* respiratory mutant of *Escherichia coli* was rescued by the alternative oxidase gene from *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Kumar and Söll, 1992), revealing that alternative respiration can be achieved by a single polypeptide, the alternative oxidase. The gene from *Trypanosoma brucei* was also able to rescue the *E. coli hemA* mutant (Chaudhuri and Hill, 1996), the *S. guttatum* gene conferred cyanide-insensitive respiration to *S. pombe* (Albury *et al.*, 1996), and the *C. albicans* (Huh and Kang, 1999; Huh and Kang, 2001), *P. stipitis* (Shi *et al.*, 2002), and *Histoplasma capsulatum* (Johnson *et al.*, 2003) genes conferred cyanide-insensitive respiration.

1.7.1 Alternative oxidase structure

The high levels of cyanide-insensitive respiration present in *A. maculatum* spadices were localized to the mitochondria (James and Elliott, 1955). Trypsin treatment of *A. maculatum* mitoplasts and inside-out submitochondrial particles revealed that alternative oxidase was associated with the MIM and was at least partially exposed to the matrix (Rasmusson *et al.*, 1990). Since alternative respiration can be inhibited by various metal chelators, it was suggested that its activity may involve a novel non-heme iron oxidase (Bonner *et al.*, 1967; Bendall and Bonner, 1971). The requirement of iron for activity was confirmed in *Saccharomyces lipolytica* and *P. anomala*. The appearance and activity of alternative respiration was increased by addition of ferric ions to *S. lipolytica*, while addition of ferrous, cobalt, copper, aluminum, lanthanum, magnesium, and

manganese ions had no effect (Henry *et al.*, 1977). Ferrous rather than ferric ions were shown to be necessary for alternative oxidase activity in *P. anomala* (Minigawa *et al.*, 1990).

Short stretches of conserved amino acids from the derived alternative oxidase protein sequences of *S. guttatum*, *A. thaliana*, *G. max*, *N. tabacum*, and *P. anomala* suggested that alternative oxidase may be a binuclear iron protein, due to several conserved E-X-X-H putative iron binding motifs (Fig. 3A; Siedow *et al.*, 1995; Moore *et al.*, 1995). Other binuclear iron proteins containing coupled high-spin iron atoms that do not have an EPR signal when reduced or oxidized had been described, and it was found that partially purified alternative oxidase also had no associated EPR signal. Thus, it was attractive to place alternative oxidase in the same family. A model was proposed in which the N-terminal hydrophobic regions of the enzyme were proposed to span the MIM, and the conserved E-X-X-H motifs were placed on α -helices one and four of a four helix bundle (Siedow *et al.*, 1995; Moore *et al.*, 1995). Weaknesses of this model included relatively short helices, fairly tight turns of only three residues between helices, and the placement of iron interacting residues on helices one and four rather than the usual two and four.

More recently, a revised model was proposed, taking into account the larger body of information that had become available on di-iron carboxylate protein structures (Fig. 3B; Andersson and Nordlund, 1999). A third highly conserved E-X-X-H motif was identified that had been placed in the IMS by the first model. This motif and the more C-terminal E-X-X-H were placed in the second and fourth α -helices to hold the binuclear iron center, an arrangement more in line with current models for other members of the di-iron binuclear family. This model also had more typical length helices and suggested that instead of traversing the MIM, alternative oxidase either bound to an integral MIM protein or was associated with only one lipid layer of the MIM as a monotopic or interfacial integral protein. Discovery of the chloroplast binuclear iron protein IMMUTANS in *A. thaliana* lead to a revision of the second model, rotating the third helix and bringing a conserved tyrosine residue in proximity to the iron center (Berthold *et al.*, 2000). Site directed mutagenesis gave support to the revised second model.
Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



revised second model in *T. brucei* alternative oxidase failed to rescue respiration in *hemA E. coli* (Ajayi *et al.*, 2002). Mutation of these glutamates and conserved tyrosine residues in the *A. thaliana* gene in an *S. pombe* background also disrupted cyanide-insensitive respiration (Albury *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, recently developed techniques for acquiring mixed valent EPR signals from coupled binuclear iron proteins revealed that alternative oxidase generates signals characteristic of these proteins (Berthold *et al.*, 2002).

The revised second model also predicted that alternative oxidase formed a hydrophobic pocket from the MIM leading to the iron center that could be a ubiquinone interacting channel (Andersson and Nordlund, 1999). Support for this prediction was obtained when the *A. thaliana* alternative oxidase was subjected to error prone polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and SHAM resistant derivatives that could still rescue the *hemA E. coli* strain were selected (Berthold, 1998). The resistant substitutions were in the predicted hydrophobic pocket, where SHAM could possibly inhibit activity by blocking ubiquinone binding.

1.7.2 Alternative oxidase capacity versus engagement

The cytochrome and alternative oxidase pathways have specific capacities in a given situation, where the term "capacity" is defined as the physical capability for electron flow through each pathway. However, respiratory pathways are not always fully engaged, where "engagement" refers to the degree to which a specific respiratory pathway contributes to overall respiration. Thus, the engagement of one pathway can increase upon addition of inhibitors of the other pathway.

It was believed that the two pathways directly competed for electrons, with some equilibrium at the branch point that favoured flow to the cytochromes (Bahr and Bonner, 1973). Although the branch point was identified as ubiquinone (von Jagow *et al.*, 1973; von Jagow and Bohrer, 1975; Storey, 1976), it was unclear how ubiquinone partitioned electrons between pathways. In mitochondria from *G. max*, electrons did not flow through alternative oxidase until the level of ubiquinone pool reduction was 35-40%, above which alternative respiration was significantly engaged in a non-linear fashion (Dry *et al.*, 1989). This engagement suggested that instead of competing for electrons, the alternative pathway acted as an overflow for electrons when the cytochrome pathway was

highly engaged (Lambers, 1980; Lambers 1982; Dry *et al.*, 1989). However, addition of pyruvate to isolated mitochondria from *G. max* reduced the threshold level of ubiquinone reduction required to engage alternative oxidase (Umbach *et al.*, 1994; see section 1.7.3). The presence of pyruvate was shown to divert electrons from the cytochrome pathway to the alternative pathway, which suggested that instead of the overflow model, the two pathways were indeed competing for electrons (Hoefnagel *et al.*, 1995).

Electron partitioning between the two pathways was studied using oxygen isotopes in isolated *G. max* mitochondria (Ribas-Carbo *et al.*, 1997). Alternative oxidase and complex IV have different degrees of discrimination against using the ¹⁸O and ¹⁶O isotopes of oxygen, so the overall engagement of each pathway can be calculated from the relative amounts of the two isotopes consumed. It was shown that the level of engagement of the alternative pathway depended on the amount of alternative oxidase protein present, the redox state of the dimer of alternative oxidase (see section 1.7.3), the addition of pyruvate (see section 1.7.3), and the size and redox state of the ubiquinone pool. Thus, the engagement of alternative oxidase can be modified by a number of factors, which allows partitioning of electrons between the pathways to be actively regulated and adapted in response to changing metabolic and redox states (Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1997).

A two step reduction model was suggested for electron transfer to explain the kinetics of alternative oxidase engagement (Siedow and Moore, 1993). Alternative oxidase was proposed to accept two electrons from ubiquinol, accept two more electrons from another ubiquinol much less readily, and then react with oxygen to form water. An activation step prior to the reduction of oxygen was later included (Ribas-Carbo *et al.*, 1994). However, a difficulty with this catalytic model was that a binuclear iron center would not be expected to be able to carry four electrons (Siedow *et al.*, 1995; Affourtit *et al.*, 2002). Other cycles have recently been suggested. One model proposed that alternative oxidase may accept two electrons from ubiquinol, bind and partially reduce oxygen to a peroxide intermediate, and then receive two more electrons from a second ubiquinol to reduce the peroxide to water (Berthold *et al.*, 2000; Affourtit *et al.*, 2002). Another model predicted that after accepting two electrons at the binuclear center to produce ferric ions, alternative oxidase could bind but not yet reduce oxygen (Affourtit *et al.*).

al., 2002). Two more electrons are instead suggested to be accepted at the binuclear center to make ferryl ions, not considered likely for this class of enzyme, or by amino acid(s) proximal to the catalytic site to make redox-active radical residue(s). Then oxygen could be fully reduced in a single step, as is seen in other oxygen metabolizing enzymes (Affourtit *et al.*, 2002).

1.7.3 Alternative oxidase dimerization and regulation by pyruvate

Alternative oxidase can exist as a monomer, a non-covalently associated dimer, or a covalently bound dimer (Umbach and Siedow, 1993). When the reducing agent was removed from the electrophoresis buffer for samples of *G. max*, *S. guttatum*, and *V. radiata* mitochondria, the expected 30 to 39 kDa monomer bands for the alternative oxidase protein were seen, as well as one or more bands between 60 and 75 kDa for each organism (Umbach and Siedow, 1993). The molecular weight of these new bands suggested that they were homodimers possibly covalently bound via a disulfide bond. Addition of a chemical cross linker revealed that the lower band "monomers" were actually associated non-covalently as dimers *in vivo*.

Reduction of the covalent disulfide bond, either by addition of dithiothreitol (DTT) or naturally over the course of development in *S. guttatum*, resulted in increased alternative oxidase activity. The dimer status of alternative oxidase in *G. max* was also directly related to activity levels, where it was revealed that the non-covalently linked dimer was more active than the covalently bound dimer (Umbach *et al.*, 1994). These data supported an earlier suggestion that disulfide bonds or sulfhydryl groups regulated alternative respiration in *Ipomoea batatas*, where inhibition of this pathway by the sulfhydryl reacting compound disulfiram was prevented by the presence of a thiol (Grover and Laties, 1978). The involvement of a disulfide bond was substantiated by treating *G. max* mitochondria with iodoacetate or *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM), two sulfhydryl reacting compounds (Umbach and Siedow, 1996). These treatments prevented the formation of the covalently linked dimer, while the non-covalently associated dimer was maintained. Iodoacetate stimulated alternative oxidase activity, and the structure of the adduct that iodoacetate was known to form with sulfhydryls suggested that a thiohemiacetal group may be formed.

Two N-terminal cysteine residues in alternative oxidase that could be involved in the disulfide bond between dimer subunits are highly conserved in plant alternative oxidases (Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1997). Mutagenesis of these residues to alanines in transgenic plants of N. tabacum identified the more N-terminal cysteine as the residue involved in disulfide bond formation (Vanlerberghe et al., 1998). Mutation of the cysteines to alanines in an A. thaliana alternative oxidase gene expressed in E. coli also pointed to the N-terminal cysteine (Rhoads et al., 1998). It was suggested that the reduction of this disulfide bond may serve as a post-translational mechanism of regulating alternative oxidase activity, with the enzyme most active as a reduced, noncovalently associated dimer (Umbach and Siedow, 1993; Umbach et al., 1994). However, recent studies using *Poa annua* whole root extracts (Millenaar et al., 1998), A. thaliana whole leaf extracts (Simons et al., 1999), or mitochondria of N. tabacum isolated in the presence of pyruvate (Vanlerberghe et al., 1999) revealed that alternative oxidase is predominantly present as the non-covalently associated dimer regardless of activity level. Thus, the covalent bond seen between alternative oxidase dimers can have a regulatory effect on alternative oxidase activity, but is not the only controlling factor.

The activity of alternative oxidase in plants has been shown to be stimulated by pyruvate and other α -keto carboxylic acids (Millar *et al.*, 1993; Umbach *et al.*, 1994; Hoefnagel *et al.*, 1995; Day and Wiskich, 1995; Millar *et al.*, 1996; Umbach and Siedow, 1996; Vanlerberghe *et al.*, 1998; Rhoads *et al.*, 1998; Millenaar *et al.*, 1998; Vanlerberghe *et al.*, 1999; Pastore *et al.*, 2001; Umbach *et al.*, 2002). Studies using mitochondria from *G. max* suggested that pyruvate increased the ability of alternative oxidase to bind ubiquinone (Millar *et al.*, 1993) and reduced the threshold of ubiquinone reduction required to engage alternative oxidase (Umbach *et al.*, 1994). This stimulation of alternative oxidase allowed it to compete directly with the cytochrome pathway for electrons (Hoefnagel *et al.*, 1995; see section 1.7.2). A role for pyruvate in controlling alternative oxidase activity made inherent sense. That is, when respiration through the cytochrome pathway is blocked, the TCA cycle can no longer continue, pyruvate accumulates, and the alternative pathway is activated (Millar *et al.*, 1993; Umbach *et al.*, 1994; Hoefnagel *et al.*, 1995; Day and Wiskich, 1995). In mitochondria from *A. italicum* and *G. max*, pyruvate was shown not to increase the affinity of alternative oxidase for

ubiquinol but to increase the amount of active enzyme (Hoefnagel et al., 1997). Treatment of G. max mitochondria with iodoacetate and NEM blocked pyruvate stimulation of alternative oxidase activity, which suggested that pyruvate acted at the same site as these reagents and could also form a thiohemiacetal with a cysteine residue (Umbach and Siedow, 1996). Mutation of the same cysteine involved in covalent dimer formation to alanine in N. tabacum (Vanlerberghe et al., 1998) or A. thaliana (Rhoads et al., 1998) made alternative oxidase activity insensitive to pyruvate activation. Replacing this cysteine with glutamate, in an attempt to mimic the thiohemiacetal adduct, resulted in levels of alternative oxidase activity nearing those of wild-type enzyme in the presence of pyruvate (Rhoads et al., 1998). Thus, the N-terminal conserved cysteine residue can form a disulfide bond that inactivates the dimer, or can form a thiohemiacetal with pyruvate to activate the non-covalently associated dimer (Rhoads et al., 1998). Since alternative oxidase can exist predominantly as a non-covalently associated dimer (Millenaar et al., 1998; Simons et al., 1999; Vanlerberghe et al., 1999), the interaction of pyruvate with this cysteine rather than formation of a disulfide bond may be responsible for regulating alternative oxidase activity (Vanlerberghe et al., 1999).

The mechanism of alternative oxidase activation by pyruvate was suggested to be through preventing oxidized ubiquinone from remaining in the active site of the enzyme (Hoefnagel and Wiskich, 1998). Mutagenesis of the conserved cysteine in the *A. thaliana* gene expressed in *E. coli* revealed that a variety of charged residues were sufficient to maintain alternative oxidase activity, suggesting that a charge repulsion was required (Umbach *et al.*, 2002). Thus, thiohemiacetals produced by pyruvate and cysteine may cause a conformational change through charge repulsion between the subunits of the dimer that is required for activity.

1.7.4 Alternative oxidase activation by mononucleotides

Fungal alternative oxidases do not contain the N-terminal cysteine conserved in plant species (Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2000). Although the *G. graminis* alternative oxidase has been shown to form a covalently associated dimer (Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 1998), the enzyme from *Magnaporthe grisea* (Yukioka *et al.*, 1998b), *N. crassa* and *P. stipitis* (Umbach and Siedow, 2000) does not. Addition of diamide, which promotes disulfide

bond formation, or chemical cross linkers to *N. crassa* and *P. stipitis* mitochondrial samples failed to generate a dimeric sized band, and addition of pyruvate or other α -keto acids had no effect on enzyme activity. Thus, fungal alternative oxidase generally does not exist as a non-covalent or covalent dimer and its activity is not regulated by pyruvate.

Adenosine monophosphate (AMP) stimulated alternative respiration in the fungus Moniliella tomentosa (Vanderleyden et al., 1980b) as was previously shown for the protist Euglena gracilis (Sharpless and Butow, 1970). Alternative respiration in mitochondria and submitochondrial particles of N. crassa grown in the presence of chloramphenicol is stimulated by a variety of mononucleotides (Vanderleyden et al., 1980a; Michea-Hamzehpour and Turian, 1987; Umbach and Siedow, 2000). Purine mononucleotides gave a stronger stimulation than pyrimidine mononucleotides, with guanine monophosphate (GMP) causing the highest activity level. Alternative oxidase activity in mitochondria from *P. anomala* grown in the presence of antimycin A shows activation by purine mono- or diphosphate nucleotides, but not by pyrimidines, cyclic AMP (cAMP), or triphosphate nucleotides (Sakajo et al., 1997). Alternative oxidase activity is also stimulated by AMP and GMP in Acanthamoeba castellanii (Jarmuszkiewicz et al., 2001) and by GMP in Candida parapsilosis (Milani et al., 2001). Isolated mitochondria from *P. stipitis* showed activation of alternative oxidase by GMP, and it was suggested that the areas of the polypeptide responsible for nucleotide activation in fungi could lie in the N-terminal or extended C-terminal regions that are not conserved between fungi and plants (Umbach and Siedow, 2000).

1.7.5 Regulation of alternative oxidase expression

Alternative oxidase is expressed in a tissue and developmentally specific manner in several plants, including a system of differential expression of members of an alternative oxidase multigene family (Elthon *et al.*, 1989; Kearns *et al.*, 1992; Whelan *et al.*, 1996; Finnegan *et al.*, 1997; Saisho *et al.*, 1997; McCabe *et al.*, 1998; Murcha *et al.*, 1999; Saisho *et al.*, 2001; Considine *et al.*, 2001; Saika *et al.*, 2002; Djajanegara *et al.*, 2002; Karpova *et al.*, 2002). In plants with multigene families, the alternative oxidase genes are believed to serve different roles, with some being involved in housekeeping functions while others are induced by stress (Considine *et al.*, 2002).

Western analysis of isolated mitochondria from *M. atropurpureum* shoots, roots, and from nodules associated with both tissues showed two, one, and no alternative oxidase isoforms, respectively (Kearns et al., 1992). In a similar experiment using isolated mitochondria from G. max, cotyledon and leaf mitochondria were shown to have two alternative oxidase bands, root mitochondria, one band, and uninfected nodules, no bands. Isolated mRNA from G. max tissues was subjected to in vitro translation and immunoprecipitation with alternative oxidase antibody. While a protein product was precipitated from samples where cotyledon mRNA had been used for the translation, no protein was precipitated from samples derived from the uninfected nodule tissue. This indicated that tissues with no alternative oxidase protein had no alternative oxidase mRNA, suggesting that regulation occurred at the transcriptional level. During S. guttatum influorescence development and flowering, a dramatic increase of alternative oxidase activity occurs specifically in floral tissues (Elthon et al., 1989). Accumulation of alternative oxidase protein and mRNA correlated with this developmentally timed, tissue specific increase in activity, suggesting that regulation occurs at the level of the transcript (Rhoads and McIntosh, 1992). However, in vitro transcription of isolated nuclei revealed no change in the rate of alternative oxidase transcription during this time period, indicating that accumulation of the transcript may be the controlling factor.

Treatment of suspension cells of *N. tabacum* with antimycin A, citrate, acetate, hydrogen peroxide, cysteine, or salicylic acid (Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1994; Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1996; Maxwell *et al.*, 2002) caused an increase in the steady state levels of alternative oxidase mRNA. This increase in transcript correlated with an increase in alternative oxidase protein (Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1992; Rhoads and McIntosh, 1993a; Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1996) and/or an increase in the capacity of the alternative pathway (Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1996; Maxwell *et al.*, 2002). Exposure of tobacco plants to drought, heat shock, cold, or high salt also caused an increase in the amount of alternative oxidase mRNA (Rizhsky *et al.*, 2002). Addition of antimycin A (Saisho *et al.*, 1997; Saisho *et al.*, 2001), or nitric oxide (Huang *et al.*, 2002) to *A. thaliana* cultures increased both alternative oxidase mRNA and capacity, and infection of leaves with *Pseudomonas syringae* (Simons *et al.*, 1999) caused an increase in alternative oxidase mRNA and protein. In *G. max*, alternative oxidase mRNA levels

and protein increased in response to treatment with antimycin A, salicylic acid, citrate, or exposure to chilling (Djajanegara *et al.*, 2002). Thus, it is clear that a variety of stresses result in an increase in the amount of alternative oxidase transcript. It is unknown if the increase in amount of mRNA seen in these different plants is due to increased transcription of the alternative oxidase gene, an increased stability of the alternative oxidase transcript, or both.

In fungi and trypanosomes, the level of alternative oxidase activity and protein is also related to the amount of alternative oxidase transcript (Sakajo et al., 1991; Li et al., 1996; Yukioka et al., 1998a; Yukioka et al., 1998b; Joseph-Horne et al., 1998; Borghouts et al., 2001; Milani et al., 2001; Huh and Kang, 2001; Chaudhuri et al., 2002; Tanton et al., 2003). Alternative oxidase activity, protein, and mRNA were seen constitutively in the fungi G. graminis (Joseph-Horne et al., 1998) and C. parapsilosis (Milani et al., 2001). The fungus C. albicans resembles several plant species in that it has two alternative oxidase genes, AOX1a and AOX1b, that seem to be regulated differentially (Huh and Kang, 2001). Addition of antimycin A, cyanide or hydrogen peroxide caused a substantial increase in AOX1b mRNA and alternative oxidase protein. Although AOX1a mRNA was not detectable by Northern blotting, reporter expression driven by the AOX1a promoter was constitutive. Low levels of AOX1a transcription may serve some housekeeping role in this fungus. Northern analyses of P. anomala (Sakajo et al., 1991), N. crassa (Li et al., 1996), M. grisea (Yukioka et al., 1998b), and P. anserina (Borghouts et al., 2001) showed that induction of alternative oxidase activity by inhibition of the cytochrome pathway correlated with an increase in alternative oxidase mRNA and protein. This correlation suggested that alternative oxidase was regulated transcriptionally or post-transcriptionally. Nuclear run-on assays in *M. grisea* (Yukioka *et al.*, 1998b), *T.* brucei (Chaudhuri et al., 2002), and N. crassa (Tanton et al., 2003) revealed that the alternative oxidase gene was constitutively transcribed at a low basal level even when protein and activity were not present. Induction of alternative oxidase by hydrogen peroxide or the fungicide (E)-2-methoxyimino-N-methyl-2-(2-phenoxyphenyl)acetamide (SSF-126) in M. grisea (Yukioka et al., 1998b), or by antimycin A in N. crassa (Tanton et al., 2003), caused an increase in the transcription rate of the alternative oxidase gene. Treatment of *M. grisea* (Yukioka et al., 1998b) or *T. brucei* (Chaudhuri et al., 2002) with

cycloheximide caused an increase in the amount of alternative oxidase transcript, suggesting that normally this mRNA is actively degraded by a *de novo* synthesized degradation factor. Expression of alternative oxidase may therefore be controlled at both transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels, altering the rates of both mRNA synthesis and degradation to adapt to respiratory needs.

1.8 Physiological role of alternative oxidase

Alternative oxidase is energetically wasteful (Moore *et al.*, 1978). Expression of the *S. guttatum* alternative oxidase in *S. pombe* resulted in reduced growth rate and fewer cells per mL at stationary phase, showing that the loss of energy from electron flow through alternative oxidase was physiologically significant (Affourtit *et al.*, 1999). Yet the persistence of this pathway in plants, fungi, algae and trypanosomes implies that it must have a significant beneficial function that outweighs the cost in energy.

The clearest known role for alternative oxidase is during thermogenesis in plant inflorescence development (James and Beevers, 1950; Bahr and Bonner, 1973; Meeuse, 1975). Alternative oxidase bypasses complexes III and IV, resulting in the release of potential energy as heat. Combining the alternative pathway with other mechanisms to increase heat production, such as increased overall respiration, decreased cytochrome capacity, uncouplers, and ATPases, results in the volatilization of aromatic compounds to attract pollinating insects.

For fungi, the physiological role of the alternative pathway is likely protective, as many plants release cyanide or nitric oxide to the environment, especially during the hypersensitivity response to fungal infection (Lambowitz and Zannoni, 1978; Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1997; Joseph-Horne *et al.*, 2001; Huang *et al.*, 2002; Veiga *et al.*, 2003a). The alternative pathway allows these organisms to survive despite inhibition of the normal cytochrome pathway (Lambowitz *et al.*, 1972b).

Alternative respiration was also suggested to accommodate surplus electron flow that cannot be used by a fully engaged cytochrome pathway (Lambowitz *et al.*, 1972b). Although flow through the alternative pathway results in less energy production, it allows the TCA cycle to continue, facilitating the biosynthesis of metabolites, and it drains excess reducing equivalents that could otherwise build up in the cell (Lambowitz *et al.*, 1972b; Meeuse, 1975; Palmer, 1976; Lambers, 1980; Lambers, 1982; Moore and Siedow, 1991; McIntosh, 1994; Moore *et al.*, 1994; Day *et al.*, 1995; Wagner and Krab, 1995; Pystina and Danilov, 2001; Veiga *et al.*, 2003b). This overflow function was suggested to occur in plants when there are excess sugars present, such as in young plants that have not yet developed a storage organ, during times of increased photosynthesis, or when sugars are not needed to maintain osmolarity (Lambers, 1980; Lambers, 1982; Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1997; Sluse and Jarmuszkiewicz, 1998).

An ancestral four helix bundle di-iron protein has been hypothesized to have been involved in ancient oxygen defenses based on the oxygen reducing capabilities of many of the members of the di-iron binuclear family of proteins (Gomes et al., 2001), and modern day alternative oxidase may continue to play this important role. When the cytochrome pathway remains highly reduced, reduced forms of ubiquinol and complex I accumulate, a situation that can result in the production of damaging ROS (Joseph-Horne et al., 2001). The availability of an alternative respiratory pathway can prevent this accumulation, and so may provide a protective effect against ROS damage (Whelan et al., 1993; Day et al., 1995; Wagner and Krab, 1995; Popov et al., 1997). This hypothesized role for alternative oxidase is supported by a number of observations. Treatment of isolated mitochondria from G. max and Pisum sativum with the alternative oxidase inhibitors SHAM or propyl gallate caused an increase in the concentration of hydrogen peroxide (Popov et al., 1997). Transgenic N. tabacum plants carrying alternative oxidase sense or antisense constructs have been used to increase or decrease alternative respiration, respectively (Vanlerberghe et al., 1994). Non-invasive observation of ROS generation in mitochondria from these transgenic plants showed that plants carrying the sense construct had decreased levels of ROS, while antisense plants had increased levels (Maxwell et al., 1999). The sense plants also had decreased levels of the ROS scavengers SOD and glutathione peroxidase; the antisense plants had increased levels of catalase and a pathogenesis related (PR) protein.

Treatments that affect cellular ROS levels also affect alternative oxidase activity. *N. tabacum* suspension cells grown in limited phosphate induced alternative oxidase, possibly to prevent ROS formation during the high energy production phase required to uptake phosphate (Parsons *et al.*, 1999; Yip and Vanlerberghe, 2001). Alternative oxidase was also induced by anoxia to decrease ROS production that occurs when oxygen returns. Pretreatment with anoxia or antimycin A protected G. max cells from hydrogen peroxide induced cell death, a protection that was abolished by SHAM or propyl gallate (Amor et al., 2000). The compound historically known as "calorigen," responsible for provoking thermogenesis in S. guttatum, was identified to be salicylic acid (Raskin et al., 1987). Salicylic acid increased alternative oxidase mRNA and protein in P. hybrida, S. guttatum and N. tabacum (Wagner, 1995; Rhoads and McIntosh, 1992; Rhoads and McIntosh, 1993a; Rhoads and McIntosh, 1993b), possibly because of its ability to bind and inhibit catalase and cause a rise in cellular hydrogen peroxide (Chen et al., 1993). Chilling also induced alternative oxidase (McCaig and Hill, 1977; Yoshida and Tagawa, 1979; Elthon et al., 1986; McNulty and Cummins, 1987; Vanlerberghe and McIntosh, 1992; Ito et al., 1997; Gonzàlez-Meler et al., 1999; Ribas-Carbo et al., 2000; Abe et al., 2002). The heat generated by the alternative pathway was not high enough to increase the temperature of the entire plant, but was suggested to generate enough heat to keep the MIM in a fluid state (Breidenbach et al., 1997). Acclimation to lower temperatures by Zea mays resulted in increased hydrogen peroxide levels and expression of catalase (Prasad et al., 1994), suggesting that alternative oxidase induction by chilling occurred through raised ROS levels.

The same protective role for alternative oxidase is seen in non-plant species. Hydrogen peroxide has been shown to induce alternative oxidase in *M. grisea* (Yukioka *et al.*, 1998b), *Acremonium chrysogenum* (Karaffa *et al.*, 2001), *P. anserina* (Borghouts *et al.*, 2001), *C. albicans* (Huh and Kang, 2001) and *H. capsulatum* (Johnson *et al.*, 2003), while treatment with ROS scavengers inhibited the induction of alternative oxidase in *P. anomala* (Minagawa *et al.*, 1992), *Pyricularia grisea* (Mizutani *et al.*, 1996), and *A. chrysogenum* (Karaffa *et al.*, 2001). Inhibition of alternative oxidase by SHAM increased ROS production and the activity of the ROS scavenger SOD in *T. brucei* (Fang and Beattie, 2003). In *C. albicans*, disruption or overexpression of the MnSOD resulted in an increase or decrease in alternative oxidase activity, respectively (Hwang *et al.*, 2003).

Another suggested function for alternative oxidase is as a biochemical pH-stat (Sakano, 1998). Plant cells use a proton gradient across the plasma membrane to facilitate

secondary transport of ions, sugars, nucleotides, amino acids, and peptides (Palmgren, 2001). During times of environmental stress or high levels of cellular transport, the cytoplasm can become acidified. Along with secondary glycolysis pathways and fermentation, alternative oxidase could reduce the intracellular pH by the incorporation of hydrogen ions during the reduction of oxygen to form water (Sakano, 1998).

A number of observations also implicate a role for alternative oxidase in senescence. For example, when cultures of N. tabacum cells reached stationary phase, alternative oxidase was highly active (Rhoads and McIntosh, 1993a). Fruit ripening that is characterized by a peak in respiration referred to as climacteric. During the climacteric stage in *M. indica*, the cytochrome pathway was believed to provide enough energy for the respiratory burst, while alternative oxidase was involved in post-climacteric senescence (Considine et al., 2001). Differential display of cultured N. tabacum cells showed that antimycin A, hydrogen peroxide and salicylic acid induced alternative oxidase mRNA along with transcripts known to be induced during senescence (Maxwell et al., 2002). Addition of bongkrekic acid, an inhibitor of apoptotic PT pore formation, prevented alternative oxidase induction, which suggested that alternative oxidase was linked to programmed cell death. Addition of cysteine or antimycin A to N. tabacum cells expressing antisense alternative oxidase mRNA caused programmed cell death, with accumulation of typical DNA ladder-like fragments (Vanlerberghe et al., 2002). These antisense plants also showed increased susceptibility to hydrogen peroxide, salicylic acid and cantharidin induction of cell death (Robson and Vanlerberghe, 2002). Increased alternative oxidase protein was seen during starvation induced aggregation of Dictyostelium discoideum, a stage at which cell death occurs (Jarmuszkiewicz et al., 2002). Seedling cotyledons of G. max had a peak of alternative oxidase protein 20 days after imbibition, a developmental stage that involves senescence (Daley et al., 2003). Senescence also occurs in *P. anserina*, and induction of alternative oxidase in a complex IV deficient background increased strain longevity (Dufour et al., 2000; Borghouts et al., 2001). However, over-expression or disruption of the alternative oxidase gene in cells with a wild-type oxidative phosphorylation system had no effect on life span (Lorin et al., 2001). Alternative oxidase is evidently involved in senescence and programmed cell death, but whether this relationship is causative or indirect remains to be seen.

1.9 Alternative oxidase in N. crassa

Wild-type strains of N. crassa grown under standard lab conditions have cyanidesensitive respiration. Cyanide-insensitive respiration was first seen in the cytoplasmically inherited [poky] mutant strains, which contained reduced levels of cytochromes aa₃ and b, and high levels of cytochrome c (Tissieres et al., 1953; Lambowitz et al., 1972a). The cyanide-insensitive respiratory pathway was shown to be sensitive to SHAM, suggesting similarity to the alternative respiration of plants (Lambowitz and Slayman, 1971). Growth of wild-type strains in the presence of antimycin A or cyanide, which inhibit electron flow through complex III or complex IV, respectively (Fig. 1), induced the alternative pathway (Lambowitz and Slayman, 1971). Growth in the presence of chloramphenicol, which inhibits mitochondrial translation (Schlünzen et al., 2001) and leads to deficiencies in complex I, III and IV, also induced alternative respiration (Lambowitz and Slayman, 1971). A similar induction was seen when wild-type cells were grown in copper deficient media, which prevents the formation of cytochrome aa_3 (Schwab, 1973). The ability of chloramphenicol to induce alternative respiration suggested that both the regulatory pathway responsible for induction and the alternative pathway itself did not require translation of mtDNA encoded protein(s) (Lambowitz and Slayman, 1971). In mitochondria from [poky] or chloramphenicol induced wild-type strains, electron flow through the cytochrome pathway was near maximal while the alternative pathway was used for excess electrons (Lambowitz et al., 1972b). The alternative pathway was shown to be induced within thirty minutes of the addition of chloramphenicol, at a time when the electron flow through the cytochrome pathway was predicted to be reduced only 10-15% (Edwards et al., 1974). Induction continued and the capacity of the pathway increased linearly over 2.5 hours. The induction was blocked by actinomycin D or cycloheximide, so de novo transcription and translation were required to establish alternative respiration.

There have been two attempts to isolate alternative oxidase deficient mutants of *N. crassa*. In the first, six mutant strains sensitive to antimycin A and chloramphenicol were selected following ultraviolet (UV) mutagenesis (Edwards *et al.*, 1976). These mutations segregated in a Mendelian fashion and had normal cytochrome pathways. Some of these mutations fell into two complementation groups: *alx-1* consisting of strains

ANT-1, -4 and -6, and *alx-2* consisting of ANT-3. A further mutagenic screen was done using *N*-nitro-*N*-nitrosoguanidine, and 21 antimycin A sensitive mutants were selected (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983). Complementation analysis showed that 17 of these mutants fell into the same complementation group as *alx-1*, which was renamed *aod-1*. The other four mutants were placed in the *aod-2* complementation group. Later analysis revealed that two of the strains designated as *aod-2* mutants were actually *aod-1* mutants (Li *et al.*, 1996; Tanton, 2003). Genetic mapping placed *aod-1* and *aod-2* near the centromeres of linkage group IV and II, respectively (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983).

The occurrence of alternative respiration in *N. crassa* correlated with the presence of a specific polypeptide, and it was shown that 19 of the 22 *aod-1* mutants had this protein while the two *aod-2* mutants tested did not (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983). Although the direct involvement of this polypeptide with alternative respiration was not shown, the pattern of its presence and absence suggested that *aod-1* was a structural gene and *aod-2* a regulatory gene. Subsequently, the monoclonal antibody against *S. guttatum* alternative oxidase (Elthon *et al.*, 1989) was used to show that the appearance of proteins in *N. crassa* with an apparent molecular weight of 36.5 and 37 kDa correlated with alternative respiration (Lambowitz *et al.*, 1989).

To isolate the *N. crassa* alternative oxidase structural gene, degenerate PCR primers were designed for highly conserved regions of the proteins deduced from previously sequenced alternative oxidase genes (Li *et al.*, 1996). The PCR product was used to screen a cosmid genomic DNA (gDNA) library and the *N. crassa* alternative oxidase gene was identified. The *aod-1* gene had typical *N. crassa* TATA box, CAAT box, transcription start site, and polyadenylation site sequences. A consensus cAMP response element (CRE) palindrome was found 739 bases upstream of the transcription start site. A cDNA was cloned and comparison with the genomic sequence revealed that the gene contains two introns with consensus splice site sequences. A 362 amino acid protein was predicted to be encoded by the gene, with an estimated size of 41.4 kDa. The N-terminus contained a predicted mitochondrial targeting presequence, removal of which would generate a mature protein with an estimated size of 34.6 kDa. High stringency Southern blotting suggested that there was only one copy of the alternative oxidase gene in the *N. crassa* genome (but see below). Sequencing of the gene from five *aod-1* mutant

strains showed missense or frameshift mutations, while the *aod-1* gene in an *aod-2* strain had no mutations. Northern blot analysis correlated the presence of *aod-1* mRNA with induction of alternative oxidase activity. The role of *aod-2* was hypothesized to be a regulator of *aod-1* transcription or of transcript stability. A fusion of 3.3 kbp of *aod-1* upstream sequence with a cDNA copy of the *aod-1* gene was properly regulated in response to growth under non-inducing conditions or in the presence of chloramphenicol, suggesting that the intronic sequences do not play a regulatory role (C. Nargang and F. Nargang, personal communication).

Comparison of the upstream and intronic sequences of *aod-1* with the alternative oxidase genes from *Gelasinospora spp.* and *Aspergillus nidulans* showed that the CRE was the only conserved sequence element (Tanton *et al.*, 2003). The *N. crassa* CRE was shown to bind a protein in gel retardation assays but deletion of the CRE had no effect on regulation of alternative oxidase gene expression or activity. An upstream region of 255 bp was shown to be sufficient for proper control of *aod-1* expression in response to growth in the presence of chloramphenicol. Nuclear run-on assays revealed that *aod-1* was transcribed constitutively at a low level, but respiration assays and Western analysis showed that the constitutively produced transcript was not translated into protein. These assays also showed that the transcription was increased in the presence of antimycin A. Therefore, *N. crassa* alternative oxidase is regulated at the transcriptional level, with increased transcription in the presence of inducers, and at a post-transcriptional level, possibly through the transcript stability or by controlling initiation of translation.

With the release of the *N. crassa* genome sequence (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003) a second alternative oxidase structural gene called *aod-3* was found. Northern analysis revealed that *aod-3* transcripts could not be detected in cells grown in the presence of chloramphenicol, suggesting that the gene is not expressed in this condition (Tanton *et al.*, 2003). This observation is supported by the fact that *aod-1* mutant strains grown under alternative oxidase inducing conditions contain no cyanide-insensitive respiration.

1.10 Mitochondrial – nuclear communication

Coordination of gene expression from the mitochondrial and nuclear genomes is required for proper mitochondrial biogenesis and function (Poyton and McEwen, 1996; Surpin and Chory, 1997; Garesse and Vallejo, 2001). This coordination is necessary during normal growth for maintaining mitochondria, but also during times of stress, when nuclear gene expression can be modified in response to mitochondrial status, as is the case for alternative oxidase expression in *N. crassa*. These two organelles are able to affect each other's gene expression, implying that some form of communication or signaling exists between the two. Research into the cross-talk that is suspected to occur has shown that two-component signaling systems, ROS, and retrograde regulation factors are all involved.

1.10.1 Two-component signaling pathways

E. coli contains an *arcA*, *arcB* two-component system that is responsible for aerobic respiratory control (arc) exerted over the expression of enzymes involved in glycolysis, the TCA cycle, and electron transport (Iuchi and Lin, 1988; Iuchi *et al.*, 1989; Iuchi *et al.*, 1990; Allen, 1993; Iuchi and Lin, 1995; Lynch and Lin, 1996; Chang and Stewart, 1998). The evolutionary relationship between bacteria and mitochondria make this signaling pathway an attractive candidate for intra-organellar communication. The membrane embedded sensor *arcB* autophosphorylates at a histidine residue, possibly in response to the redox state of a protein involved in energy generation, or to the status of the proton gradient across the plasma membrane. This phosphate is then passed on to an aspartate residue on the mobile regulator *arcA*, a DNA binding protein, which results in either positive or negative regulation of gene expression by *arcA*.

Only one two-component signaling system has been found in *S. cerevisiae* and it acts as an osmosensor (Wurgler-Murphy and Saito, 1997; Hohmann, 2002). The Sln1p protein is located in the plasma membrane and under normal conditions autophosphorylates at a histidine residue. This phosphate is then passed to an aspartate in Sln1p, and then to a histidine in the phosphorelay protein Ypd1p. The phosphate group is finally used to phosphorylate either Ssk1p, a negative regulator of the high osmolarity glycerol (HOG) mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway, or the transcription factor Skn1p, thought to be involved in regulating the response to low osmolarity. Hyperosmotic shock causes a transient loss of phosphorylation of the sensors Sln1p and Ypd1p, and the regulators Ssk1p and Skn1p, and leads to activation of the HOG MAPK pathway.

In *C. albicans*, three putative histidine kinases have been discovered but have not yet been shown to take part in a phospho-relay signal transduction pathway (Yamada-Okabe *et al.*, 1999). Mutation of one of these putative histidine kinases decreased the constitutive low level of cyanide-insensitive respiration and alternative oxidase protein present in the fungus, but did not affect the ability of antimycin A to induce high levels of protein and activity (Huh and Kang, 2001). Since *C. albicans* could contain a two-component system that affects alternative oxidase regulation, it is possible that *N. crassa* also contains two-component signaling systems that may or may not be involved in nuclear-mitochondrial communication.

1.10.2 Reactive oxygen species as signaling molecules

Intracellular ROS have been implicated as signaling molecules that affect protein modification and gene expression (Sen and Packer, 1996; Finkel, 1998; Hancock *et al.*, 2001; Turpaev, 2002). An increase in ROS levels can cause activation of various kinases involved in intracellular signaling and transcription factors. One example of ROS signaling involves the mammalian protein kinase ASK1, an activator of a MAPK signaling pathway (Turpaev, 2002). In human cell cultures, the reduced form of the ROS scavenger thioredoxin was shown to bind and inactivate ASK1. Treatments that increased levels of ROS resulted in the oxidation of thioredoxin, release and activation of ASK1, and subsequent initiation of the MAPK cascade involved in activating transcription factors. One of the kinases involved in this MAPK cascade, JNK, was shown to be inactivated when bound to the ROS scavenger glutathione-S transferase. However, increased concentrations of ROSs disrupted this association, allowing JNK to become active and phosphorylate a number of transcription factors. ROS have also been shown to trigger the degradation of the inhibitory protein IκB, allowing the transcription factor NF-κB to localize to the nucleus and become active (Sen and Packer, 1996; Hancock *et al.*,

2001; Turpaev, 2002). ROS have been implicated in regulating alternative oxidase (see sections 1.7.5 and 1.8), and could possibly do so by acting as signaling molecules.

1.10.3 Retrograde regulation

S. cerevisiae contains a communication pathway between mitochondria and the nucleus called retrograde regulation (Poyton and McEwen, 1996; Surpin and Chory, 1997). Yeast strains that have disrupted mitochondrial function due to ρ^0 mtDNA, mutations in nuclear encoded mitochondrial proteins, or treatment with antimycin A have increased levels of the transcript for the peroxisomal citrate synthase, CIT2 (Liao et al., 1991). The increased amount of Cit2p in peroxisomes is thought to compensate for reduced mitochondrial function by increasing flow through the glyoxylate cycle, which produces malate and oxaloacetate for gluconeogenesis that provides more sugars for energy production. An upstream activation site (UAS) specific for the retrograde response was identified upstream of CIT2 (Liao and Butow, 1993) and has also been found in the promoters of the D-lactate dehydrogenase gene DLD3 (Chelstowska et al., 1999), the mitochondrial citrate synthase gene CIT1, the aconitase gene ACO1, and the isocitrate dehydrogenase genes IDH1 and IDH2 (Liu and Butow, 1999). By co-regulating a subset of glyoxylate and TCA cycle enzymes, the yeast insures a steady cellular supply of citrate and α -ketoglutarate, a precursor of glutamate (Liu and Butow, 1999). Citrate is an important intermediate for both energetic pathways, and can shuttle between peroxisomes and mitochondria as required. Glutamate is an essential amino acid and a precursor for synthesis of other amino acids and nucleotides.

Three protein components of retrograde regulation have been identified. *RTG1* and *RTG3* have homology to basic helix-loop-helix zipper (bHLH/Zip) transcription factors (Liao and Butow, 1993). The Rtg1p-Rtg3p heterodimer was able to bind the *CIT2* UAS and activate transcription (Rothermal *et al.*, 1995; Rothermal *et al.*, 1997; Jia *et al.*, 1997). *RTG2* was found to act upstream of Rtg1p and Rtg3p during retrograde regulation (Liao and Butow, 1993; Rothermal *et al.*, 1997; Jia *et al.*, 1997). Rtg3p was normally sequestered in the cytosol by Rtg1p, but when retrograde regulation was initiated, Rtg3p was dephosphorylated in an Rtg2p-dependent manner, and Rtg1p-Rtg3p heterodimers

localized to the nucleus (Sekito *et al.*, 2000). It is of interest to determine if *N. crassa* contains a similar retrograde regulatory pathway.

1.10.4 More than one signaling pathway

There is evidence for regulation of alternative oxidase gene expression through multiple pathways. Incubation of G. max suspension cells in the presence of citrate or antimycin A caused an increase in Aox1 mRNA and protein (Djajanegara et al., 2002). However, treatment with the protein kinase inhibitor staurosporine blocked Aox1 induction by citrate but not by antimycin A, suggesting the involvement of two different signaling pathways. In Zea mays, inhibition of different oxidative phosphorylation complexes by mtDNA mutations or chemical inhibition caused expression of different aox family members (Karpova et al., 2002). A complex I mutation or treatment of seedlings with rotenone resulted in increased levels of *aox2* mRNA, while a complex IV mutation or treatment with cyanide or antimycin A gave increased levels of *aox3* mRNA. Plants with a mutation causing defective mitochondrial translation had increased amounts of both aox2 and aox3 mRNA. Thus, each mutation or treatment caused induction of a specific gene or genes, suggesting that specific regulatory pathways are used. If G. max and Z. mays both contain at least two signaling pathways to induce alternative oxidase gene expression in response to specific treatments or disruption of specific complexes, then it is possible that *N. crassa* also contains more than one signaling pathway to induce aod-1 expression.

1.11 Tyrosinase

Previous efforts to identify genes involved in alternative oxidase regulation have used the lack of alternative oxidase activity itself as the basis of selection. This approach resulted in the isolation of 22 *aod-1* and 2 *aod-2* mutant strains, clearly indicating a bias towards mutation of the structural gene. In an attempt to avoid this predisposition, I chose to develop a reporter system using the enzyme tyrosinase that would exclude the isolation of *aod-1* structural gene mutations.

Past attempts to develop reporter systems in this laboratory were based on β -galactosidase (β -Gal), green fluorescent protein (GFP), and β -glucouronidase (GUS), and

all were unsuccessful (Tanton and Nargang, personal communication). Recently, GFP has been expressed in *N. crassa* (Frietag *et al.*, 2001). It is believed that earlier attempts to use GFP failed because relatively weak promoters were used, and the original *Aequorea victoria* GFP sequence contained A-T rich codons, not suitable for *N. crassa*.

For the present work, the endogenous *N. crassa* enzyme tyrosinase, gene symbol *T*, was chosen as a potential reporter (Kothe *et al.*, 1993). In a previous search for strong *N. crassa* promoters, transformation of a fusion construct of the metallothionein promoter with *T* resulted in copper inducible tyrosinase expression and activity (Kupper *et al.*, 1990a). The tyrosinase reporter system was also used successfully to isolate two protein kinases, *nrc-1* and *nrc-2*, that affect expression of the gene *ccg-1*, an early regulator of entry into the developmental stage of conidiation (Kothe and Free, 1998). A brief review of the enzyme tyrosinase is given below.

Tyrosinase (monophenol monooxygenase EC 1.14.18.1) is an enzyme involved in melanogenesis, the process by which the pigment melanin is formed (reviewed in García-Borrón and Solano, 2002; Seo *et al.*, 2003; Langfelder *et al.*, 2003). The enzyme is able to catalyze the oxidation of both monophenols and *o*-diphenols to produce *o*-quinols. Tyrosinase has been found in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes, including plants, animals, fungi and microorganisms. In lower organisms, including *N. crassa*, tyrosinase is the only enzyme required for melanogenesis (Seo *et al.*, 2003; Langfelder *et al.*, 2003). Tyrosinase catalyzes the rate limiting initial reactions, while subsequent reactions occur non-enzymatically (Fig. 4). The active site of tyrosinase is predicted to form a four helix bundle in a hydrophobic pocket (García-Borrón and Solano, 2002; Seo *et al.*, 2003; Langfelder *et al.*, 2003). Two copper ions are each coordinated by three histidine residues to form the binuclear copper site that binds oxygen. The conserved active site has homology to hemocyanins, the copper containing oxygen carriers in the hemolymph of arthropods and molluscs.

Studies of tyrosinase in *N. crassa* began with the observation that thawed homogenates of cells or aging mycelia produced a brown pigment, which was identified as melanin (Fox and Gray, 1950). Wild-type cultures grown in standard media have little to no tyrosinase activity (Horowitz and Shen, 1952). During the sexual cycle the female of the cross produces perithecia, and both perithecia and ascospores contain melanin



(Hirsch, 1954). As protoperithecia develop, they change from a pale colour to dark brown as melanin is made. Analysis of extracts reveals that tyrosinase activity peaks at the same time as the rate of protoperithecial formation peaks. The involvement of tyrosinase in the mating cycle could explain why tyrosinase mutant strains are female sterile (Fuentes *et al.*, 1994).

The amino acid sequence of the enzyme was determined by analysis of chemical cleavage products (Lerch, 1978; Lerch et al., 1982). Mature tyrosinase was determined to be a 407 amino acid protein with a predicted weight of 46 kDa. In isolated mycelial extracts, tyrosinase activity was increased by overnight dialysis (Horowitz and Shen, 1952), incubation of the extract at cold temperatures, addition of sodium ions, urea, triethylaminesuccinate buffer, tris 2-amino-2-hydroxymethylpropane-1:3-diol (Gest and Horowitz, 1958), or addition of the original growth media back to the extract (Fox and Burnett, 1959). These observations led to the hypothesis that tyrosinase was synthesized in an inactive form. Sequencing of the tyrosinase gene revealed an encoded C-terminal extension that was not present in the mature purified protein (Kupper et al., 1989). Cleavage of this domain was followed using polyclonal antibodies generated against purified mature tyrosinase or against a fusion protein of GST and the C-terminal domain (Kupper et al., 1990b). Western analysis showed three bands with apparent molecular weights of 75 kDa, 52 kDa, and 46 kDa, which they hypothesized correlated with protyrosinase, an intermediate form, and mature tyrosinase, respectively. The C-terminal specific antibody failed to recognize the mature tyrosinase species, suggesting that cleavage of the C-terminal extension occurred during processing of the intermediate to the mature form. Southern and Western analyses showed that other Neurospora species N. intermedia, N. sitophila, N. africanus, and N. dodgei, but not N. tetrasperma also encode a tyrosinase with a C-terminal extension (Kupper et al., 1989). Hemocyanin from the lobster *Panulirus interruptus* has a C-terminal domain that interacts with and possibly shields the active site. It was suggested that the C-terminal extension of N. crassa tyrosinase could interact with the active site and must be removed for activity (Kupper et al., 1989). The fungal enzyme is also post-translationally modified with N-acetylation at the N-terminal serine residue and formation of a histidylcysteine thioether bridge between amino acids 94 and 96 (Lerch et al., 1982).

The T gene was cloned using degenerate primers based on the known amino acid sequence (Kupper et al., 1989). The T gene is 2016 base pairs in length, and contains two introns at positions +151 and +1068, with lengths of 52 and 99 base pairs, respectively. The length of the gene and the derived amino acid sequence confirmed that tyrosinase is synthesized as a precursor with a C-terminal extension. Maturation of the enzyme requires cleavage after amino acid 407, removing the C-terminal 213 amino acids. A typical transcription start site, TATA box and intron consensus sequences for N. crassa are present, and the gene is also typically G-C rich. The promoter region was scanned for known regulatory elements and a sequence differing by one base from a cAMP response element (CRE) palindrome was found at position -124 (Kupper et al., 1989). It was suggested that the gene is regulated by the CRE at the transcriptional level, and that the presence of a CRE may be responsible for the suggested catabolite repression of tyrosinase (Feldman and Thayer, 1974). Northern analysis shows that regulation of tyrosinase activity by cAMP is at the transcriptional or post-transcriptional level, either by increasing mRNA synthesis or stability (Kupper et al., 1990b). Tyrosinase mRNA is present fifteen minutes after induction by cAMP and the mRNA level peaks at twentyfour hours. Tyrosinase activity appears two hours after cAMP induction and peaks at forty-eight hours.

1.12 Objective of this study

The major objective of this thesis was to identify genes involved in alternative oxidase regulation in *N. crassa*. An understanding of this regulation may serve as a model for how mitochondria are able to induce gene expression in the nucleus. *N. crassa* is a good model organism for this investigation, since it contains a well characterized alternative respiratory pathway and is relatively easily used for genetic analysis. Prior to this study, no gene from any species had been implicated in playing a regulatory role with respect to alternative oxidase except *aod-2*, and the identity and function of this gene product has remained elusive. Mutagenesis of the reporter carrying strain of *N. crassa*, and analysis of the derived mutant strains has led to the isolation of four novel alternative oxidase regulatory genes. The study of these mutations could provide insight not only into this specific regulatory pathway, but potentially into intracellular communication.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Growth of N. crassa

Strains of *N. crassa* used are listed in Tables 1 to 3, and were grown and handled as described by Davis and de Serres (1970). Vegetative growth was on standard Vogel's media with supplements as necessary, and solid media contained 1.6% agar. To promote growth into colonies, conidia were spread on media where 1.5% sucrose was replaced with 1.5% sorbose, 0.05% glucose, and 0.05% fructose. Slants with conidia were placed at -80° C for long term storage.

To obtain large amounts of conidia to inoculate liquid cultures, a small inoculum from the strain of interest was placed in a conidia flask, a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing 50 mL of solid media. These flasks were typically incubated at 30° C for two days, but longer if mycelia had not yet spread up the flask walls. Once mycelia had grown sufficiently, flasks were placed in the light at room temperature for about seven days to promote conidiation. If lesser amounts of conidia were required, conidia were inoculated onto a slant. Similar growth conditions for slants were used as described above for conidia flasks. To harvest conidia, sterile pre-chilled distilled H₂O (dH₂O) was placed in the flask or slant and swirled to suspend the conidia. Conidial suspensions from flasks were passed through a cheesecloth filter to remove mycelia.

Liquid cultures were grown overnight (14 to18 hr) at 30°C. Cultures of 50 to 500 mL were grown in Erlenmeyer flasks with shaking at 150 revolutions per minute (rpm) for aeration. The total volume of the flasks was at least four times the volume of media used, and the flasks were baffled for volumes larger than 50 mL to insure adequate aeration of the culture. Larger cultures were grown in "bubblers," where filled 2 L flasks were placed in a 30°C water bath and aerated by bubbling filtered air into the flask using sterile tubing. Strains were inoculated at 1 x 10⁶ conidia/mL unless large numbers of small cultures were being inoculated, in which case the amount of inoculum was estimated. Inoculation with 0.5 mL of a solution obtained from harvesting a single large slant (18 x 150 mm tube with 10 mL media) with 8 mL of sterile dH₂O usually gave an inoculation of approximately 1 x 10^6 conidia/mL. This estimation was used for large numbers of respiration assays only. Strains were often grown in the presence of

Strain	Source	Genotype
NCN5	Nargang Lab	cya-5, A
NCN10	A. Lambowitz	nic-1, al-2, A
NCN233	Nargang Lab	pan-2, A
NCN235	Nargang Lab	pan-2, a
NCN246	Nargang Lab	руг-6, А
NCN251-5	Nargang Lab	A
nuc-2 A	R.L. Metzenberg	nuc-2, A
nuc-2 <i>a</i>	R.L. Metzenberg	пис-2, а
763	FGSC ¹	nic-1, A
764	FGSC	nic-1, a
810	FGSC	os-1, a
997	FGSC	alcoy, A
998	FGSC	alcoy, a
1205	FGSC	al-1, arg-5, A
1206	FGSC	al-1, arg-5, a
1208	FGSC	trp-1, ylo, a
1243	FGSC	inl, cot-1, A
1244	FGSC	inl, cot-1, a
2283	FGSC	un-5, al-2, arg-13, a
2997	FGSC	pyr-4, arg-12, A
2998	FGSC	pyr-4, arg-12, a
3752	FGSC	caf-1, al-3, his-6, A
3753	FGSC	caf-1, al-3, his-6, a
3789	FGSC	ro-10, al-2, un-18, A
3790	FGSC	ro-10, al-2, un-18, a
4006	FGSC	nic-2, A
4007	FGSC	nic-2, a
4009	FGSC	cr-1, a
4065	FGSC	cot-1, A
4119	FGSC	acr-2, trp-1, dow, A
4120	FGSC	acr-2, trp-1, dow, a
4121	FGSC	cys-10, pdx-1, pan-1, A
4122	FGSC	cys-10, pdx-1, pan-1, a
4141	FGSC	nic-3, met-7, arg-10, A
4142	FGSC	nic-3, met-7, arg-10, a
4451	FGSC	thi-4, nic-3, ars-1, a
4471	FGSC	nic-3, ars-1, A
5138	FGSC	cpk, A

Table 1.Strains used during this study.

Table 1 continued

ro-7, arg-5, rip-1, A ro-7, arg-5, rip-1, a trp-1, ylo-1, A mcb, a
ro-7, arg-5, rip-1, a trp-1, ylo-1, A mcb, a
trp-1, ylo-1, A mcb, a
mcb, a
10 12 1 2 1
ro-10, nit-2, leu-3, A
ro-10, nit-2, leu-3, a
cyh-2, lys-2, leu-2, mei-2, a
pyr-4, inl, inv, mei-2, a
helper ² + ad-3A, am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
helper + pyr-3, trp-3, am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
helper + ad-2, am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
helper + trp-4, am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
helper + am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
helper + ad-1, am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
helper + met-7, am132, inl, inv, mei-2, A
cot-5, het-COR, pyr-4, thr-2, A
cot-5, het-COR, pyr-4, thr-2, a
nit-6, ylo-1, un-23, A
nit-6, ylo-1, un-23, a
<i>Т, аl-2, а</i>
T, al-2, a
T, al-2
T, al-2
T, al-2, $a + pBAT^3$
<i>T</i> , <i>al-2</i> , <i>a</i> + pBAT
aod-1, pan-2, A
aod-1, nic-3, A
aod-1, arg-5, A
aod-1, al-1, arg-5, A
aod-1, al-1, arg-5, a
aod-2-4, nic-1, al-2, a

¹ FGSC is the Fungal Genetics Stock Center at the University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City.

² Strains with the designation "helper +" are maintained as heterokaryons with a sterile helper strain.

³ The indication "+ pBAT" means that the strain carries an integrated copy of the pBAT plasmid.

Strain	Origin	Genotype	Gene Designation ¹
2-195		El^2 , T, al-2, $a + pBAT^3$	aod-4
EN195-26	NCN233 X 2-195 ⁴	<i>E1, pan-2, al-2, a,</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EN195-34	NCN233 X 2-195	<i>E1, pan-2, al-2, A</i> , + pBAT	aod-4
EN195-44	NCN233 X 2-195	<i>E1, pan-2, al-2, a,</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EN195-109	NCN233 X 2-195	E1, pan-2, a	aod-4
2E1a-57	EN195-109 X 1243	E1, inl, cot-1, A	aod-4
4-294		<i>E2, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	chl-1
EN294-35	NCN246 X 4-294	E2, pyr-6, al-2, a	chl-1
EN294-40	NCN246 X 4-294	<i>E2, pyr-6, A</i> + pBAT	chl-1
EN294-46	NCN246 X 4-294	E2, pyr-6, A	chl-1
E2a-119	1206 X EN294-46	E2, arg-5, pyr-6, A	chl-1
5-14		<i>E3, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-1	7263 X 5-14	<i>E3, ad-2, al-2, A</i> + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-2	7263 X 5-14	E3, ad-2, a + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-10	7263 X 5-14	<i>E3, ad-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-18	7263 X 5-14	E3, ad-2, al-2, a + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-22	7263 X 5-14	E3, ad-2, al-2, A + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-25	7263 X 5-14	<i>E3, ad-2, A</i> + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-34	7263 X 5-14	E3, ad-2, al-2, A + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-36	7263 X 5-14	<i>E3, ad-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-2
EN14-158	7263 X 5-14	E3, ad-2, A	aod-2
5-34		<i>E4, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	
L1-6		<i>E5, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	
L1-13		<i>E6, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	
6-280		<i>E7, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	
L2-25		<i>E8, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL25-6	7267 X L2-25	<i>E8, met-7, al-2, A</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL25-27	7267 X L2-25	<i>E8, met-7, a</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL25-37	7267 X L2-25	<i>E8, met-7, A</i> + pBAT	aod-4
L2-37		<i>E9, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-4
L2-40		<i>E10, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-5
L2-61		<i>E11, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-4
NL61-130	763 X L2-61	E11, nic-1, A	aod-4
E11a-40	NL61-130 X 1244	E11, inl, A	aod-4
L2-62		<i>E12, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-6
EL62-2	7262 X L2-62	E12, trp-4, A	aod-6
EL62-25	7262 X L2-62	E12, trp-4, A	aod-6
L2-64		E13, T, al-2, $a + pBAT$	aod-4

 Table 2.

 Isolated mutant strains and their progeny.

Table 2 continued

Strain	Origin	Genotype	Gene Designation
EL64-46	7266 X L2-64	<i>E13, ad-1, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL64-47	7266 X L2-64	<i>E13, ad-1, A</i> + pBAT	aod-4
L2-67		<i>E14, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL67-2	7261 X L2-67	<i>E14, ad-3A, al-2, A</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL67-6	7261 X L2-67	<i>E14, ad-3A, A</i> + pBAT	aod-4
EL67-33	7261 X L2-67	E14, ad-3A, $A + pBAT$	aod-4
EL67-46	7261 X L2-67	<i>E14, ad-3A, A</i> + pBAT	aod-4
7-64		<i>E15, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	<i>aod</i> -7
L3-4		<i>E16, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	
L3-5		<i>E17, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	
L3-8		<i>E18, T, al-2, a</i> + pBAT	

¹ The designations *aod-4*, *aod-5*, *aod-6*, *aod-7*, and *chl-1* are proposed in this thesis for the new mutants isolated as described in the results section.

² The designations E1 to E18 refer to the original isolation numbers assigned to the mutations.

³ The indication "+ pBAT" means that the strain carries an integrated copy of the pBAT plasmid.

⁴ The female of the cross is the strain listed first.

Heterokaryon	Mutations Tested for Complementation
EN195-26 + AA1-42	E1, aod-1
EN195-109 + AA1-42	E1, aod-1
EN195-34 + AA1-15	E1, aod-1
EN195-34 + AA1-27	E1, aod-1
EN195-34 + AA1-37	E1, aod-1
EN195-26 + 7064	E1, aod-2
EN195-44 + 7064	E1, aod-2
EN195-26 + EN294-35	<i>E1, E2</i>
EN195-44 + EN294-35	<i>E1, E2</i>
EN195-26 + EN14-2	E1, E3
EN195-26 + EN14-18	E1, E3
EN195-26 + EL25-27	<i>E1, E8</i>
EN195-34 + NL61-130	<i>E1, E11</i>
EN195-34 + EL62-2	<i>E1, E12</i>
EN195-34 + EL62-25	<i>E1, E12</i>
EN195-26 + EL64-46	<i>E1, E13</i>
EN195-34 + EL67-2	<i>E1, E14</i>
EN195-34 + EL67-6	<i>E1, E14</i>
EN195-34 + EL67-33	<i>E1, E14</i>
EN195-34 + EL67-46	<i>E1, E14</i>
EN294-40 + 7207	E2, aod-1
EN294-46 + 7207	E2, aod-1
EN294-35 + 7064	E2, aod-2
EN294-35 + EN14-2	E2, E3
EN294-35 + EN14-18	<i>E2, E3</i>
E2a-119 + EL25-6	<i>E2, E8</i>
E2a-119 + EL25-37	<i>E2, E8</i>
E2a-119 + NL61-130	E2, E11
EN294-46 + EL62-2	<i>E2, E12</i>
EN294-46 + EL62-25	<i>E2, E12</i>
EN294-46 + EL64-47	<i>E2, E13</i>
EN294-46 + EL67-2	E2, E14
EN294-46 + EL67-33	<i>E2, E14</i>
EN294-46 + EL67-46	<i>E2, E14</i>
EN14-22 + 7207	<i>E3, aod-1</i>
EN14-34 + 7207	E3, aod-1
EN14-158 + 7207	E3, aod-1
EN14-2 + AA1-42	E3, aod-1

 Table 3.

 Heterokaryotic strains created for complementation analysis.

Table 3 continued

Heterokaryon	Mutations Tested for Complementation
EN14-10 + AA1-42	E3, aod-1
EN14-36 + AA1-42	E3, aod-1
EN14-22 + AA1-15	E3, aod-1
EN14-22 + AA1-27	E3, aod-1
EN14-22 + AA1-37	E3, aod-1
EN14-25 + AA1-15	E3, aod-1
EN14-25 + AA1-27	E3, aod-1
EN14-25 + AA1-37	E3, aod-1
EN14-34 + AA1-15	E3, aod-1
EN14-34 + AA1-27	E3, aod-1
EN14-34 + AA1-37	E3, aod-1
EN14-158 + AA1-15	E3, aod-1
EN14-158 + AA1-27	E3, aod-1
EN14-158 + AA1-37	E3, aod-1
EN14-2 + 7064	E3, aod-2
EN14-18 + 7064	E3, aod-2
EN14-34 + NCN233	E3
EN14-34 + NCN246	E3
EN14-158 + EL25-6	<i>E3, E8</i>
EN14-158 + EL25-37	<i>E3, E8</i>
EN14-158 + NL61-130	E3, E11
EN14-34 + EL62-2	E3, E12
EN14-34 + EL62-25	<i>E3, E12</i>
EN14-34 + EL64-47	E3, E13
EN14-34 + EL67-2	E3, E14
EN14-34 + EL67-33	E3, E14
EN14-34 + EL67-46	E3, E14
EL25-6 + AA1-15	E8, aod-1
EL25-6 + AA1-27	E8, aod-1
EL25-6 + AA1-37	E8, aod-1
EL25-37 + AA1-15	E8, aod-1
EL25-37 + AA1-27	E8, aod-1
EL25-37 + AA1-37	E8, aod-1
EL25-27 + 7064	E8, aod-2
EL25-6 + NL61-130	E8, E11
EL25-37 + NL61-130	<i>E8, E11</i>
EL25-6 + EL62-2	<i>E8, E12</i>
EL25-6 + EL62-25	<i>E8, E12</i>
EL25-37 + EL62-2	<i>E8, E12</i>

Table 3 continued

Heterokaryon	Mutations Tested for Complementation
EL25-37 + EL62-25	E8, E12
EL25-27 + EL64-46	E8, E13
EL25-6 + EL67-2	E8, E14
EL25-6 + EL67-6	E8, E14
EL25-6 + EL67-33	E8, E14
EL25-6 + EL67-46	E8, E14
EL25-37 + EL67-2	E8, E14
EL25-37 + EL67-6	E8, E14
EL25-37 + EL67-33	<i>E8, E14</i>
EL25-37 + EL67-46	E8, E14
NL61-130 + 7207	E11, aod-1
NL61-130 + AA1-15	E11, aod-1
NL61-130 + AA1-27	E11, aod-1
NL61-130 + AA1-37	E11, aod-1
NL61-130 + CNA-33	E11, aod-2
NL61-130 + EL62-2	E11, E12
NL61-130 + EL62-25	E11, E12
NL61-130 + EL64-47	E11, E13
NL61-130 + EL67-2	E11, E14
NL61-130 + EL67-6	E11, E14
NL61-130 + EL67-33	E11, E14
NL61-130 + EL67-46	E11, E14
EL62-2 + 7207	E12, aod-1
EL62-25 + 7207	E12, aod-1
EL62-2 + CNA-33	E12, aod-2
EL62-25 + CNA-33	E12, aod-2
EL62-2 + EL64-47	<i>E12, E13</i>
EL62-25 + EL64-47	E12, E13
EL62-2 + EL67-2	E12, E14
EL62-2 + EL67-6	E12, E14
EL62-2 + EL67-33	E12, E14
EL62-2 + EL67-46	<i>E12, E14</i>
EL62-25 + EL67-2	E12, E14
EL62-25 + EL67-6	E12, E14
EL62-25 + EL67-33	E12, E14
EL62-25 + EL67-46	E12, E14
EL64-47 + 7207	E13, aod-1
EL64-46 + 7064	E13, aod-2
EL64-47 + EL67-2	E13, E14

Table 3 continued

Heterokaryon	Mutations Tested for Complementation
EL64-47 + EL67-6	E13, E14
EL64-47 + EL67-33	E13, E14
EL64-47 + EL67-46	E13, E14
EL67-2 + 7207	E14, aod-1
EL67-33 + 7207	E14, aod-1
EL67-46 + 7207	E14, aod-1
EL67-2 + CNA-33	E14, aod-2
EL67-6 + CNA-33	E14, aod-2
EL67-33 + CNA-33	E14, aod-2
EL67-46 + CNA-33	E14, aod-2

chloramphenicol (2 mg/mL), or antimycin A (0.5 μ g/mL) to induce alternative oxidase activity.

2.2 Yeast one hybrid vector and transformation

A 31 bp fragment containing the 8 bp CRE had been amplified by PCR and four copies of this fragment had been cloned in tandem into the *Bam*HI site of pBluescript to generate plasmid pCH105 (Table 4; F. Nargang, unpublished results). The tandem copies were excised intact from pCH105 by digestion with *SstI* and *Eco*RV. Plasmid pCHisi-1 was created by ligating the fragment containing the 4 CREs into the MATCHMAKER one hybrid vector pHisi-1 (Clontech, Palo Alto, CA), which had been digested with *Xba*I, blunt ended, digested with *SstI*, and then dephosphorylated (Table 4).

This construct was transformed into yeast strain YM4271 (*MATa*, *ura3-52*, *his3-200*, *ade2-101*, *lys2-801*, *leu2-3*, *112*, *trp1-901*, *tyr1-501*, *gal4-\Delta538*, *gal80-\Delta538*, *ade5::hisG*). Yeast growth and transformation was performed as described by the manufacturers of the MATCHMAKER one hybrid kit (Clontech, Palo Alto, CA). Leaky expression from the *HIS3* gene was used to select transformants. Strain YM4271 was also transformed with a supplied control plasmid carrying 3 tandem copies of the p53 binding site upstream of the *HIS3* gene. A pCHisi-1 transformant strain was grown on media containing various concentrations of the His3p inhibitor 3-amino-1,2,4-triazole (3-AT), and its growth was compared to that of a strain transformed with the control plasmid.

2.3 Tyrosinase reporter

Tyrosinase mutant strains and plasmid pTYR103 containing the *T* gene were obtained from the lab of Stephen Free (Table 4; Kothe *et al.*, 1993; Fuentes *et al.*, 1994). A restriction fragment containing 18 bp of 5' sequence found upstream of the *T* translational start codon, the entire coding sequence for *T*, and 3' sequence including the polyadenylation signal had been cloned into pBluescript II SK⁻ to generate pTYR103 (Kothe *et al.*, 1993). This plasmid has unique restriction sites for *Eco*RI and *Xba*I upstream of the tyrosinase sequences. The *T* mutant strain T1P11 was created by crossing a wild-type strain with a strain containing an ectopically integrated copy of pTYR103 to give a duplication of the *T* gene (S. Free, personal communication). The duplication
Vector	Source	Description	
pHisi-1	Clonetech Laboratories Inc.	Yeast integration vector, carries HIS3 gene	
pCH105	F. Nargang	Four copies of 31 bp fragment containing <i>aod-1</i> CRE cloned in pBluescript	
pCHisi-1	This Study	Four tandem copies of CRE fragment cloned into pHisi-1 upstream of yeast <i>HIS3</i> gene	
pTYR103	S. Free	Tyrosinase coding, 18 bp upstream and 3' UTR sequences cloned in pBluescript	
pAOPFGuB	L. Tanton	3.3 kbp <i>aod-1</i> upstream sequence, β -glucouronidase gene, and bleomycin resistance gene cloned in pGUS (Clonetech Palo Alto, CA; L. Tanton, 2003)	
рАТ	This Study	3.3 kbp <i>aod-1</i> upstream sequence placed upstream of tyrosinase gene in pTYR103	
pAB520	B. Austin et al.	Bleomycin resistance gene cloned in pUC18	
pBAT	This Study	pBAT with bleomycin resistance gene from pAB520 cloned into <i>Xba</i> I site	
pCSN43	C. Staben et al.	Hygromycin resistance gene cloned in pBluescript	

Table 4.Plasmids used during this study.

served as a substrate for the process of repeat induced point mutation (RIP) during the premeiotic phase of the cross (Selker, 1990). RIP typically causes C to T and G to A transition mutations and methylation of duplicated sequences, resulting in loss of expression and/or function of the target gene. T1P11 inherited the RIPed copy of the endogenous T gene and did not inherit the ectopically integrated pTYR103 plasmid sequences. T1P11 was then backcrossed to a wild-type strain and progeny T1P11P08, T1P11P13 and T1P11P16 were isolated that contained the RIPed copy of T (S. Free, personal communication). All four strains should therefore contain the same RIP generated mutations (but see section 3.6).

2.4 Construction of reporter system

Digestion of the plasmid pAOPFGuB (Table 4; Tanton, 2003) with *Hin*dIII and *Spe*I liberated a 3347 bp fragment spanning –3304 to +43 (relative to the *aod-1* transcription start +1) of the alternative oxidase upstream region, which ended 13 bp before the AUG start codon of the alternative oxidase structural gene. This upstream fragment was blunt ended and cloned into the blunted *Eco*RI site of the vector pTYR103 (Kothe *et al.*, 1993), placing it upstream of the tyrosinase gene to yield plasmid pAT. A 1.6 kbp *Xba*I fragment from the plasmid pAB520 (Table 4; Austin *et al.*, 1990) containing the selectable marker for bleomycin resistance was cloned into the *Xba*I site of pAT, generating the reporter construct pBAT (Table 4; Fig. 5A). The fusion of the 3' end of the 3.347 kbp promoter fragment with the upstream sequence of the tyrosinase gene is shown (Fig. 5B). pBAT contains unique restriction sites for *Kpn*I, *Eco*RI, *Eco*RV, *Bgl*II, and *Hin*dIII.

2.5 DNA modification and gel electrophoresis

Restriction endonucleases, T4 DNA ligase, RNase A, Klenow fragment and DNA phosphatases used were purchased from Gibco BRL/Invitrogen (Burlington, ON), Amersham Pharmacia Biotech (San Francisco, CA), New England Biolabs (Mississauga, ON) or Roche Scientific (Laval, QB). Reactions were carried out according to manufacturer's directions.

Agarose gels were used to visualize migration patterns of DNA samples as per

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Sambrook and Russell (2001). For isolation of small DNA fragments (less than 300 bp) for cloning, low melt agarose was used. To pour the gel, 50 mL of normal 1% agarose was melted and poured into the base of the gel casting tray (14.5 cm x 20 cm) and allowed to solidify. The comb was adjusted to place the base of the wells directly on this base. Then 200 mL of 1.2% SeaPlaque agarose (Mandel Scientific Company Ltd, Guelph, ON) was melted, ethidium bromide was added to a final concentration of 0.2 μ g/mL, and the solution was poured into the gel casting tray.

2.6 Isolation of DNA from agarose gels

Bands of interest were visualized using a hand held trans-illuminator and excised from agarose gels using a scalpel. DNA was isolated using the glassmilk method (Geneclean II kit, Q Biogene, Carlsbad, CA). When DNA was isolated from low melt gels, the desired bands were purified as per Sambrook and Russell (2001) with modifications. The bands of interest were cut out with a scalpel, melted at 65°C and diluted in TE buffer (10 mM Tris·HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) to reduce the concentration of low melt agarose to less than 0.4%. After cooling to room temperature, the mixture was extracted with an equal volume of equilibrated phenol and the aqueous phase was collected. If a large white interface was seen, the interface and phenol layer were reextracted with an equal volume of TE and this aqueous phase was combined with the first. The total aqueous phase was placed in a fresh 1.6 mL tube and DNA was precipitated by adding one tenth volume 3 M sodium acetate and two volumes of 95% ethanol. This mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 min and then spun at 14, 000 rpm in a microcentrifuge for 5 min at room temperature. The pellet was washed once with 70% ethanol and then resuspended in an appropriate volume of sterile dH₂O.

2.7 Growth of E. coli

Cells of *E. coli* were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) media (10 g/L tryptone, 5 g/L yeast extract, 5 g/L NaCl, 1 g/L glucose) at 37° C as per Sambrook and Russell (2001). Liquid cultures were shaken at 150-200 rpm to provide aeration of the culture. Filter sterilized antibiotic solutions were added after autoclaving, and 100 mg/L ampicillin (amp) or 70 mg/L kanamycin (kan) were used for selection.

2.8 Transformation of competent E. coli cells

Strain XL1, XL2 or XL10 Blue (Stratagene, LaJolla, CA) cells were prepared for transformation as per Inoue (1990) with growth at 18° C to increase competence (Sambrook and Russell, 2001). Aliquots of 250 µL were flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until needed.

Competent *E. coli* cells were transformed as per Sambrook and Russell (2001). Cells were thawed on ice and DNA, in a volume of less than one tenth that of the cells, was added. The DNA was mixed with the cells gently, and incubated on ice for 30 min. The mixture was heat shocked either at 42°C for 1.5 min or 37°C for 5 min. One to two volumes of pre-warmed LB were added and the mixture was incubated at 37°C for 30 to 90 min. Aliquots of the transformation mixture were spread onto pre-warmed LB plates containing the appropriate antibiotic. The plates were incubated at 37°C overnight and transformants picked the following day.

2.9 Small scale plasmid or cosmid DNA isolation

E. coli cells containing the DNA construct of interest were grown in 5 or 10 mL LB liquid culture containing the appropriate antibiotic overnight at 37°C. Multiple aliquots (usually two) of 1.5 mL of the culture were poured into a microcentrifuge tube and the cells were pelleted in a microcentrifuge at 14, 000 rpm for 2 min at room temperature. Either the alkaline lysis "miniprep" protocol of Birnboim and Doly (1979) or Qiagen mini-prep kits (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) were used to isolate the DNA. The Qiagen protocol was followed, including modifications to optimize isolation of low copy number, large insert cosmids, when necessary.

2.10 Large scale plasmid or cosmid isolation

E. coli cells containing the DNA construct of interest were grown in 50 to 500 mL LB liquid culture containing the appropriate antibiotic overnight at 37°C. DNA was isolated using either Qiagen midi- or maxi-prep kits (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) following the manufacturer's instructions, or by a standard cesium chloride continuous gradient purification as per Sambrook and Russell (2001).

2.11 Determination of nucleic acid concentration

The concentration of DNA or RNA solutions was determined using a Shimadzu UV-Visible Recording Spectrophotometer, Model UV-265 (Shimadzu, Guelph, ON). An appropriate dilution was placed in a quartz cuvette. An OD_{260} of 1.0 for double stranded DNA is equivalent to a concentration of 50 µg/mL, while an OD_{260} of 1.0 for RNA samples is equivalent to a concentration of 40 µg/mL.

2.12 DNA sequencing and analysis

During the early stages of this work, DNA was sequenced using an Amersham-Pharmacia thermosequenase kit (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, San Francisco, CA) based on a [³³P]-ddNTP PCR sequencing method. The manufacturer's instructions were followed. In the later stages, DNA sequence was obtained using a DyeNamic sequencing kit system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, San Francisco, CA) with a Model 373 stretch sequencer separation system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The sequencing reactions and PCR were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Sequence profiles were produced using Applied Biosystems sequencing analysis software version 3.4.1 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The electrophoresis and determination of sequence profiles were done by the Molecular Biology Service Unit (MBSU; Department of Biological Sciences, University of Alberta).

DNAMAN version 4.13 (Lynnon Biosoft, Vaudreuil, QB) software was used to analyze sequences obtained. Sequences were also analyzed using basic local alignment search tool (BLAST) searches against various databases.

2.13 Oligonucleotides used during this study

Oligonucleotide primers were designed for sequencing and PCR reactions following the guidelines of Sambrook and Russell (2001). Oligonucleotides were synthesized at MBSU (Department of Biological Sciences, University of Alberta) or by Gibco BRL (Burlington, ON) and are listed in Table 5.

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Use of Primer	5' end ¹	3' end
ADE1 [*]	TCACTTGCTGGATGGACGC	T PCR and Sequencing	-84	-66
ADE20 [*]	GGCCATAGAGCAGCAACCATG	T Sequencing	+203	+223
ADE19 [*]	GGAGGTAGAGATTGAACTGCTCCGG	T PCR (Ectopic Reporter)	+402	+378
ADE59*	CGTACTTTGATTGGGCTAGTCAGCC	T Sequencing	+715	+739
ADE60*	CCATGTGTATGTGGTCACTCCCC	T Sequencing	+1190	+1212
ADE61*	TCTCGGCTGCTGCTGCTCATGCAG	T Sequencing	+1678	+1701
ADE62 [*]	CCTCGCTTTGCTGCAGGATATTGTG	T Sequencing	+2152	+2176
ADE2 [*]	TACCCGGTTTCTTGATCTCAC	T PCR	+2502	+2482
ADE63 [*]	GAAGCTCAGAACTGGATACGACGC	T Sequencing	+2632	+2655
ADE58 [*]	CTCGAGCCCAACACCAAGAACGTC	T PCR	+2908	+2885
ao5	TTAGTTGGGCCGCTTGTCC	aod-1 PCR and Sequencing	+93	+111
ao21	AGTGATGTGAAGTTGTAATGGA	aod-1 PCR	+43	+22
FNA88	CCTTCCCTCCAGAAGGCTTTATGCG	aod-1 PCR and Sequencing	-1216	-1191

Table 5.Primers used during this study.

* Indicates oligonucleotides created during this study.

¹ The 5' and 3' end sites of each primer refers to their positions within the genes for which the primer was designed.

2.14 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

PCR was performed as per Sambrook and Russell (2001) using a mixture of *Taq* and *Vent* polymerase (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) to minimize replication errors. PCR primers were often designed with the aid of DNAMAN version 4.13 (Lynnon Biosoft, Vaudreuil, QB) software to prevent formation of primer dimers, primers with intramolecular complementarity, and to determine the optimum annealing temperature.

2.15 Conidial DNA preparation for PCR

To obtain small samples of DNA from *N. crassa* strains for PCR, a small, "pea sized," amount of conidia was mixed with 100 μ L of cracking buffer (1 M sorbitol, 20 mM EDTA, 3 mg/mL lysing enzyme (Sigma, Oakville, ON). The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 10 min and then spun in a microcentrifuge at 14, 000 rpm for 10 min at room temperature. The pellet was washed with 500 μ L 1 M sorbitol, 20 mM EDTA and then resuspended in 100 μ L sterile dH₂O. This mixture was then subject to a standard glassmilk DNA isolation procedure (Geneclean II kit, Q Biogene, Carlsbad, CA) and eluted with 50 μ L of sterile dH₂O. For a standard PCR reaction, 10 μ L of this preparation was used.

2.16 Transformation of N. crassa using sphaeroplasts

Sphaeroplasts were prepared as per Akins and Lambowitz (1985) and Schweizer *et al.* (1981). One week old conidia from the strain to be transformed were harvested in sterile dH₂O, filtered through sterile cheesecloth, and the conidia were counted. Liquid cultures were inoculated at 5×10^6 to 1.5×10^7 conidia/mL and grown at 30° C with shaking until at least 80% of the conidia had germinated, typically for 3-6 hr. Germination was monitored by removing small aliquots at various intervals and examining the conidia under a light microscope to visualize small protuberances from the conidia. Cultures were harvested in sterile GS-3 rotor bottles (Sorvall, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON) and centrifuged for 10 min at 5, 000 rpm at 4°C. The conidia were kept on ice at all times. The supernatant was removed and the conidia were washed once with cold sterile dH₂O and once with cold sterile 1 M sorbitol (Sigma, Oakville, ON). The

conidia were resuspended in cold sterile 1 M sorbitol to a concentration of 1×10^9 conidia/mL and transferred to a sterile 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tube. For each mL of suspended conidia, 4 mg of lysing enzyme (Sigma, Oakville, ON) was added. The mixture was incubated at 30°C with shaking for 15 to 60 min. At 15 min intervals or less, two 10 μ L aliquots were removed and placed on a slide to monitor the extent of sphaeroplasting. To one of the aliquots, 10 µL of 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was added. When treated with SDS, conidia whose cell walls have been digested burst and appear under the light microscope as "ghosts" when compared to the untreated sample. The sphaeroplasting was considered complete when at least 90% of the conidia in the treated sample formed ghosts. The suspension was pelleted gently at low speed in a clinical centrifuge (setting 2) for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the sphaeroplasts were washed once with 50 mL sterile cold 1 M sorbitol and once with 50 mL sterile cold MCS (10 mM MOPS, 50 mM CaCl₂, 1 M sorbitol, pH 6.3 with NaOH). The sphaeroplasts were resuspended in 6 to 8 mL sterile cold MCS to a final concentration of 2.5 to 5 x 10^8 sphaeroplasts/mL. For each mL of suspended sphaeroplasts, 13 µL of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), 65 µL heparin (5 mg/mL), and 275 μ L PMC (40% PEG, 10 mM MOPS, pH 6.7 with NaOH, 50 mM CaCl₂)¹ were added. The solution was gently and thoroughly mixed, aliquoted, and stored at -80° C.

For transformation, frozen sphaeroplasts were thawed on ice. 5 μ g of the DNA to be transformed in a total volume of 60 μ L was added to 100 μ L of sphaeroplasts. This solution was mixed gently and kept on ice for 30 to 60 min. The mixture was transferred to a sterile 15 mL screw-cap tube and 1.6 mL PMC was added. The solution was gently mixed and incubated at room temperature for at least 20 min. The transformation mixture was added to top agar (1.6% agar, 1 M sorbitol) containing 1 x Vogel's media plus the appropriate supplements and selective agents at approximately 48°C and layered onto appropriate transformation plates. The plates were incubated at 30°C until transformed colonies were visible, typically three to five days. Either resistance to bleomycin or to hygromycin was used as a selectable marker of transformation. For bleomycin selection, both top agar and plate media contained 1 mg/L bleomycin and 0.5 g/L caffeine. Hygromycin selection top agar and plates contained 0.44 mL/L hygromycin.

¹ The PEG/MOPS and CaCl₂ solutions were autoclaved separately and mixed after cooling.

Screening of transformants generated using sphaeroplast transformation with the tyrosinase plate assay (see section 2.27) required that the colonies be on top of, rather than in, the top agar, and that the PMC was completely removed. To accomplish this, after incubation of the transformation mixture at room temperature for 20 min, 50 mL of regeneration media (top agar without the agar) was added and this mixture was incubated at 30°C for 3 hr with gentle shaking. Then the transformed cells were spun down gently at low speed in a clinical centrifuge (setting 2) for 10 min at 4°C. A small amount of sterile 1 M sorbitol was used to resuspend the cells and aliquots were spread on plates made from top agar.

2.17 Transformation of N. crassa by electroporation

Transformation by electroporation was performed as per Margolin *et al.* (1997, 2000). One week old conidia of the strain to be transformed were harvested in dH₂O, filtered through sterile cheesecloth, washed three times with cold 1 M sorbitol, and resuspended in cold 1 M sorbitol to a final concentration of 2-2.5 x 10⁹ conidia/mL. In a pre-chilled electroporation cuvette, 5 μ g of 1 μ g/ μ L linearized transforming DNA was mixed with 40 μ L of conidia and left on ice for 5 min. Optimal electroporation settings of 2.1 kV, 475 Ω , 25 microfarads were determined for strain T1P11 using the Gene Pulser (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) electroporator (Ian Cleary, personal communication). Electroporation time constants of 11 to 12 msec were obtained. 1 mL of cold 1 M sorbitol was immediately added and the conidia were allowed to recover at 30°C for 30 to 90 min. Various aliquots from 5 to 250 μ L of the electroporation mixture were mixed with top agar with the appropriate supplements and selective agents at approximately 48°C and plated on viability plates. Transformants were grown until colonies appeared, usually three to five days at 30°C.

For screening of transformants with the tyrosinase plate assay (see section 2.27), after addition of the 1 M sorbitol, the electroporated conidia were placed in 50 mL regeneration media and incubated at 30°C with gentle shaking for 3 hr. The cells were then pelleted by centrifugation at high speed in a clinical centrifuge (setting 7) for 10 min at 4°C. A small volume of 1 M sorbitol was used to resuspend the cells and aliquots were spread on top agar plates.

2.18 Purification of transformant strains

Transformants were picked by surrounding the colony with the small end of a sterile Pasteur pipette. The colonies were placed in slants containing either full bleomycin or half of the normal concentration of hygromycin (to promote conidiation) and grown at 30°C for two to three days until mycelia covered the surface of the media. The slants were placed at room temperature in the light to promote conidiation, which normally took 4 days to a week. Conidia were then streaked on full concentration bleomycin plus caffeine or hygromycin containing plates, and the plates were incubated at 30°C for two to three days until colonies appeared. Single colonies were picked from these plates as above and placed into slants containing no selective agent. These slants were incubated for two days at 30°C and then placed at room temperature in the light to promote conidiation. This round of purification of single colonies increased the likelihood of isolating homokaryotic transformants.

2.19 N. crassa genomic DNA Isolation

gDNA was isolated from 250 mL cultures as described by Wendland *et al.* (1996) with modifications. The overnight culture was harvested by vacuum filtration through a Whatman filter in a Buchner funnel. The remaining mycelial pad was washed with dH₂O and then pressed between paper towels to remove excess moisture. The pad was then immediately wrapped in foil and placed on ice until all cultures were harvested. Each mycelial pad was then weighed. For each gram of mycelia, 1.5 grams of acid washed sand and 2 mL of new isolation buffer (10 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 1% SDS, 100 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0) were added. This mixture was ground with a mortar and pestle until a smooth consistency was obtained. The slurry was placed in a Sorvall SS-34 tube and brought up to 10 mL total volume with new isolation buffer. The tube was shaken vigorously and then mixed by inversion for at least 1 minute. The slurry was incubated at 70°C for one hour and then chilled on ice for 10 min. After chilling, 0.64 mL of 8 M potassium acetate pH 4.3 was added, the sample was mixed by inversion, and the slurry kept on ice for 1 hour. The sample was spun at 14, 000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C in an SS-34 rotor (Sorvall, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON) and the supernatant was transferred to a

new tube. An equal volume of isopropanol was added to the supernatant and the tube was mixed gently. A visible clot of DNA and RNA then formed. The sample was spun at 10, 000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C in an SS-34 rotor (Sorvall, Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON), and 1 mL of 70% ethanol was added and poured off to wash the pellet. The pellet was dissolved in 400 μ L 1 mM EDTA pH 8.0. The solution was placed in a microcentrifuge tube and 200 μ L of high salt buffer (100 mM sodium chloride, 25 mM Tris·HCl pH 7.4, 2 mM EDTA) and 15 μ L boiled RNase A (10 mg/mL) were added. After mixing, the sample was incubated at 37°C for 30 min. The mixture was extracted with an equal volume of equilibrated phenol. DNA was precipitated by adding one tenth volume 3 M sodium acetate and two volumes of 95% ethanol. A visible clot formed and was removed from the 1.6 mL tube using a 1 mL disposable pipette tip. The clot was washed by briefly placing it in a 1.6 mL tube with 70% ethanol. Then the clot was placed in a new microcentrifuge tube and allowed to dry. The DNA was resuspended in 400 μ L sterile dH₂O and stored at -20° C.

2.20 Genomic DNA gels and Southern blotting

Samples of gDNA were digested, subjected to electrophoresis on agarose gels, and transferred to nylon membranes as per Sambrook and Rusell (2001) with modifications. 5 μ g of each genomic DNA sample was digested with the appropriate enzyme (or enzymes) overnight in an air incubator at the suitable temperature in a total volume of at least 40 μ L. Loading dye was added and the samples were run in a 0.6% agarose, 0.2 μ g/mL ethidium bromide gel to resolve larger fragments. A lambda *Hin*dIII marker lane was also subjected to electrophoresis as a size standard. The gel was run at 150 V for 3 hr, and the running buffer was replaced at 1.5 hr. Following electrophoresis, a picture was taken of the gel using a transilluminator and a fluorescent ruler. The gel was incubated with 0.25 M hydrochloric acid for 10 to 15 min with slow shaking until the loading dye had changed from blue to yellow. The gel was then washed with dH₂O, and the DNA was denatured by placing the gel in 1.5 M sodium chloride, 0.5 M sodium hydroxide twice for 20 min each with slow shaking. The gel was washed with dH₂O and placed in a neutralizing 3 M sodium acetate solution for 30 min with gentle shaking. The gel was rinsed in dH₂O and placed, wells facing down, on Saran wrap. A nylon membrane the same size as the gel was wetted and then placed on the gel. Any bubbles were removed by rolling a 25 mL glass pipette along the nylon. A piece of 3MM paper the same size as the membrane, wetted with 20 x SSC (3 M sodium chloride, 0.3 M sodium citrate, pH 7.0), was placed on top of the membrane followed by 2 to 5 more sheets of un-wetted 3MM paper of the same size. A stack of paper towels of the same size was placed on top of the 3MM paper, followed by a glass plate and then a flask containing 500 mL water. The DNA transfer was left overnight. The next morning, the wells of the gel were marked on the nylon membrane, which was then washed for 5 min in 2 x SSC. The membrane was blotted dry on 3MM paper and baked for 1 hour at 80°C under vacuum.

2.21 Southern hybridization

Nylon membranes were pre-hybridized for 6 hr to overnight in pre-hybridization solution (10 x Denhardts, 2 x SSC, 1% SDS, 0.1 mg/mL sonicated denatured salmon sperm DNA) at 65°C in a rotating hybridization incubator (Tyler Research Instruments, Edmonton, AB). Purified, radioactively labeled probe (see sections 2.22, 2.23) was denatured by incubation at 100°C for 10 min and then placed in 20 mL of fresh prehybridization solution and added to the membrane. Hybridization was done at 65°C overnight in the rotating oven. The membrane was then washed twice for 5 min at room temperature with 100 mL of 2 x SSC, 0.1% SDS, and twice for 20 min at 65°C with prewarmed 2 x SSC, 2% SDS. Finally, the membrane was washed twice for 20 min at 65°C with pre-warmed 0.1 x SSC, 0.1% SDS. The membrane was wrapped in Saran wrap and exposed to Kodak XAR film at -80°C for an appropriate amount of time.

2.22 Radioactive labeling of DNA

Probe DNA was denatured for 10 min at 100°C and then cooled in an ice/salt bath. The DNA was diluted to a volume of 50 μ L and mixed with 12 μ L of a dNTP mix (0.5 mM dATP, 0.5 mM dGTP and 0.5 mM dTTP), 8 μ L of a hexanucleotide mix (Roche Scientific, Laval, QB), 5 μ L of ³²P dCTP, and 4 μ L of Klenow DNA polymerase. The labeling reaction was incubated at 37°C for 30 to 60 min. Unincorporated nucleotides were removed using a Sephadex G50 spin column (see section 2.23).

2.23 Sephadex G50 columns for probe purification

Sephadex columns were used to remove unincorporated radioactive nucleotides as per Sambrook and Russell (2001). Sephadex G50 was mixed with sterile TE and left at room temperature overnight. The Sephadex was swollen by autoclaving at 121°C, 21 psi for 20 min. To make a spin column, a 1 mL syringe was plugged with silanized glass wool and the Sephadex slurry was added. The syringe was placed in a 15 mL screw-cap tube and spun at top speed for 2 min in a clinical centrifuge. A second addition of slurry and a second spin were done to increase the column length. The TE flow-through from the column was removed before the labeling reaction was placed on the surface of the Sephadex bed. A 1.6 mL tube was placed at the bottom of the screw-cap tube to collect the labeled DNA probe in the flow-through. The column was centrifuged at top speed for 2 min in the clinical centrifuge, and the flow-through in the 1.6 mL tube was collected.

2.24 RNA isolation

All equipment used for RNA isolation and analysis was either soaked overnight in 2% hydrogen peroxide or washed with RBS35 detergent (Chemical Products R. Borghgraef, Pierce Rockford, IL) and then rinsed with milliQ dH₂O. Reagents were made using diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated dH₂O, where dH₂O with 0.1% DEPC was stirred at room temperature overnight and then autoclaved at 121°C, 21 PSI for 20 min. Prior to RNA isolation, a respiration assay of the culture of interest was performed (see section 2.29) followed by harvesting of the mycelia. A portion of the mycelial pad was immediately placed in foil and frozen in liquid nitrogen. These pads were stored at -80°C until used for RNA isolation. Roughly 100 mg pieces of the pad were ground in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle. RNA was isolated using a Qiagen RNeasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON) following the kit directions. RNA was eluted in two volumes of 50 µL RNase-free water.

2.25 RNA gels and Northern blotting

1% Agarose gels containing 1.9% formaldehyde were used with a 1 x MOPS-EDTA (0.02 M MOPS, 2 mM sodium acetate, 1 mM EDTA) running buffer. 5 μ g of each RNA sample was placed in loading buffer (1 x MOPS-EDTA, 50% formamide, 6.5% formaldehyde, 0.1 mg/mL ethidium bromide) and heated to 65° C before loading. The gels were run at 150 V for three hr in a fume hood, with periodic manual stirring of the running buffer. The gels were photographed, washed three times for 20 min in DEPC treated dH₂O, soaked in 0.05 N sodium hydroxide for 20 min, and finally neutralized in 10 x SSC for 40 min. A nylon membrane of the same size as the gel was wetted in 10 x SSC for five min. The RNA from the gel was transferred to the nylon membrane overnight by capillary action using 10 x SSC as the transfer buffer. After transfer, the wells from the gel were marked on the nylon membrane, which was then rinsed twice in 2 x SSC for five min and baked at 80°C in a vacuum oven for 1 hour.

2.26 Northern hybridization

The membrane was pre-hybridized with 50 mL Church's Buffer (0.5 M sodium phosphate pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA, 7% SDS) at 65°C in a rotating incubator. The membrane was probed with a labeled 1.3 kbp *Eco*RI/*Spe*I cDNA fragment of *aod-1* corresponding to -50 to +1465 of *aod-1*. The probe was denatured for 10 min at 100° C and then added to 25 mL fresh Church's Buffer. The blot was hybridized in this solution overnight at 65° C, then washed with 1 x SSC, 0.1% SDS four times for 5 min at room temperature, and finally with pre-warmed 0.1 x SSC, 0.1% SDS twice for 25 min at 65° C. The Saran wrapped membrane was exposed to Kodak XAR film at -80° C.

2.27 Tyrosinase plate assay

Conidia from strains to be tested were streaked on plates to obtain 50 to 100 colonies per plate. For assays of non-induced colonies, the plates contained minimal medium with appropriate supplements and were grown at 30°C for two days. To induce reporter expression, the plates contained chloramphenicol and required an additional day of growth at 30°C. Strain NCN10 was used to optimize the assay conditions using only the relatively low level of endogenous tyrosinase. It was found that maximal formation of the brown pigment occurred when 5 to 10 mL of a freshly prepared 10 mM tyrosine 0.1% Triton X-100 solution was placed on the plates, and the plates were maintained at 30°C for several hr to overnight. Triton X-100 is presumed to facilitate the proteolytic cleavage required for tyrosinase maturation by making the cellular compartments leaky, which

exposes the protyrosinase to protease(s) (S. Free, personal communication). By plating and testing mixtures of NCN10 and T1P11 condia, it was found that brown and white colonies could be distinguished, although after 1-2 days the brown pigment usually leaked into the media, turning it and any white colonies brown.

2.28 Insertional mutagenesis

Transformation of *N. crassa* usually results in the integration of the foreign DNA at ectopic sites within the genome (Davis, 2000). A mutagenesis scheme was designed based on these random integration events, since insertion of foreign sequences can interrupt regulatory and/or coding sequences and cause loss of function mutations. Plasmid pCSN43, which carries a hygromycin resistance marker, was used for insertional mutagenesis of strain 8-18. The strain was transformed (see sections 2.16 and 2.17) with *Hin*dIII cut pCSN43, and plated on top of hygromycin-containing plates or hygromycin and chloramphenicol -containing plates. After four or five days growth at 30°C, colonies were subjected to the tyrosinase plate assay.

2.29 Ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS) mutagenesis and enrichment

Conidia from the reporter strain T11-76 were treated with EMS using a method adapted from Davis and de Serres (1970; Fig. 6). Seven to ten day old conidia flasks were harvested in sterile dH_2O and filtered through cheesecloth to remove mycelia. The conidia were then washed once in fresh sterile dH_2O and resuspended in 0.067 M phosphate buffer pH 7.0 at a concentration of 2 x 10^7 conidia/mL. Tests of the effectiveness of EMS were carried out using final concentrations of 0.1, 0.15, or 0.3 M. I found that concentrations of EMS higher than the recommended 0.1 M were necessary to reduce survival to the level of 70% suggested to be optimal for mutagenesis (Table 6; Davis and de Serres, 1970). Although desired mutations were obtained using all three EMS concentrations, it was found that 0.15 and 0.3 M EMS were more effective at generating mutations than when 0.1 M EMS was used. In the results section (section 3.8), the experiments using all three concentrations of EMS are grouped together when discussing the number and identity of mutations obtained.

.



EMS Concentration	Number of Conidia Plated	Number of Colonies (No EMS)	Number of Colonies (After EMS Treatment)	% Survival
0.1 M	500	300	282	94
	500	295	244	83
	500	313	303	97
0.15 M	200	125	77	62
	200	87	72	83
	200	139	106	76
	100	64	45	70
	100	43	31	72
0.3 M	300	173	59	34
	200	139	26	19
	100	57	13	23

 Table 6.

 Tests of conidial survival after treatment with different concentrations of EMS.

Conidia were incubated with EMS at 25°C for five hr with shaking and then washed twice with sterile 1 x Vogel's solution. Two methods were used for the selection of mutants (Fig. 6). For the direct selection method, EMS treated conidia were spread directly onto chloramphenicol containing plates. Varying amounts of conidia were diluted in 1 x Vogel's and spread to obtain between 50 and 100 viable colonies per plate. Plates were incubated at 30°C for four days, and then colonies were screened by the tyrosinase assay. For the antimycin A enrichment method, EMS treated conidia were first placed in antimycin A liquid media (0.5 μ g/mL) for four days growth and then plated as above. 2×10^7 EMS treated conidia were placed in 500 mL of media containing antimycin A (0. 5 μ g/L) in a 2 L baffled flask and incubated at 30°C with shaking for four days. Every 24 hr the liquid cultures were filtered through sterile nylon stocking to remove any growing conidia with hyphal extensions. Thus, these cultures were filter enriched for antimycin A sensitive mutants. After four days, the remaining conidia were collected and plated on chloramphenicol containing plates. Again, plates were incubated at 30°C for four days and the resulting colonies were screened using the tyrosinase plate assay. In both cases, colonies that remained white during the tyrosinase plate assay were picked.

2.30 Respiration assay

Conidia of strains to be tested were harvested and used to inoculate liquid cultures for overnight growth at 30°C with shaking. Depending on the concentration of the mycelia grown (estimated by visual inspection), 1 to 3 mL of fresh mycelia was removed from the culture and brought up to 3 mL total volume with 1 x Vogel's in a glass chamber. Air was bubbled through this mixture for at least 1 minute. Consumption of oxygen was measured using a Yellow Springs Instruments biological oxygen monitor (Model 53, YSI, Yellow Springs, OH) with a Clark type oxygen sensor. 50 μ L of freshly prepared potassium cyanide (0.2 M in 10 mM Tris·HCl pH 7.2, 5 mM EDTA) or SHAM (0.3 M in 95% ethanol) was added after an initial respiration rate was established to observe their affects on oxygen consumption.

2.31 Mating strains and isolating progeny

Crossing was performed as described by Davis and de Serres (1970). Briefly, the strain to become the female parent was inoculated on Westergaard's media (low nitrogen) using filter paper as the sole carbon source. When necessary, the media contained normal concentrations of nutritional supplements. However, if amino acids were required, only 1/50 the normal amount was added to cultures to prevent an increase in nitrogen concentration that would inhibit protoperithecial formation. Crossing plates were incubated at 30°C for two days and then kept at room temperature in the dark until protoperithecia formed. The male strain was inoculated on slants and allowed to conidiate. Conidia were harvested and spread on the protoperithecia to allow mating to occur. After application of the male strain conidia, the plates were kept at room temperature in the light. Four days after mating, the plate lids were removed and clean lids were put in place. Ascospores were harvested from the lids eighteen days after mating by suspension in sterile dH_20 , left to hydrate in sterile dH_2O overnight at room temperature, and then activated at 60°C for 45 to 60 min. Aliquots of 5 to 250 µL of the ascospore suspension were plated on sorbose containing media and incubated at 30°C overnight. Using a dissecting microscope, individual ascospores showing hyphal growth were picked (see section 2.18). Care was taken to avoid picking ascospores whose hyphae overlapped with hyphae of another ascospore.

2.32 Growth rate measurement

Race tubes were made in sterile 25 mL plastic pipettes (White and Woodward, 1995) by filling each tube with 13 mL of 1 x Vogel's media (with 1.6% agar and appropriate supplements) and laying the tubes flat to allow the media to solidify. Fresh conidia were harvested from each strain and 1×10^5 conidia were inoculated at one end of each tube. Strains were grown in triplicate at either 30°C or room temperature (about 22°C), and the extent of mycelial growth was measured daily. Growth rate was graphed for three days at 30°C or four days at room temperature. Standard error was calculated for each growth point.

2.33 Mitochondrial isolation

Mitochondria were obtained as described (Pfanner and Neupert, 1985). Fresh cultures were harvested by filtration through a Whatman filter in a Buchner funnel. Mycelial pads were washed with dH_2O and pressed between paper towels to remove excess liquid. If desired, a small portion of the mycelial pad was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA isolation. The remaining pads were kept in foil on ice until further processed. For each gram of mycelia, 1 mL of SEMP buffer (0.25 M sucrose, 1 mM EDTA·Na₂·2H₂O, 10 mM MOPS, pH 7.2 (with potassium hydroxide), with freshly added phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride to 1 mM) and 1 g acid washed sand were added. Pads were ground on ice using a mortar and pestle until an even consistency was reached. A second equivalent volume of SEMP solution was added and the sample ground again. The slurry was placed in a Sorvall SS-34 tube and spun at 5, 000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was poured into a new tube, which was then spun at 12,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. This supernatant was discarded and the mitochondrial pellet was resuspended in a small volume of SEMP buffer. Protein concentrations were determined using the Bradford method with BioRad reagents (Mississauga, ON) as per manufacturer's instructions. Mitochondrial preparations were used immediately or stored at -80° C.

2.34 Mitochondrial purification

Mitochondria to be used for 2-dimensional (2-D) gel electrophoresis (see section 2.37) were isolated as described in section 2.32 and then purified on a three step flotation gradient consisting of 60%, 55% and 45% sucrose in SEMP buffer. The crude mitochondrial pellet was resuspended in a few drops of 60% SEMP, and additional 60% SEMP was added in small aliquots with mixing each time until 10 mL of 60% SEMP in total were added to the mitochondrial suspension. A drop of this mixture was placed on top of 1 mL 55% SEMP and watched for movement to the bottom of the liquid to insure that the density of the mitochondrial solution was greater than the 55% SEMP solution. The 60% sucrose mitochondrial suspension was then placed in a Beckman SW28 swinging bucket rotor tube. On top of the mitochondrial suspension, 10 mL of 55% SEMP was carefully layered to prevent mixing of the layers. Finally, 17 mL of 45% SEMP was carefully layered on top. Tubes were spun in a Beckman ultracentrifuge at

25, 000 rpm for 2 hr and 10 min at 4°C. The mitochondrial band was found at the interface of the 55% and 45% layers and was carefully removed with a 1 mL pipettor. The mitochondria were placed in an SS-34 tube and gently mixed with about two volumes of SEMP. The mitochondria were pelleted at 12, 000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C, and the pellet was resuspended in a small volume of SEMP buffer. Protein concentrations were determined using the Bradford method with BioRad reagents (Mississauga, ON) as per manufacturer's instructions. Mitochondrial preparations were frozen at $- 80^{\circ}$ C.

Prior to running the 2-D gels, the samples were further purified to remove contaminants (such as mitochondrial DNA, RNA and lipids) that had affected resolution on initial trials. A PlusOne 2-D Clean-Up Kit was generously donated by Amersham Pharmacia Biotech (San Francisco, CA) and the manufacturer's directions were followed.

2.35 Cytochrome spectra

Spectra were obtained as described by Bertrand and Pittenger (1969). Mitochondrial preparations in 250 to 500 μ L SEMP containing 5 to 13 mg of protein were brought up to a volume of 2 mL with 2.5% deoxycholate (in 10 mM Tris·HCl, 5 mM EDTA). The samples were mixed by inversion and then spun in a microcentrifuge at 14, 000 rpm for 2 min. The supernatant was divided equally into two cuvettes. A base line comparison between the two halves of the sample was taken first. Then a few crystals of potassium ferricyanide were added to fully oxidize the reference cuvette, and a few crystals of sodium hydrosulfite were added to fully reduce the sample cuvette. Both cuvettes were mixed by inversion until the crystals had dissolved. Difference spectra were obtained from 500 to 650 nm using a Shimadzu UV-Visible Recording Spectrophotometer, Model UV-265 (Shimadzu, Guelph, ON).

2.36 SDS-PAGE and Western blotting

Samples of 25 µg of mitochondrial protein were subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) in 12.5% polyacrylamide gels (29:1 acrylamide: bisacrylamide) as per Sambrook and Russell (2001). The gels were soaked in transfer buffer (0.025 M Tris base, 0.19 M glycine, 20% methanol) for 30 min, and then electroblotted to pre-wetted nitrocellulose membranes (Osmonics Inc., Westborough, MA) with transfer buffer using a liquid transfer method (Biorad, Mississauga, ON). Transfer was done at 67 V for 90 min.

2.37 Immunological protein detection (Western blot analysis)

Membranes were blocked for 1 hour to overnight in milk buffer (5% skim milk powder in TBS-Tween Buffer: 0.02 M Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.15 M sodium chloride, 0.5% Tween). Primary antibodies raised in rabbits were diluted appropriately in milk buffer containing 0.02% sodium azide. The membrane was incubated with the primary antibody for at least one hr with gentle shaking, followed by three 5 min washes with TBS-Tween Buffer. The secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit antibody HRP-conjugate, Biorad, Mississauga, ON) was diluted 1:3000 in milk buffer. The membrane was incubated with the secondary antibody for 20 to 30 min and then washed twice for 5 min with TBS-Tween Buffer, once with TBS Buffer alone (as above but no Tween), and once in dH₂O. Bound antibody was detected using the LumiGLO chemiluminescent kit (Mandel, Guelph, ON), and exposed to Kodak XAR film.

2.38 Two-Dimensional gel electrophoresis

The mitochondrial proteome of various strains was analyzed by 2-D electrophoresis following the instructions of Amersham Pharmacia Biotech (Berkelman and Stenstedt, 1998; San Francisco, CA). After processing 150 μ g of mitochondrial protein with the PlusOne Clean-Up Kit (see section 2.34), samples were dried at 37°C for 5 min and then resuspended in 250 μ L of rehydration buffer (7.2 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 2% CHAPS, 0.5% IPG buffer pH range 3-10, trace bromophenol blue) and 9.5 μ L 1 M DTT at 37°C for 10 min. The rehydration buffer contained thiourea to help solubilize membrane proteins (Rabilloud, 1998). The solution was left at room temperature for 50 min and then spun in a microcentrifuge at 14, 000 rpm for 10 min at room temperature. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube. The samples were placed in the first dimension strip holders by pipetting carefully into the middle of the holder to prevent the formation of bubbles. The precast immobilized pH gradient (IPG) used was a pH 3-10 linear 13 cm strip, and was placed gel side down into the sample starting at the anode end and slowly lowered to prevent bubbles. Sterile mineral oil was placed on top of the gel strip. Rehydration and isoelectric focusing were performed over the course of 24 hr in an IPGphor isoelectric focusing system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, San Francisco, CA). The program consisted of 8 hr at 30 V, 8 hr at 60 V, 1 hour at 200 V, 1 hour at 500 V, 1 hour at 1000 V and 5 hr at 8000 V. A total of 35, 386 to 40, 992 Vhr were obtained for the samples analyzed. The gel strips were equilibrated in 10 mL SDS equilibration buffer (50 mM Tris·HCl pH 8.8, 6 M urea, 30% glycerol, 2% SDS, trace bromophenol blue, with 100 mg DTT freshly added) for 10 min at room temperature with gentle shaking. The strip was then carefully placed at the top of a 12.5% SDS-PAG with no air bubbles between the gels. The strip was sealed in place by adding melted agarose solution (0.5%) at 60°C. The second dimension gels were run at 35 V, 15 mA for 16.5 hr. The anodic side of the first dimension gel appears at the left on all figures.

2.39 Silver staining

Silver staining of 2-D gels was done using a modified protocol (Blum *et al.*, 1987). All incubations included gentle shaking of the gel in the solution. The gel was fixed in a 50% methanol, 10% acetic acid solution (v/v) for 30 min at room temperature. The gel was then placed in 50% methanol for 15 min at room temperature. This was followed by five washes of 5 min each in milliQ purified dH₂O, and the gel was then placed into fresh sodium thiosulfate solution (0.2 g/L) for 1 min at room temperature. The gel was then washed twice in milliQ dH₂O for 1 min at room temperature. Next, a silver nitrate solution (1 g/L) chilled to 4°C was added and the gel was incubated at 4°C for 25 min, followed by two washes in milliQ pure dH₂O for 1 min each at room temperature. A fresh anhydrous sodium carbonate solution (20 g/L) containing 37% formaldehyde was added two to three times for 3-5 min each at room temperature until the desired staining was achieved. An EDTA solution (14 g/L) was added for 10 min at room temperature to stop the development. Finally, the gel was washed twice for 1 min in milliQ dH₂O.

2.40 MALDI-TOF mass spectroscopy sequencing

Protein spots of interest were excised from silver stained gels using a wide-bored pipette tip and placed in sterile dH₂O. The spots were digested with trypsin and the masses of the fragments determined by the Institute for Biomolecular Design

(Department of Biochemistry, University of Alberta) using matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization – time of flight (MALDI-TOF). The masses were then used in an MS/MS ion search using the Mascot search engine (<u>www.matrixscience.com</u>) against various databases.

3 Results

3.1 Assay for alternative oxidase activity

Growth of *N. crassa* in the presence of chloramphenicol or antimycin A causes induction of the alternative pathway of respiration in response to the inhibition of the cytochrome pathway (see section 1.6; Fig. 1; section 1.9; Lambowitz and Slayman, 1971). Much of the data in this thesis depends on the detection of alternative oxidase activity following growth of cells under various conditions. Therefore, the respiratory assay and the use and effects of specific respiratory inhibitors are briefly described.

The presence of alternative oxidase activity can be assayed by a respirometer, which records the consumption of oxygen over time (Fig. 7A, C, E). During a respiration assay, the addition of cyanide, an inhibitor of complex IV (see section 1.6), or SHAM, an inhibitor of alternative oxidase (see section 1.7), reveals whether respiration is occurring through the cytochrome pathway or through the alternative oxidase, respectively. As shown in Fig 7A, addition of cyanide to wild-type cells grown under normal conditions (also referred to in this thesis as non-inducing conditions) results in a cessation of respiration, demonstrating that this culture was respiring exclusively through the cytochrome pathway.

Alternative oxidase activity can be induced in wild-type cells by growth in the presence of chloramphenicol, an inhibitor of mitochondrial protein synthesis (Schlünzen *et al.*, 2001). The respiration of cells grown in the presence of chloramphenicol is not stopped by the addition of cyanide, but is blocked when SHAM is also added to the culture, indicating respiration through the alternative pathway (Fig. 7C). Since chloramphenicol prevents the translation of mtDNA encoded apocytochrome *b* and subunits of complex IV (see section 1.3.1), the amount of cytochromes *b* and *aa*₃ are reduced when compared to non-induced cultures (compare panels B and D of Fig. 7). The inhibition by chloramphenicol is incomplete, as mutant strains that lack alternative respiration are still able to grow in the presence of chloramphenicol (see section 3.11). Addition of antimycin A to cultures also induces alternative respiration. Antimycin A blocks the flow of electrons through complex III by binding cytochrome b_{560} (see section 1.6). Growth in the presence of antimycin A also results in respiration that is insensitive



86

to the addition of cyanide alone, but sensitive to the further addition of SHAM, demonstrating that the culture was respiring through alternative oxidase (Fig. 7E). Unlike chloramphenicol, antimycin A does not result in decreased levels of the cytochrome constituents of the electron transport chain (Fig. 7F).

3.2 Initial attempts to identify factors involved in alternative oxidase expression

At the beginning of my thesis work, I attempted to isolate and identify genes involved in regulating alternative oxidase expression using a yeast one hybrid approach and by assaying for alternative oxidase activity in previously identified signaling mutant strains of *N. crassa*. These projects were unsuccessful but are described briefly as the negative results are somewhat informative.

3.2.1 Yeast one hybrid analysis

Previous work had shown that the CRE found 746 bp upstream of the transcription start site of *aod-1* bound a protein (Tanton *et al.*, 2003). To identify the gene encoding the protein that bound to this sequence, I attempted a yeast one hybrid screen. In this system, the target DNA is placed upstream of a yeast reporter gene and the construct is integrated into the genome of an appropriate yeast strain. An expression library from the organism of interest is then transformed into the reporter strain to identify clones encoding protein(s) able to bind the target sequence and activate expression of the reporter.

I cloned 4 tandem copies of a 31 bp fragment of *aod-1* upstream sequence that contained the CRE into the one hybrid vector pHisi-1 to create the construct pCHisi-1. In this vector, the *HIS3* gene is used for both positive selection of transformants and as the reporter gene. Leaky expression of *HIS3* allows the selection of transformants carrying the reporter and several yeast transformant strains that had integrated the construct were selected based on growth in the absence of histidine. The next step was to determine the optimal concentration of 3-AT (3-amino-1,2,4-triazole), an inhibitor of His3p, specific for the reporter strain. Sufficient 3-AT must be added to inhibit growth due to leaky reporter expression while still allowing high levels of expression of *HIS3*, which should be reached when the reporter system is activated by an introduced activating construct, to

facilitate growth in the absence of histidine. The correct concentration of 3-AT would then be used during screening of the expression library. A control yeast transformant strain carrying the *HIS3* gene under the control of 3 tandem copies of the p53 binding site was made and compared to the experimental reporter strain. While the control strain was unable to grow in 15 mM 3-AT, the pCHisi-1 strain was able to grow in 100 mM 3-AT, the highest concentration tested. It is possible that a yeast protein was able to bind the target sequence and cause high levels of *HIS3* expression. Since the "leaky" reporter background expression was too high to perform the expression library screen, this approach was discontinued.

3.2.2 Alternative oxidase activity in kinase mutants

A signal transduction pathway from mitochondria to the nucleus, responsible for inducing *aod-1* expression, could involve the activity of kinases or signaling components (see section 1.10). Therefore, previously characterized strains of *N. crassa* carrying mutations in genes involved in two-component or cAMP signaling were obtained and analyzed for their ability to properly induce alternative oxidase activity. The mutant strains *cr-1* (an adenylate cyclase mutant), *cot-1* (a cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) mutant), *cpk* (a strain with PKA activity that is independent of cAMP), *mcb* (a PKA regulatory subunit mutant), and *os-1/nik-1* (a two-component signaling histidine kinase mutant) were assayed for respiration. These strains were all able to normally regulate alternative oxidase activity, showing cyanide-sensitive respiration when grown in non-inducing conditions and cyanide-insensitive respiration when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol (Fig. 8). Thus, alternative oxidase regulation in chloramphenicol induced cultures does not involve the *os-1/nik-1* two component signaling pathway or a cAMP dependent signaling pathway.

3.3 Selection scheme for isolating alternative oxidase regulatory mutants

Previous efforts to identify genes involved in alternative oxidase regulation in *N*. *crassa* have used the absence of alternative oxidase activity itself as the basis of selection (Edwards *et al.*, 1976; Bertrand *et al.*, 1983). This approach resulted in the isolation of 22 *aod-1* and 2 *aod-2* mutant strains, indicating a clear bias towards selection of mutations

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



in the *aod-1* structural gene. In an attempt to avoid this predisposition, I chose to develop a reporter system that would exclude the isolation of structural gene mutations. Several earlier attempts to use reporter systems in the lab involved the reporter enzymes β -Gal, GFP, and GUS but were unsuccessful (Tanton and Nargang, personal communication; see sections 1.9 and 1.11). I decided to try the tyrosinase reporter system since it involves the use of an enzyme endogenous to *N. crassa* (see section 1.12). Previously, this system had been successfully used in *N. crassa* to isolate signaling components involved in controlling the *ccg-1* gene, a regulator of entry into conidiation (Kothe and Free, 1998).

3.4 Initial reporter strain

The tyrosinase reporter construct pBAT, which contains 3.3 kbp of aod-1 upstream sequence fused to the coding sequence for *T*, as well as a bleomycin resistance marker, was constructed (Fig. 5). Four *T* mutant strains were obtained from S. Free and upon growth of these strains, it was observed that T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 grew and conidiated better than T1P11 and T1P11P16 (data not shown). Therefore, these two strains were chosen as tyrosinase mutant strains for the creation of the reporter strain. I transformed pBAT into sphaeroplasts of strains T1P11P08 and T1P11P13. Transformants resistant to bleomycin were selected and screened for reporter activity using the tyrosinase plate assay (see section 2.27). If the 3.3 kbp *aod-1* upstream region contained the sequences required for regulation of *aod-1* expression, then tyrosinase expression should be induced in transformant strains by *aod-1* inducing conditions. When grown on medium that does not induce alternative oxidase, colonies of strains carrying the reporter should remain white following the addition of tyrosine, while colonies of these strains grown on inducing media should turn brown with the addition of tyrosine.

During the first three to five hours of the tyrosinase plate assay, colonies of strains 8-1, 8-17, 8-18, and 8-19 from the transformation of T1P11P08 with pBAT, and colonies of strains 13-12, 13-13 and 13-16 from the transformation of T1P11P13 with pBAT, stayed white when grown on non-inducing media and turned brown when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol (Fig. 9). During the same time period, colonies of strains T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 remained white under both growth conditions (Fig. 9). However, after overnight incubation with the tyrosine solution, both the *T* mutant strains

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.


T11P08

8-18

and the reporter strains gave inconsistent results. Occasionally, colonies that were white after three to five hours of incubation with the tyrosine solution would remain white after 24 hours exposure, but more often would turn brown on all media. Nevertheless, it seemed that the colour difference observed during the first five hours of the assay would be sufficient to allow any of these strains to be used as a reporter strain. Southern analysis of these strains revealed that strain 8-18 contained a single copy of the reporter construct (data not shown) and this strain was chosen as the reporter strain for future work.

3.4.1 Mutagenesis of initial reporter strain

Several attempts to disrupt reporter expression with insertional mutagenesis were performed but were often confounded by technical difficulties with the tyrosinase plate assay and the reporter strain. I discovered that growth of sphaeroplast transformants within top agar and the presence of residual PMC solution, which is used in the transformation procedure, both prevented the colour change from occurring. The sphaeroplast transformation protocol was modified to remove the PMC and allow the sphaeroplasts to recover so that the cells could be spread on top of the plates. At this time, the lab began to use electroporation (Margolin *et al.*, 1997), and since electroporation does not involve PMC, this transformation method was found to be more compatible with the tyrosinase plate assay.

Approximately 13, 000 transformants from insertional mutagenesis using both sphaeroplast transformation and electroporation were screened for reporter expression. Some of these transformants were plated on non-inducing media to look for strains that constitutively produced tyrosinase, some on inducing media containing chloramphenicol to look for mutants that were unable to produce tyrosinase, and some on both non-inducing and inducing media. From these initial screens, a total of 152 putative mutant strains were obtained. 135 of these strains had constitutive tyrosinase activity, while 17 were unable to induce tyrosinase activity when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol. Each of the potential mutant strains was grown in non-inducing and inducing and inducing showed the same inappropriate expression of tyrosinase. Of

these 40 strains, 32 turned brown during the plate assay in both conditions and 8 remained white in both conditions.

It was possible that strains unable to induce the reporter correctly contained mutations in the reporter construct itself. To rule out this possibility, I took advantage of the fact that the integration of the reporter construct was at an ectopic location in the genome, leaving the endogenous *aod-1* gene intact. If the insertional mutagenesis disrupted the regulation of reporter expression via an effect on a signaling pathway or a *trans*-acting factor that normally binds to the sequence upstream of the *aod-1* gene to affect transcription, then induction of *aod-1* itself should be affected similarly in these strains. Thus, strains that constitutively express the reporter would be expected to also constitutively express *aod-1*, while strains that were unable to induce the reporter should also be unable to induce *aod-1*. Respiration assays on these 40 strains grown in both alterative oxidase inducing and non-inducing conditions revealed that alternative oxidase activity was completely normal. Thus, despite the encouraging initial results, no alternative oxidase regulatory mutants were obtained.

3.5 Creation of oxidative phosphorylation mutant reporter strain

Since mutagenesis of the reporter strain was unsuccessful, I began to question the effectiveness of the selection scheme in isolating regulatory mutations. In an attempt to test whether or not the tyrosinase reporter system could be successful, I created a reporter strain that should constitutively induce both *aod-1* expression and expression of the reporter. Strain NCN5 carries a *cya-5* mutation that causes a cytochrome aa_3 deficiency and loss of complex IV function (Coffin *et al.*, 1997). Because of this disruption of the cytochrome pathway, alternative oxidase activity is always present in this strain.

I crossed strains NCN5 (*cya-5*; *A*) with T1P11P08 (*T*, *al-2*, *a*) and screened the progeny for the desired phenotypes. Offspring that carried the *cya-5* mutation were identified through their constitutive cyanide-insensitive respiration. Albino (*al-2*) offspring were selected because this phenotype facilitates the observation of the colour change in the plate assay. The *al-2* locus is also linked (with 12% recombination) to the *T* locus on linkage group I, so albino progeny were most likely to be tyrosinase mutants as well (Horowitz and Fling, 1956).

Strain N5P8-152 was selected as an albino strain that failed to turn brown during the tyrosinase plate assay, suggesting the presence of the mutant *T* allele. This strain also had cyanide-insensitive respiration when grown under non-inducing conditions, indicating the presence of the *cya-5* mutation (Fig. 10). I transformed strain N5P8-152 with the reporter construct pBAT to create the desired constitutively induced reporter strain. Transformants were selected on bleomycin and examined for their tyrosinase phenotype. Strains N5P8-152-5, and -7 grown on non-inducing media turned brown after only 1 hour in the tyrosinase plate assay. Southern analysis showed that strain N5P8-152-7 contained a single copy of the reporter (Fig. 11).

It was expected that if the reporter system functioned as predicted, colonies of strains that constitutively express *aod-1* would also constitutively express the reporter, and turn brown even more quickly than the original reporter strain. Since this was observed, it seemed that the selection scheme for isolation of regulatory mutations was sound. Generation of regulatory mutations that cause constitutive *aod-1* expression should similarly cause a rapid and reproducible colour change during the plate assay. However, no constitutive mutations had been successfully isolated to this point.

3.6 Characterization of the tyrosinase gene in mutant strains

Since the reporter system seemed to be functioning as predicted, I examined the tyrosinase mutant strains in an attempt to explain the lack of success at isolating mutants. Initial characterizations of potential reporter and mutant strains with the tyrosinase plate assay were difficult because comparison of the colour change that occurred during different tyrosinase plate assays for the same strains often gave conflicting results (see section 3.4). When subjected to the tyrosinase plate assay, the tyrosinase mutant strains T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 themselves displayed variable behavior and were either found to remain white or to develop the brown pigment over time. I originally attributed this variable colour change to leaky expression from the mutant T gene and tried to optimize conditions to prevent this colour change from occurring, including using fresh conidia and preventing the colonies on the plates from being over crowded. Regardless, the tyrosinase plate assay often seemed unreliable.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



B

A



100

The lack of success using the original reporter strain prompted an interest in understanding the nature of the tyrosinase mutation in strains T1P11, T1P11P08 and T1P11P13. Therefore, I obtained copies of the T gene from the wild-type strain NCN235 and strain T1P11P08 through PCR, and subjected the PCR products to restriction digests. Since RIP causes transition mutations (Selker, 1990), I expected that the digestion patterns for some restriction enzymes would be altered. However, no difference in restriction patterns was observed (data not shown).

To examine the nature of the *T* alleles more closely, PCR products of the *T* gene in strains T1P11, T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 were obtained and sequenced. The T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 *T* sequences were identical, and both differed from that of strain T1P11. When compared to the published sequences (Kupper *et al.*, 1989) for the *T* gene from wild-type strains OR (74-OR8-1*a*; FGSC #988) and TS (69-1113; FGSC #2963), and later to the *T* gene sequence from the Whitehead database of wild-type strain 74-OR23-1VA (FGSC #2489; assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003), only strain T1P11 showed evidence of RIP transition mutations (Fig. 12). Thus, (much to my chagrin) strains T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 were not *T* mutants, explaining the lack of success using these strains.

The previous sequencing (Kupper *et al.*, 1989) of wild-type strains TS and OR revealed two different alleles of the T gene sequence, differing by 12 nucleotides between the TATA box and the polyadenylation signal. The region that I sequenced contains eight of these polymorphic sites. Strain T1P11 carries the same nucleotide as strain TS at 3 of these sites, and the same nucleotide as strain OR at the other 5. Strains T1P11P08 and T1P11P13, and the T sequence from the Whitehead database carry the same nucleotide as strain TS at only one site, while the other 7 nucleotides are identical to the OR sequence.

Interestingly, strains T1P11, T1P11P08, T1P11P13, and the Whitehead sequence all contain a novel polymorphic base at +1327, and a single nucleotide insertion at +2248 (with numbering starting at the initial methionine codon; Fig. 12). The altered nucleotide at +1327 does not change the amino acid sequence encoded by that codon. The insertion at +2248 occurs after the cleavage site for tyrosinase maturation (Kupper *et al.*, 1989) and changes the reading frame, replacing the last 26 codons reported for tyrosinase from strains OR and TS with 90 novel amino acids (Fig. 13). A previously developed

101

	•	
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	TGTACCCACCACTCCCTCCAGCA GCCATCACGGGTGTACCCACCCCTCCCAGCA ATGAGCACCGACATCAAATTTGCCATCACGGGTGTACCCACCC	55 55 55 55 55
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	ATGgtgaccctcccttccttcgttataactgcttgtactaacacaaacacccag ATGgtgaccctcccttccttcgttatgactgcttgtactaacacaaacacccag ATGgtgaccctcccttccttcgttatgactgcttgtactaacacaaacacccag ATGgtgaccctcccttccttcgttatgactgcttgtactaacacaaacacccag ATGgtgaccctcccttcccttcgttatgactgcttgtactaacacaaacacccag	110 110 110 110 110
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	GAGCGGTCCCTCTCCGCCGCGAGCTCCGCGACCTCCAACAAAACTACCCGGAGCA GAGCGGTCCCTCTCCGCCGCGAGCTCCGCGACCTCCAACAAACTACCCCGGAGCA GAGCGGTCCCTCTCCGCCGCGAGCTCCGCGACCTCCAACAAAACTACCCGGAGCA GAGCGGTCCCTCTCCGCCGCGAGCTCCGCGACCTCCAACAAAACTACCCGGAGCA GAGCGGTCCCTCTCCGCCGCGAGCTCCGCGACCTCCAACAAAACTACCCGGAGCA	165 165 165 165 165
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	GTTCAATCTCTACCTCCTCGGCCTGCGCGACTTCCAAGGCCTCGACGAAGCCAAA GTTCAATCTCTACCTCCTCGGCCTGCGCGCGCCTTCCAAGGCCTCGACGAAGCCAAG GTTCAATCTCTACCTCCTCGGCCTGCGCGCGCCTTCCAAGGCCTCGACGAAGCCAAG GTTCAATCTCTACCTCCTCGGCCTGCGCGCGCCTTCCAAGGCCTCGACGAAGCCAAG GTTCAATCTCTACCTCCTCGGCCTGCGCGCGCTTCCAAGGCCTCGACGAAGCCAAG	220 220 220 220 220 220
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CTAAACTCGTACTACCAAATCGCTGGCATTCACGGTATGCCCTTCAAGCCG <u>TAG</u> G CTAGACTCGTACTACCAAGTCGCTGGCATTCACGGTATGCCCTTCAAGCCGTGGG CTAGACTCGTACTACCAAGTCGCTGGCATTCACGGTATGCCCTTCAAGCCGTGGG CTAGACTCGTACTACCAAGTCGCTGGCATCCACGGCATGCCCTTCAAGCCGTGGG CTAGACTCGTACTACCAAGTCGCTGGCATTCACGGTATGCCCTTCAAGCCGTGGG	275 275 275 275 275 275
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CCGGTGTCCCTTCCGACACGGACTGGTCCCAACCCGGCAGCAGCGGCTTTAGCGG CCGGTGTCCCTTCCGACACGGACTGGTCCCAACCCGGCAGCAGCGGCTTTGGCGG CCGGTGTCCCTTCCGACACGGACTGGTCCCAACCCGGCAGCAGCGGCTTTGGCGG CCGGTGTCCCTTCCGACACGGACTGGTCCCAACCCGGCAGCAGCGGCTTTGGCGG CCGGTGTCCCTTCCGACACGGACTGGTCCCAACCCGGCAGCAGCGGCTTTGGCGG	330 330 330 330 330 330
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CTACTGCACGCACTCGTCCATCCTCTTCATCACCTGGCACAGGCCCTACCTTGCT CTACTGCACGCACTCGTCCATCCTCTTCATCACCTGGCACAGGCCCTACCTTGCT CTACTGCACGCACTCGTCCATCCTCTTCATCACCTGGCACAGGCCCTACCTTGCT CTACTGCACGCACTCGTCCATCCTCTTCATCACCTGGCACAGGCCCTACCTTGCT CTACTGCACGCACTCGTCCATCCTCTTCATCACCTGGCACAGGCCCTACCTTGCT	385 385 385 385 385 385
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CTGTACGAGCAGGCCCTCTACGCCTCCGTACAAGCCGTTGCCCAAAAGTTCCCTG CTGTACGAGCAGGCCCTCTACGCCTCCGTGCAAGCCGTTGCCCAAAAGTTCCCTG CTGTACGAGCAGGCCCTCTACGCCTCCGTGCAAGCCGTTGCCCAAAAGTTCCCTG CTGTACGAGCAGGCCCTCTACGCCTCCGTGCAAGCCGTTGCCCAAAAGTTCCCTG CTGTACGAGCAGGCCCTCTACGCCTCCGTGCAAGCCGTTGCCCAAAAGTTCCCTG	4 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 0
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	TCGAAGGGGGGCTGAGAGCCAAGTATGTCGCGGCCGCCAAGGATTTCAGGGCGCC TCGAAGGGGGGCTGAGAGCCAAGTATGTCGCGGCCGCCAAGGATTTCAGGGCGCC TCGAAGGGGGGCTGAGAGCCAAGTATGTCGCGGCCGCCAAGGATTTCAGGGCGCC TCGAAGGGGGGCTGAGAGCCAAGTATGTCGCGGCCGCCAAGGATTTCAGGGCGCC TCGAAGGGGGGCTGAGAGCCAAGTATGTCGCGGCCGCCAAGGATTTCAGGGCGCC	495 495 495 495 495

T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	GTACTTTGATTGGGCTAGTCAACCTCCTAAAGGAACGCTGGCGTTTCCGGAGTCC GTACTTTGATTGGGCTAGTCAGCCTCCTAAAGGAACGCTGGCGTTTCCGGAGTCC GTACTTTGATTGGGCTAGTCAGCCTCCTAAAGGAACGCTGGCGTTTCCGGAGTCC GTACTTTGATTGGGCTAGTCAGCCTCCTAAAGGAACGCTGGCGTTTCCGGAGTCC GTACTTTGATTGGGCTAGTCAGCCTCCTAAAGGAACGCTGGCGTTTCCGGAGTCC	550 550 550 550 550
T1P11	CTCTCATCGCGTACCATACAAGTGGTGGATATCAACAGGAAGACCAAGAGCATCA	605
T1P11P08	CTCTCATCGCGTACCATACAGGTGGTGGATGTCGACGGGAAGACCAAGAGCATCA	605
OR	CTCTCATCGCGTACCATACAGGTGGTGGATGTCGACGGGAAGACCAAGAGCATCA	605
TS	CTCTCATCGCGTACCATACAGGTGGTGGATGTCGACGGGAAGACCAAGAGCATCA	605
WHITEHEAD	CTCTCATCGCGTACCATACAGGTGGTGGATGTCGACGGGAAGACCAAGAGCATCA	605
T1P11	ACAACCCGCTACACCAATTTACTTTCCACCCGGTCAACCCTAGCCCTGGTAACTT	660
T1P11P08	ACAACCCGCTGCACCGGTTTACTTTCCACCCGGTCAACCCTAGCCCTGGTGACTT	660
OR	ACAACCCGCTGCACCGGTTTACTTTCCACCCGGTCAACCCTAGCCCTGGTGACTT	660
TS	ACAACCCGCTGCACCGGTTTACTTTCCACCCGGTCAACCCTAGCCCTGGTGACTT	660
WHITEHEAD	ACAACCCGCTGCACCGGTTTACTTTCCACCCGGTCAACCCTAGCCCTGGTGACTT	660
T1P11	CAGCGCGGCGTGGAGCAAATACCCAAGCACGGTCCGGTATCCAAACCGGCTGACA	715
T1P11P08	CAGCGCGGCGTGGAGCAGATACCCAAGCACGGTCCGGTATCCAAACCGGCTGACA	715
OR	CAGCGCGGCGTGGAGCAGATACCCAAGCACGGTCCGGTATCCAAACCGGCTGACA	715
TS	CAGCGCGGCGTGGAGCAGATACCCAAGCACGGTCCGGTATCCAAACCGGCTGACA	715
WHITEHEAD	CAGCGCGGCGTGGAGCAGATACCCAAGCACGGTCCGGTATCCAAACCGGCTGACA	715
T1P11	GGGGCATCGCGGGATGAGCGGATTGCGCCCATCTTGGCGAACAAACTAGCGTCAT	770
T1P11P08	GGGGCATCGCGGGATGAGCGGATTGCGCCCATCTTGGCGAACGAGCTGGCGTCAT	770
OR	GGGGCATCGCGGGATGAGCGGATTGCGCCCATCTTGGCGAACGAGCTGGCGTCAT	770
TS	GGGGCATCGCGGGATGAGCGGATTGCGCCCATCTTGGCGAACGAGCTGGCGTCAT	770
WHITEHEAD	GGGGCATCGCGGGATGAGCGGATTGCGCCCATCTTGGCGAACGAGCTGGCGTCAT	770
T1P11	TAAGAAATAATATCAATTTGTTGTTGCTGAGCTACAAGGACTTTGATGCGTTCAG	825
T1P11P08	TGAGAAATAATGTCAGTTTGTTGTTGCTGAGCTACAAGGACTTTGATGCGTTCAG	825
OR	TGAGAAATAATGTCAGTTTGTTGTTGCTGAGCTACAAGGACTTTGATGCGTTCAG	825
TS	TGAGAAATAATGTCAGTTTGTTGTTGCTGAGCTACAAGGACTTTGATGCGTTCAG	825
WHITEHEAD	TGAGAAATAATGTCAGTTTGTTGTTGCTGAGCTACAAGGACTTTGATGCGTTCAG	825
T1P11	TTATAACAGGTGGGATCCGAATACCAACCCGGGTAATTTCGGCAATTTGGAAGAT	880
T1P11P08	TTATAACAGGTGGGATCCGAATACCAACCCGGGTGATTTCGGCAGTTTGGAGGAT	880
OR	TTATAACAGGTGGGATCCGAATACCAACCCGGGTGATTTCGGTAGTTTGGAGGAT	880
TS	TTATAACAGGTGGGATCCGAATACCAACCCGGGTGATTTCGGCAGTTTGGAGGAT	880
WHITEHEAD	TTATAACAGGTGGGATCCGAATACCAACCCGGGTGATTTCGGCAGTTTGGAGGAT	880
T1P11	ATGCATAATGAGATTCATAATCGGACAGGCGGAAATGGACATATGTCGAGCCTGG	935
T1P11P08	GTGCATAATGAGATTCATGATCGGACAGGCGGAAATGGACATATGTCGAGCCTGG	935
OR	GTGCATAATGAGATTCATGATCGGACAGGCGGAAATGGACATATGTCGAGCCTGG	935
TS	GTGCATAATGAGATTCATGATCGGACAGGCGGAAATGGACATATGTCGAGCCTGG	935
WHITEHEAD	GTGCATAATGAGATTCATGATCGGACAGGCGGAAATGGACATATGTCGAGCCTGG	935
T1P11	AGGTGTCGGCTTTTGATCCGCTGTTTTGGTTGCACCATGTgtatgtggtcactcc	990
T1P11P08	AGGTGTCGGCTTTTGATCCGCTGTTTTGGTTGCACCATGTgtatgtggtcactcc	990
OR	AGGTGTCGGCTTTTGATCCGCTGTTTTGGTTGCACCATGTgtatgtggtcactcc	990
TS	AGGTGTCGGCTTTTGATCCGCTGTTTTGGTTGCACCATGTgtatgtggtcactcc	990
WHITEHEAD	AGGTGTCGGCTTTTGATCCGCTGTTTTGGTTGCACCATGTgtatgtggtcactcc	990

T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	ccttttcccttttttctttgcatcggtcatgcctgacaggccccattccgttatc ccttttcccttttttctttgcatcggtcatgcctgacaggccccattccgttatc ccttttcccttttttctttgcatcggtcatgcctgacaggccccattccgttatc ccttttcccttttttctttgcatcggtcatgcctgacaggccccattccgttatc ccttttcccttttttctttgcatcggtcatgcctgacaggccccattccgttatc	1045 1045 1045 1045 1045
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	$g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagcccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g\texttt{tcgctgacaagaagacccttgatctgaagTAACGTCGACCGCCTCTGGTCTATCT}\\g$	1100 1100 1100 1100 1100
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	GGCAAGACCTTAACCCCAACAACTTCATAACTCCCCGACCCGCTCCCTACTCGAC GGCAAGACCTTAACCCCAACAGCTTCATGACTCCCCGACCCGCTCCCTACTCGAC GGCAAGACCTTAACCCCAACAGCTTCATGACTCCCCGACCCGCTCCCTACTCGAC GGCAAGACCTTAACCCCAACAGCTTCATGACTCCCCGACCCGCTCCCTACTCGAC GGCAAGACCTTAACCCCAACAGCTTCATGACTCCCCGACCCGCTCCCTACTCGAC	1155 1155 1155 1155 1155
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CTTCGTCGCACAGGAGGGTAAAAGCCAAAGTAAGAACACACCTCTAGAGCCGTTC CTTCGTCGCACAGGAGGGTGAAAGCCAGAGTAAGAGCACGCCTCTGGAGCCGTTC CTTCGTCGCACAGGAGGGTGAAAGCCAGAGTAAGAGCACGCCTCTGGAGCCGTTC CTTCGTCGCACAGGAGGGTGAAAGCCAGAGTAAGAGCACGCCTCTGGAGCCGTTC CTTCGTCGCACAGGAGGGTGAAAGCCAGAGTAAGAGCACGCCTCTGGAGCCGTTC	1210 1210 1210 1210 1210 1210
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	1265 1265 1265 1265 1265
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CCTTCGGATACGCGTATCCTAAGACGCAAAAGTGGAAGTACTCGTCCGTAAAGGA CCTTCGGATACGCGTATCCTGAGACGCAGAAGTGGAAGTACTCGTCCGTAAAGGA CCTTCGGATACGCGTATCCTGAGACGCAGAAGTGGAAGTACTCGTCCGTAAAGGA CCTTCGGATACGCGTATCCTGAGACGCAGAAGTGGAAGTACTCGTCCGTAAAGGA CCTTCGGATACGCGTATCCTGAGACGCAGAAGTGGAAGTACTCGTCCGTAAAGGA	1320 1320 1320 1320 1320 1320
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	GTACCAGGCAGCCATCAGGAAGTCTGTCACGGCGCTATACGGGAGCAATGTGTTT GTACCAGGCAGCCATCAGGAAGTCTGTCACGGCGCTGTACGGGAGCAATGTGTTT GTACCAAGCAGCCATCAGGAAGTCTGTCACGGCGCTGTACGGGAGCAATGTGTTT GTACCAAGCAGCCATCAGGAAGTCTGTCACGGCGCTGTACGGGAGCAATGTGTTT GTACCAGGCAGCCATCAGGAAGTCTGTCACGGCGCTGTACGGGAGCAATGTGTTT	1375 1375 1375 1375 1375 1375
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	ACCAACTTTATTAAGAATATCGCCGACCGAACGCCGGCGTTGAAGAACCCGCAGG GCCAACTTTGTTGAGAATGTCGCCGACCGAACGCCGGCGTTGAAGAAACCGCAGG GCCAACTTTGTTGAGAATGTCGCCGACCGAACGCCGGCGTTGAAGAAACCGCAGG GCCAACTTTGTTGAGAATGTCGCCGACCGAACGCCGGCGTTGAAGAAACCGCAGG	1430 1430 1430 1430 1430
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CAACTGGCGAGGAGAGCAAGAGCACCGTCTCGGCTGCTGCTGCTCATGCAATTGA CAACTGGCGAGGAGAGCAAGAGCACCGTCTCGGCTGCTGCTGCTCATGCAGTTGA CAACTGGCGAGGAGAGCAAGAGCACCGTCTCGGCTGCTGCTGCTCATGCAGTTGA CAACTGGCGAGGAGAGCAAGAGCACCGTCTCGGCTGCTGCTGCTCATGCAGTTGA CAACTGGCGAGGAGAGCAAGAGCACCGTCTCGGCTGCTGCTCCATGCAGTTGA	1485 1485 1485 1485 1485

	▲	
T1P11	GCTTTCCGGGGCCAAAAAGGTCGCAGAGAAGGTCCATAATGTATTCCAGCACGCT	1540
T1P11P08	GCTTTCCGGGGCCAAGAAGGTCGCAGAGAAGGTCCATAATGTGTTCCAGCACGCT	1540
OR	GCTTTCCGGGGCCAAGAAGGTCGCAGAGAAGGTCCATAATGTGTTCCAGCACGCT	1540
TS	GCTTTCCGGGGCCAGGAAGGTCGCAGAGAAGGTCCATAATGTGTTCCAGCACGCT	1540
WHITEHEAD	GCTTTCCGGGGCCAAGAAGGTCGCAGAGAAGGTCCATAATGTGTTCCAGCACGCT	1540
T1P11	AAGGAGAAAGCCGCAAAAGCCGGTAGTACCTATTAAGGATACAAAGGCCGAATCGA	1595
T1P11P08	GAGGAGAAGGCGCAGAAGCCGGTGGTGCCTGTTAAGGATACAAAGGCCGAGTCGA	1595
OR	GAGGAGAAGGCGCAGAAGCCGGTGGTGCCTGTTAAGGATACAAAGGCCGAGTCGA	1595
TS	GAGGAGAAGGCGCAGAAGCCGGTGGTGCCTGTTAAGGATACAAAGGCCGAGTCGA	1595
WHITEHEAD	GAGGAGAAGGCGCAGAAGCCGGTGGTGCCTGTTAAGGATACAAAGGCCGAGTCGA	1595
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	GCACGGCCGCAAGTATAATGATCGGCTTGAGCATAAAACGTCCATCCA	1650 1650 1650 1650 1650
T1P11	AGCTTCACCAGGCCCAATTCCAGAGAGCCTCAAGTACCTCGCCCCAAACGGAAAG	1705
T1P11P08	AGCTTCACCAGGCCCAATTCCAGAGAGCCTCAAGTACCTCGCCCCAGACGGAAAG	1705
OR	AGCTTCACCAGGCCCAATTCCAGAGAGCCTCAAGTACCTCGCCCCAGACGGAAAG	1705
TS	AGCTTCACCAGGCCCAATTCCAGAGAGCCTCAAGTACCTCGCCCCAGACGGAAAG	1705
WHITEHEAD	AGCTTCACCAGGCCCAATTCCAGAGAGCCTCAAGTACCTCGCCCCAGACGGAAAG	1705
T1P11	TACACCGACTGGATTGTCAACGTTCGCGCCCAAAAACACGGTCTAGGGCAATCCT	1760
T1P11P08	TACACCGACTGGATTGTCAACGTTCGCGCCCAGAAACACGGTCTGGGGCAATCCT	1760
OR	TACACCGACTGGATTGTCAACGTTCGCGCCCAGAAACACGGTCTGGGGCAATCCT	1760
TS	TACACCGACTGGATTGTCAACGTTCGCGCCCAGAAACACGGTCTGGGGCAATCCT	1760
WHITEHEAD	TACACCGACTGGATTGTCAACGTTCGCGCCCAGAAACACGGTCTGGGGCAATCCT	1760
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	$\label{eq:tcorrelation} TCCGTATCATCGTCTTCTTAGGCGAATTCAACCCCGACCCAGAGACCTAGAACGA\\ TCCGTGTCATCGTCTTCTTGGGCGAGTTCAACCCCGACCCAGAGACCTGGGACGA\\ TCCGTGTCATCGTCTTCTTGGGCGAGTTCAACCCCGACCCAGAGACCTGGGACGA\\ TCCGTGTCATCGTCTTCTTGGGCGAGTTCAACCCCGACCCAGAGACCTGGGACGA\\ TCCGTGTCATCGTCTTCTTGGGCGAGTTCAACCCCGACCCAGAGACCTGGGACGA\\ \end{array}$	1815 1815 1815 1815 1815 1815
T1P11	CGAGTTCAACTGCGTCGGTCGTGTGTCCGTATTGGGACGGAGCGCCGAAACCCAG	1870
T1P11P08	CGAGTTCAACTGCGTCGGTCGTGTGTCCGTGTTGGGACGGAGCGCCGAAACCCAG	1870
OR	CGAGTTCAACTGCGTCGGTCGTGTGTCCGTGTTGGGACGGAGCGCCGAAACCCAG	1870
TS	CGAGTTCAACTGCGTCGGTCGTGTGTCCGTGTTGGGACGGAGCGCCGAAACCCAG	1870
WHITEHEAD	CGAGTTCAACTGCGTCGGTCGTGTGTGTCCGTGTTGGGACGGAGCGCCGAAACCCAG	1870
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	TGTAGCAAGTGCCGCAAGGATAACGCAAACGGTCTAATCGTCTCAAGCACTATGC TGTGGCAAGTGCCGCAAGGATAACGCAAACGGTCTGATCGTCTCAGGCACTGTGC TGTGGCAAGTGCCGCAAGGATAACGCAAACGGTCTGATCGTCTCAGGCACTGTGC TGTGGCAAGTGCCGCAAGGATAACGCAAACGGTCTGATCGTCTCAGGCACTGTGC	1925 1925 1925 1925 1925 1925
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CCCTAACCTCCGCTTTACTGCAGGATATTGTAGGCGGCGAGCTCCAGAGCCTCAA CCCTGACCTCCGCTTTGCTGCAGGATATTGTGGGCGGCGAGCTCCAGAGCCTCAA CCCTGACCTC.GCTTTGCTGCAGGATATTGTGGGCGGCGAGCTCCAGAGCCTCAA CCCTGACCTC.GCTTTGCTGCAGGATATTGTGGGCGGCGAGCTCCAGAGCCTCAA	1980 1980 1979 1979 1980

T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	$ \begin{array}{l} GCCT \mathtt{A}AGGATGTCATCCCGCCGCCAACTTGAAGGGGAGGGAGGGGGCCCCCCGCGGGGAGGGGGGGGGCCCCCCGCGGGGAGGGGGGGGGG$	2035 2035 2034 2034 2035
T1P11	TTCAACGGCGACGAGTATAATCTAAAGGAGGTTCCGGACCTCAAGGTTAGTGTGG	2090
T1P11P08	TTCAACGGCGACGAGTATAATCTGGAGGAGGTTCCGGACCTCAAGGTTAGTGTGG	2090
OR	TTCAACGGCGACGAGTATAATCTGGAGGAGGTTCCGGACCTCAAGGTTAGTGTGG	2089
TS	TTCAACGGCGACGAGTATAATCTGGAGGAGGTTCCGGACCTCAAGGTTAGTGTGG	2089
WHITEHEAD	TTCAACGGCGACGAGTATAATCTGGAGGAGGTTCCGGACCTCAAGGTTAGTGTGG	2090
T1P11	CTTCAACAGAGGTGACTATCGATAAGGAAGGCTTACCACATTACTCTCGCCAATA	2145
T1P11P08	CTTCGACAGAGGTGACTATCGATGAGGAAGGCTTGCCACATTACTCTCGCCAGTA	2145
OR	CTTCGACAGAGGTGACTATCGATGAGGAAGGCTTGCCACATTACTCTCGCCAGTA	2144
TS	CTTCGACAGAGGTGACTATCGATGAGGAAGGCTTGCCACATTACTCTCGCCAGTA	2144
WHITEHEAD	CTTCGACAGAGGTGACTATCGATGAGGAAGGCTTGCCACATTACTCTCGCCAGTA	2145
T1P11	TACCGTCTATCCTAAGATCACCGAGGGGAAGCCGTACGGACATGGCCCAGAGGAT	2200
T1P11P08	TACCGTCTATCCTGAGATCACCGAGGGGAAGCCGTGCGGACATGGCCCAGAGGAT	2200
OR	TACCGTCTATCCTGAGATCACCGAGGGGAAGCCGTGCGGACATGGCCCAGAGGAT	2199
TS	TACCGTCTATCCTGAGATCACCGAGGGGAAGCCGTGCCGACATGGCCCAGAGGAT	2199
WHITEHEAD	TACCGTCTATCCTGAGATCACCGAGGGGAAGCCGTGCGGACATGGCCCAGAGGAT	2200
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CACATCTAAAGGGGGGATTCAGCATCAAAACGTAGGAAGGTCCAAAGGGGGGGG	2255 2255 2254 2254 2255
T1P11 T1P11P08 OR TS WHITEHEAD	CTGTAGGGTGAAATCAAAAAACCGGGTA CTGTAGGGTGAGATCAAGAAACCGGGTA CTGTAGGGTGAGATCAAGAAACCGGGTA CTGTAGGGTGAGATCAAGAAACCGGGTA CTGTAGGGTGAGATCAAGAAACCGGGTA	2283 2283 2282 2282 2282 2283

x = Site of RIP base change

 \underline{xxx} = Start and stop codons

- = Newly identified polymorphic site
- = Previously identified polymorphic site, OR vs. TS (Kupper *et al.*, 1989)
- Final reducted cleavage site for tyrosinase maturation (Kupper *et al.*, 1989)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

	•	
T1P11 WHITEHEAD OR TS	MSTDIKFAITGVPTTPSSNGAVPLRRELRDLQQNYPEQFNLYLLGLRDFQGLDEA MSTDIKFAITGVPTPPSSNGAVPLRRELRDLQQNYPEQFNLYLLGLRDFQGLDEA MSTDIKFAITGVPTTPSSNGAVPLRRELRDLQQNYPEQFNLYLLGLRDFQGLDEA	55 55 55 55
T1P11	KLNSYYQIAGIHGMPFKP.AGVPSDTDWSQPGSSGFSGYCTHSSILFITWHRPYL	110
WHITEHEAD	KLDSYYQVAGIHGMPFKPWAGVPSDTDWSQPGSSGFGGYCTHSSILFITWHRPYL	110
OR	KLDSYYQVAGIHGMPFKPWAGVPSDTDWSQPGSSGFGGYCTHSSILFITWHRPYL	110
TS	KLDSYYQVAGIHGMPFKPWAGVPSDTDWSQPGSSGFGGYCTHSSILFITWHRPYL	110
T1P11	ALYEQALYASVQAVAQKFPVEGGLRAKYVAAAKDFRAPYFDWASQPPKGTLAFPE	165
WHITEHEAD	ALYEQALYASVQAVAQKFPVEGGLRAKYVAAAKDFRAPYFDWASQPPKGTLAFPE	165
OR	ALYEQALYASVQAVAQKFPVEGGLRAKYVAAAKDFRAPYFDWASQPPKGTLAFPE	165
TS	ALYEQALYASVQAVAQKFPVEGGLRAKYVAAAKDFRAPYFDWASQPPKGTLAFPE	165
T1P11	SLSSRTIQVVDINRKTKSINNPLHQFTFHPVNPSPGNFSAAWSKYPSTVRYPNRL	220
WHITEHEAD	SLSSRTIQVVDVDGKTKSINNPLHRFTFHPVNPSPGDFSAAWSRYPSTVRYPNRL	220
OR	SLSSRTIQVVDVDGKTKSINNPLHRFTFHPVNPSPGDFSAAWSRYPSTVRYPNRL	220
TS	SLSSRTIQVVDVDGKTKSINNPLHRFTFHPVNPSPGDFSAAWSRYPSTVRYPNRL	220
T1P11	TGASRDERIAPILANKLASLRNNINLLLLSYKDFDAFSYNRWDPNTNPGNFGNLE	275
WHITEHEAD	TGASRDERIAPILANELASLRNNVSLLLLSYKDFDAFSYNRWDPNTNPGDFGSLE	275
OR	TGASRDERIAPILANELASLRNNVSLLLLSYKDFDAFSYNRWDPNTNPGDFGSLE	275
TS	TGASRDERIAPILANELASLRNNVSLLLLSYKDFDAFSYNRWDPNTNPGDFGSLE	275
T1P11	DMHNEIHNRTGGNGHMSSLEVSAFDPLFWLHHVNVDRLWSIWQDLNPNNFITPRP	330
WHITEHEAD	DVHNEIHDRTGGNGHMSSLEVSAFDPLFWLHHVNVDRLWSIWQDLNPNSFMTPRP	330
OR	DVHNEIHDRTGGNGHMSSLEVSAFDPLFWLHHVNVDRLWSIWQDLNPNSFMTPRP	330
TS	DVHNEIHDRTGGNGHMSSLEVSAFDPLFWLHHVNVDRLWSIWQDLNPNSFMTPRP	330
T1P11	★	385
WHITEHEAD	APYSTFVAQEGKSQSKNTPLEPF.DKSTANFWTSKQVKDSITFGYAYPKTQKWKY	385
OR	APYSTFVAQEGESQSKSTPLEPFWDKSAANFWTSEQVKDSITFGYAYPETQKWKY	385
TS	APYSTFVAQEGESQSKSTPLEPFWDKSAANFWTSEQVKDSITFGYAYPETQKWKY	385
T1P11	SSVKEYQAAIRKSVTALYGSNVFTNFTKNTADRTPALKNPQATGEESKSTVSAAA	4 4 0
WHITEHEAD	SSVKEYQAAIRKSVTALYGSNVFANFVENVADRTPALKKPQATGEESKSTVSAAA	4 4 0
OR	SSVKEYQAAIRKSVTALYGSNVFANFVENVADRTPALKKPQATGEESKSTVSAAA	4 4 0
TS	SSVKEYQAAIRKSVTALYGSNVFANFVENVADRTPALKNPQATGEESKSTVSAAA	4 4 0
T1P11	AHATELSGAKKVAEKVHNVFQHAKEKAQKPVVPIKDTKAESSTAASIMIGLSIKR	495
WHITEHEAD	AHAVELSGAKKVAEKVHNVFQHAEEKAQKPVVPVKDTKAESSTAAGMMIGLSIKR	495
OR	AHAVELSGAKKVAEKVHNVFQHAEEKAQKPVVPVKDTKAESSTAAGMMIGLSIKR	495
TS	AHAVELSGARKVAEKVHNVFQHAEEKAQKPVVPVKDTKAESSTAAGMMIGLSIKR	495
T1P11	PSKLTASPGPIPESLKYLAPNGKYTDWIVNVRAQKHGLGQSFRIIVFLGEFNPDP	550
WHITEHEAD	PSKLTASPGPIPESLKYLAPDGKYTDWIVNVRAQKHGLGQSFRVIVFLGEFNPDP	550
OR	PSKLTASPGPIPESLKYLAPDGKYTDWIVNVRAQKHGLGQSFRVIVFLGEFNPDP	550
TS	PSKLTASPGPIPESLKYLAPDGKYTDWIVNVRAQKHGLGQSFRVIVFLGEFNPDP	550
T1P11	ET.NDEFNCVGRVSVLGRSAETQCSKCRKDNANGLIVSSTMPLTSALLQDIVGGE	605
WHITEHEAD	ETWDDEFNCVGRVSVLGRSAETQCGKCRKDNANGLIVSGTVPLTSALLQDIVGGE	605
OR	ETWDDEFNCVGRVSVLGRSAETQCGKCRKDNANGLIVSGTVPLTSLCCRILWAAS	605
TS	ETWDDEFNCVGRVSVLGRSAETQCGKCRKDNANGLIVSGTVPLTSLCCRILWAAS	605

T1P11	LQSLKPKDVIPHLRANLKWKVTLFNGDEYNLKEVPDLKVSVASTEVTIDKEGLPH	660
WHITEHEAD	LQSLKPEDVIPHLRANLKWKVALFNGDEYNLEEVPDLKVSVASTEVTIDEEGLPH	660
OR	SRASSLRMSSRICAPT	621
TS	SRASSLRMSSRICAPT	621
T1P11	YSROYTVYPKITEGKPSGHGPEDHI	685
WHITEHEAD	YSRQYTVYPEITEGKPCGHGPEDHI	685

- = *N*-acetylation site ۵
- = Thioether bridge \square
- S = Missense codon
- = Nonsense codon ×
 - = Cleavage site
- ♦ = Frameshift generated by polymorphic site (insertion)

polyclonal antibody against the cleaved C-terminal portion of the tyrosinase enzyme was able to recognize protyrosinase (see section 1.12; Kupper *et al.*, 1990b). This polyclonal antibody was raised against the C-terminal region from amino acids 412 to 621 of the predicted sequence of strains OR and TS. Of these 209 amino acids, 183 would not be affected by the frameshift-causing insertion, so the novel C-terminus predicted from my sequencing would still be recognized by the antibody. Thus, it seems likely that the base insertion and the resulting alteration in amino acid sequence are actually part of the *bona fide* tyrosinase gene and protein sequence, and that the previous sequencing was in error. Regardless, since the C-terminus of tyrosinase is removed, the insertion does not affect the mature enzyme sequence or activity.

The RIP changes in the T gene of strain T1P11 caused 39 missense mutations and 3 nonsense mutations in the predicted amino acid sequence for tyrosinase when compared with the amino acid sequences from the TS and OR strains (Fig. 13). A further 6 missense mutations occurred in the novel 90 amino acid C-terminal region of the predicted protein when compared to the predicted Whitehead sequence. The first nonsense mutation truncated the 407 amino acid mature polypeptide to 72 amino acids and undoubtedly disrupts tyrosinase activity. Furthermore, heavily RIPed genes like the T allele in strain T1P11 are often not transcribed (Rountree and Selker, 1997), so the strain most likely carries a functionally null allele of T. Subsequent comparison of strain T1P11 with T1P11P08, T1P11P13 and wild-type strain NCN10 during a tyrosinase plate assay revealed that only colonies from T1P11 did not turn brown after several days.

3.7 Construction of second reporter strain

Strain T1P11, confirmed to contain RIP mutations in the T gene, was used to develop a second reporter strain by transformation with the reporter construct pBAT. Bleomycin resistant transformants were subjected to the tyrosinase plate assay. After five hours, colonies from several strains had turned brown when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol and had remained white on non-inducing media (Table 7). When the time of incubation in the tyrosine solution was extended to 24 hours, colonies from some of these strains turned light brown on non-inducing media, while colonies from other strains and the parent strain T1P11 remained white. The strains were analyzed by

Strain	Five H	urs Twenty-four Hours		ır Hours
	+ Chloramphenicol	Non-induced	+ Chloramphenicol	Non-induced
T11 -9	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-13	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-18	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-27	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11 -28	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11 -33	Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11-47	Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11-51	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-52	Light Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-55	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-61	Light Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11-76	Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11-80	Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11 -8 4	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11 -88	Light Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
T11-89	Light Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11-91	Brown	White	Dark Brown	White
T11 -9 7	Light Brown	White	Dark Brown	Light Brown
	Brown	White	Dark Brown	Dark Brown

Table 7.Tyrosinase assay of potential reporter strains from the transformation of T1P11 with pBAT.

Southern blotting and transformants T11-9, -47, -76, and -84 were found to contain a single inserted copy of the entire reporter (Fig. 14). The tyrosinase plate assay was repeated and, due to the relatively strong and fast colour change exhibited by colonies on inducing media, strain T11-76 was chosen as the reporter strain (Fig. 15). Colonies of this strain grown in the presence of chloramphenicol began to turn brown about one and a half hours after the addition of tyrosine.

3.8 Mutagenesis of strain T11-76

Although the original strategy was to use random insertion of a resistance conferring plasmid to mutagenize the reporter strain, I found that this approach was labour intensive and I was concerned that the integration sites may not be entirely random. Instead, I decided to use EMS to mutagenize the reporter strain. In theory, mutant strains that fail to turn brown in inducing media and those that turn brown under non-inducing conditions could both yield useful alternative oxidase regulatory mutations. However, I decided to limit the screen to mutant strains that did not produce the brown pigment when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol. Mutant strains constitutively expressing tyrosinase could have *aod-1* regulatory mutations or they could have mutations affecting a large number of genes affecting oxidative phosphorylation that would also cause constitutive *aod-1* expression. Therefore, I decided to focus on non-inducing mutants to increase the likelihood of specifically obtaining alternative oxidase regulatory mutations.

Two approaches were used to obtain colonies unable to properly induce tyrosinase expression (Fig. 6). In the first (direct selection), EMS mutagenized conidia were immediately spread on chloramphenicol containing plates. In the second (antimycin A enrichment), mutagenized conidia were subjected to filtration enrichment in liquid medium containing antimycin A. Any conidia able to germinate and grow in the presence of antimycin A should be those still able to induce alternative oxidase and respire via the alternative pathway. Therefore, these germinating conidia were removed daily by filtration until no further growth was observed. The remaining conidia were plated on chloramphenicol containing plates. In both methods, colonies that formed on the chloramphenicol plates were screened for reporter expression by the tyrosinase plate

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



115



T11-9

assay, and white colonies from a background of brown colonies were selected.

Mutagenesis using each approach was performed several times (Table 8). For the purposes of discussing the data, the experimental results from each approach were pooled. In total, about 128, 500 colonies were screened via the first approach, and 1583 colonies were picked that remained white under inducing conditions. After these isolates had formed conidia, they were streaked onto chloramphenicol containing plates and rescreened with the tyrosinase plate assay. 146 of these strains still remained white during the tyrosinase plate assay, as shown for one mutant strain in Fig. 16. Using the second method, about 2 x 10^9 conidia were inoculated into the antimycin A liquid media, and about 7500 colonies grew when plated following the enrichment procedure. These strains were then screened by the plate assay. 116 colonies that remained white were picked, allowed to conidiate in slants, and streaked on chloramphenicol containing plates. Rescreening revealed that 42 of these strains remained white when incubated with the tyrosine solution.

It was possible that strains unable to induce the reporter correctly could contain mutations in the reporter construct itself. To rule out this possibility, I examined the mutants for their ability to induce alternative oxidase activity by assaying for cyanideinsensitive respiration following growth in chloramphenicol. Eighteen mutant strains (carrying mutations designated E1 through E18) unable to induce both the tyrosinase reporter and alternative oxidase activities were selected for further study as putative alternative oxidase regulatory mutations. Six of these mutations (E1, E2, E3, E4, E7, and E15) arose from the direct plating method, while twelve (E5, E6, E8, E9, E10, E11, E12, E13, E14, E16, E17, and E18) arose from the filtration enrichment technique. Finally, it was possible that the mutants did not induce alternative oxidase because they had become resistant to chloramphenicol. To address this issue, cultures of each mutant strain were grown in antimycin A and assayed for the presence of cyanide-insensitive respiration under alternative oxidase inducing conditions. With the exception of strain 4-294 (E2 mutation), all the mutant strains were also unable to induce alternative oxidase when grown in the presence of antimycin A (and many were, in fact, unable to grow). Thus, seventeen strains carrying mutations affecting alternative oxidase regulation were isolated.

EMS	[EMS]	Number Colonies	Number	Number Characterized	Mutant Strains
Method	MI	Screened	Picked	by Respiration	(mutation name)
1	1	19600	104	18	
1	1	39300	211	16	2-195 (<i>E1</i>)
1	1.5	37300	353	40	4-294 (<i>E2</i>)
1	3	4400	48	9	5-14 (<i>E3</i>), 5-34 (<i>E4</i>)
1	3	21900	432	27	6-280 (<i>E</i> 7)
1	3	5100	402	29	7-64 (<i>E15</i>)
1	3	900	33	7	
2	1.5	$2 \times 10^8, \ 600^2$	20	5	L1-6 (<i>E5</i>), L1-13 (<i>E6</i>)
2	1.5	8 X 10 ⁸ , 4900	71	24	L2-25 (<i>E8</i>), L2-37 (<i>E9</i>), L2-40 (<i>E10</i>), L2-61 (<i>E11</i>), L2-62 (<i>E12</i>), L2-64 (<i>E13</i>),
2	1.5	8 X 10 ⁸ , 2000	25	13	L2-67 (E14) L3-4 (E16), L3-5 (E17), L3-8 (E18)
Total M Total M	ethod 1 ethod 2	128 500 1.8 X 10 ⁹ , 7500	1583 116	146 42	6 12

 Table 8.

 Mutants isolated from EMS mutagenesis.

1 The number of colonies per plate was counted for 25 plates and the average was used to extrapolate the total colonies screened.

² The first number indicates the total number of conidia treated with EMS and inoculated into antimycin A containing liquid medium, while the second number indicates the number of colonies that grew when the remaining conidia were plated after enrichment.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



T1P11

T11**-**76

5-14

To further characterize the isolated mutations, the eighteen isolated strains were divided between myself and another graduate student in the lab. I focused on strains carrying the mutations E1, E2, E3, E8, E13, and E14. I also did preliminary work with the strain carrying mutation E12. The respiratory tracings for these strains grown under non-inducing conditions and grown in the presence of chloramphenicol or antimycin A revealed that mutations E1, E3, E8, E12, E13, and E14 prevented alternative oxidase induction by chloramphenicol, while the E2 mutation prevented alternative oxidase induction by chloramphenicol but not by antimycin A (Fig. 17). Tracings for the previously described *aod-1* and *aod-2* mutant strains (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983) and the reporter strain T11-76 are also shown as controls. Strains carrying the mutations E1, E3, E8, E12, E13, and E14, as well as the *aod-1* and *aod-2* mutant strains, were unable to grow in the presence of antimycin A because this inhibitor blocked respiration through the cytochrome pathway and the mutants were unable to respire through the alternative pathway.

3.8.1 Comparison of methods of EMS mutagenesis

Using the estimate that 70% survival was achieved on average for the EMS mutagenesis (see section 2.28; Table 6), then the 128, 500 surviving colonies screened in the direct plating method arose from about 183, 600 viable conidia originally mutagenized (Table 9). In the antimycin A enrichment method, 1.8×10^9 conidia were mutagenized and taken through filter enrichment. With the first method, 6 of 183, 600 or about 3×10^{-3} % of the initially treated conidia were isolated as *aod-1* regulatory mutants, while with the second method, only 12 of 1.8×10^9 or about 7×10^{-7} % of the initially treated as mutants. This comparison suggests that the first method is approximately 5000 times more effective than the second at generating mutants with a given initial amount of conidia treated.

However, the second method involves much less manipulation, with twice the number of mutants isolated from only 7% of the total number of white colonies picked as compared to the first method. With the first method, about 8% of the initially treated conidia were picked as white colonies, while with the second method, we picked only about 6 x 10^{-6} % of the initially treated conidia. The first method led to identification of



124



EMS Method	Total Viable Conidia Treated	Viable Conidia Following EMS	White Colonies Picked	White when Retested	Mutants Affecting Endogenous <i>aod-1</i> Induction
1	183 600 ¹	128 500	1583	146	6
% of Total		70.0	8.6	8.0 X 10 ⁻²	3.3 X 10 ⁻³
% of Viable			12.3	1.1 X 10 ⁻¹	4.7 X 10 ⁻³
% of Picked				9.2	3.8 X 10 ⁻¹
% of Retested					4.1
2	1.8 X 10 ⁹	1.26 X 10 ^{9 2}	116	42	12
% of Total		70.0	6.4 X 10 ⁻⁶	2.3 X 10 ⁻⁶	6.7 X 10 ⁻⁷
% of Viable			9.2 X 10 ⁻⁶	3.3 X 10 ⁻⁶	9.5 X 10 ⁻⁷
% of Picked				36.2	10.3
% of Retested					28.6

 Table 9.

 Comparison of EMS mutagenesis methods.

¹ The number of conidia treated was estimated based on the number of viable colonies seen and a 70% survival rate.

² The number of viable conidia was estimated based on the number of total conidia treated and a 70% survival rate.

only about 0.4% of the originally picked strains as mutants, while the second method led to the identification of about 10% of the originally picked strains as mutants. Therefore, the second method is more user friendly and efficient than the first, with an approximate 27 fold increase in the likelihood that a white colony picked during the first tyrosinase plate assay will be an *aod-1* regulatory mutant.

3.9 Crossing of mutant strains to obtain progeny

The isolated strains were crossed as males to help remove any secondary EMS mutations that may have occurred. Crosses were also performed with auxotrophic strains to introduce a marker that would allow the formation of forced heterokaryons, for use in complementation tests between different strains, by inoculation of both strains onto minimal media (Table 10; see Table 2 for complete list of progeny). Progeny were screened and isolates identified that contained both the mutation of interest and the auxotrophic marker. The isolated mutations were all inherited in a Mendelian fashion, indicating that they are in nuclear encoded genes.

Since the original mutant isolates used in these crosses contained the integrated reporter construct, it was possible that the endogenous and ectopic *aod-1* upstream sequences could be substrates for RIP, which affects duplicated sequences in the *N. crassa* genome during a sexual cross (Selker, 1990). Thus, progeny from crosses involving a strain still carrying the reporter construct could contain RIP mutations in the endogenous *aod-1* promoter, which could lead to lack of expression of the structural gene. Therefore, the endogenous *aod-1* upstream region in the progeny being considered for further work was amplified by PCR (Fig. 18), and the product was sequenced. Only those isolates with a wild-type endogenous *aod-1* upstream sequence were used for further analysis. This insured that a lack of induction of alternative oxidase activity in progeny from crosses was due to the regulatory mutation of interest and not inactivation of expression of the *aod-1* locus itself. Typically, of fifty progeny examined, five to ten carried the requirement and the mutation of interest, and were sequenced to insure the endogenous alternative oxidase promoter was intact. Roughly 75% of the strains sequenced contained a non-RIPed *aod-1* upstream sequence (data not shown).

Auxotrophic Strain (?)	Mutant Strain (♂)	Progeny	Desired Genotype
NCN233	2-195 (E1)	EN195- ¹	E1 nan-2
NCN246	4-294 (<i>E2</i>)	EN294-	E2, pyr-6
7263	5-14 (<i>E3</i>)	EN14	E3, ad-2
7267	L2-25 (E8)	EL25	<i>E8, met-7</i>
7262	L2-62 (E12)	EL62	E12, trp-3
7266	L2-64 (E13)	EL64	E13, ad-1
7261	L2-67 (E14)	EL67	E14, ad-3A

 Table 10.

 Crosses of mutant strains to introduce auxotrophic markers.

¹ Progeny isolated from each cross were numbered (represented by underline) and individual progeny used for further work are listed in Table 2.


To prevent the need for repeated sequencing of the *aod-1* upstream region in progeny of subsequent crosses, isolates were chosen that had lost the ectopically integrated reporter construct through random segregation. The presence or absence of the reporter construct was determined by examination of genomic DNA for the presence of the *aod-1/T* fusion by PCR, using a primer for the *T* gene and a primer for the *aod-1* upstream region (Fig. 18). Another concern was that the reporter strain T11-76 and all of the original mutant isolates derived from this strain contained the *al-2* mutation. Since plans for genetic mapping of the mutations involved crosses to other strains that carry the albino locus *al-1* as a marker for linkage group I, non-albino progeny were selected from the original set of crosses. Finally, the growth rates of different progeny from a single cross were variable, possibly due to the presence in the original EMS isolate of other mutations affecting growth that had randomly assorted to the offspring. Whenever possible, progeny were selected with the most rapid growth rate, closest to the reporter strain T11-76.

3.10 Complementation analysis

Complementation analysis was done to determine if the regulatory mutations carried by the strains obtained were allelic to each other or to the previously described regulatory gene *aod-2*. If the regulatory mutations in a heterokaryon are allelic then they will fail to complement, resulting in a lack of cyanide-insensitive respiration even under alternative oxidase inducing conditions. The analysis was performed by creating heterokaryotic strains, in which the two types of nuclei present each contained one of the isolated mutations and a different auxotrophic marker. The differing auxotrophic markers insured formation and maintenance of heterokaryons on minimal medium.

Complementation analysis showed that we had isolated four novel complementation groups involved in regulating alternative oxidase: *E1* and its alleles, *E10*, *E12*, and *E15*. The complementation is summarized in Table 11, followed by the raw data shown in Fig. 19. These complementation groups have been assigned the gene names *aod-4*, *aod-5*, *aod-6*, and *aod-7*, respectively (Table 12). The *aod-4* gene was the most frequently mutated, with isolates from both method 1 (*E1*) and method 2 (*E8*, *E9*, *E11*, *E13*, and *E14*). Each of the other complementation groups had only a single mutant

Mutant					Mu	tant Stra	ains				
Strain	E1	<i>E2</i>	E3	E 8	E9 ²	E10	E11	<i>E12</i>	E13	E14	E15
aod-1	√ ¹	~	~	~	•	•	~	~	~	~	~
aod-2	•	✓	×	~	~	•	~	~	~	~	•
E 1		✓	~	×	×	ND ³	×	~	×	×	•
<i>E2</i>			~	~	~	•	~	✓	✓	✓	•
E3				~	~	ND	~	~	~	~	•
E8			-		×	ND	×	~	×	×	~
E 9						•	×	~	×	×	~
E10							~	~	ND	ND	•
E11								~	×	×	~
E12									~	~	•
E13										×	•
E14											ND

 Table 11.

 Complementation analysis using heterokaryotic strains.

¹ Heterokaryons were made between the strains listed for the appropriate row and column. Complementation is indicated by a check mark, non-complementation by an X.

² The lightly shaded areas were assayed by another graduate student in the lab (I. Cleary).

³ ND indicates no data, since once it was discovered that mutations *E1*, *E8*, *E9*, *E11*, *E13*, and *E14* were allelic, and mutations *aod-2* and *E3* were allelic, not all combinations with each of these mutations were analyzed (I. Cleary).



ţ

134

.









;

complementation groups.							
Mutations in Complementation Group	<i>aod</i> Gene Designation	Strains Used for Further Characterization					
<i>E1</i> , <i>E8</i> , <i>E9</i> , <i>E11</i> , <i>E13</i> , <i>E14</i>	aod-4	EN195-109, 2E1a-57, NL61-130, E11a-40					
$E10^{1}$	aod-5						
<i>E12</i>	aod-6	EL62-2, EL62-25					
E15 ¹	aod-7						

 Table 12.

 Assignment of aod gene designations to new alternative oxidase regulatory mutant

¹ Mutations *E10* and *E15* are being further characterized by another graduate student in the lab (I. Cleary).

allele. The *E2* mutation represents a fifth complementation group, called *chl-1*, and appears to be a chloramphenicol resistant mutation rather than an alternative oxidase regulatory mutation (see sections 3.8, 3.11 and 3.12). The *E3* mutant strain failed to complement the previously identified regulatory mutant, *aod-2* (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983), and so is likely a new allele of this gene. All of the mutant strains analyzed complemented *aod-1*, confirming that in each strain the endogenous *aod-1* gene was functional. Each mutation analyzed also complemented at least one other mutation, suggesting that none of the isolated mutations was dominant over a wild-type allele of the affected gene. Seven mutations (*E4*, *E5*, *E6*, *E7*, *E16*, *E17*, and *E18*) remain to be characterized by complementation analysis.

Two of the heterokaryotic strains gave respirometer tracings that appear to have slight alternative oxidase activity, as they show a low level of continued respiration after the addition of cyanide (Fig. 19, heterokaryons EI + E8 and EI + E13). However, this small amount of cyanide-insensitive respiration is likely not due to complementation since homokaryotic strains carrying mutations in the *aod-4* complementation group occasionally give respirometer tracings showing a similar low level of cyanide-insensitive respiration. In fact, control *aod-4* strains examined on the same day as these two heterokaryons showed a similar level of cyanide-insensitive respiration (data not shown). Taken together, these data show that E1 and E8, and E1 and E13 do not complement and are alleles of the same gene.

3.11 Growth rates

The growth rates of the *aod-4* and *chl-1* mutant strains under alternative oxidase inducing or non-inducing conditions, at both 30°C and room temperature, were determined and compared to the alternative oxidase wild-type strain NCN246 and the reporter strain T11-76 (Fig. 20, 21). As expected, the growth rate of NCN246 was reduced by growth in the presence of chloramphenicol or antimycin A, with antimycin A having a stronger effect. A decreased incubation temperature also caused the growth rate of NCN246 to decrease. Strain T11-76 grew slightly slower than NCN246 under all conditions. The *aod-1* and *aod-2* strains had growth rates similar to NCN246 and T11-76 at both incubation temperatures when grown on non-inducing or chloramphenicol

NCN246



T11-76











chl-1 (E2a-119)





T11-76













aod-4 (EN195-109)





containing media. However, the *aod-1* and *aod-2* strains showed little to no growth in antimycin A containing media, which is expected for strains lacking alternative oxidase activity because antimycin A completely inhibits electron transfer through complex III. On the other hand, chloramphenicol does not fully block the synthesis of mitochondrial translation products. Therefore, in the presence of chloramphenicol some respiration can occur through the cytochrome pathway.

The *aod-4* strain EN195-109 had a diminished growth rate on non-inducing media at 30° C, reducing the growth rate to that observed for the same strain in the presence of chloramphenicol. It is unclear why chloramphenicol did not further reduce the growth rate for this strain at 30° C. Perhaps the use of race tubes overlooked subtle differences in growth rates under these two conditions, which might be revealed by growth in liquid culture. This growth defect was not seen when the strain was grown at room temperature. At this temperature, the presence of chloramphenicol also caused the expected decrease in growth rate in the *aod-4* strain, similar to that seen with NCN246, T11-76, *aod-1*, and *aod-2* strains. Like the *aod-1* and *aod-2* strains, the *aod-4* strain did not grow in the presence of antimycin A.

Compared to T11-76, the *chl-1* strain E2a-119 had a slightly reduced growth rate at 30° C on all tested media. This reduction in growth rate was exacerbated by incubation at room temperature. During the first two days of growth at 30° C and over the four days of growth at room temperature, the growth rates on non-inducing and chloramphenicol containing medium were virtually identical. This similarity is most likely because the mutation in *chl-1* confers resistance to chloramphenicol. Continued measurement of the growth rate at room temperature revealed that in the presence of chloramphenicol, the growth rates of *chl-1* strains EN294-46 and E2a-119 showed a distinct reduction after about 7 days in the race tubes. As expected from our respiration studies, the *chl-1* strains were the only isolated mutant strains that were able to grow on antimycin A. On this inhibitor, the initial growth rate was reduced as compared to growth on non-inducing media, to an extent similar to that of wild-type strains.

3.12 Cytochrome spectra

Cytochrome spectra were obtained for the *aod-4* and *chl-1* mutant strains to determine if the alternative oxidase regulatory mutations had any affect on these components of electron transport (Fig. 22). When grown in non-inducing conditions, the *aod-4* strain had a partial deficiency of cytochromes aa_3 and b. This reduction suggests that the *aod-4* mutation also affects other aspects of mitochondrial function, and may explain why the *aod-4* strain exhibited a reduced growth rate on non-inducing media at 30° C. As expected, the levels of cytochromes aa_3 and b were reduced even further when the strain was grown in the presence of chloramphenicol, since both of these cytochromes contain components synthesized on mitochondrial ribosomes (see section 3.1). Thus, the aberrant growth rate for this strain when grown under non-inducing conditions at 30° C, as compared to growth in the presence of chloramphenicol at 30° C, cannot be completely explained by the levels of cytochromes aa_3 and b, since chloramphenicol did cause a further reduction in these cytochromes but not in the growth rate.

The reporter strain T11-76, as well as the *aod-1* and *aod-2* strains, also showed the expected reductions in cytochromes aa_3 and b when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol. However, the levels of these cytochromes in strain *chl-1* did not change appreciably when chloramphenicol was present, in agreement with the observation that this strain exhibited only cyanide-sensitive respiration when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol, and consistent with the notion that the mutation confers chloramphenicol resistance. Unlike the *aod-1*, *aod-2*, or *aod-4* mutant strains, the *chl-1* mutant strain was able to grow in the presence of antimycin A, and its spectrum following growth in this condition was similar to the control strain. All strains exhibited variable increases in cytochrome *c* content following growth in either inhibitor. Increased levels of cytochrome *c* are typical of strains that have reduced electron transfer due to inhibitors or mutations affecting complexes III and/or IV (Bertrand *et al.*, 1977).

3.13 Alternative oxidase expression

The *aod-4* and *chl-1* mutant strains were also examined for expression of *aod-1* mRNA and protein by Northern and Western analysis (Fig. 23). As expected from previous studies, the amount of *aod-1* mRNA present in wild-type cultures increased



 NCN246

 NCN246 + CAP

 NCN246 + AA

 NCN246 + AA

 T11-76

 T00-2

 aod-2

 aod-4

 aod-4

 chl-1

 chl-1

 chl-1

B

A



С

Tom70 AOD1

dramatically upon growth in media containing chloramphenicol or antimycin A (Li *et al.*, 1996; Tanton *et al.*, 2003). This increase correlated with the appearance of AOD1 protein (Fig. 23; Li *et al.*, 1996; Tanton *et al.*, 2003). Surprisingly, we found that the tyrosinase mutant strain T1P11 (data not shown) and the reporter strain T11-76 (Fig. 23) differ from other strains that are wild-type with respect to respiration, because they contain significant levels of *aod-1* transcript under non-inducing conditions. However, even though the mRNA is present, there is no AOD1 protein in these non-induced strains and there is no alternative oxidase activity (Fig. 23, data not shown). The *aod-4* strain EN195-109 contains no *aod-1* transcript and no AOD1 protein when grown in either inducing or non-inducing conditions, further confirming that the mutation in this strain affects the regulation of alternative oxidase (Fig. 23). The *chl-1* strain EN294-46 contains both alternative oxidase transcript and the AOD1 protein only when grown in the presence of antimycin A. Long exposure of the Northern blots revealed that these mutant strains contain small amounts of *aod-1* mRNA under all conditions, at levels similar to the *aod-1* and *aod-2* strains (data not shown).

3.14 Mapping of the regulatory mutations

The isolated mutations were mapped to specific regions of the seven *N. crassa* linkage groups so that attempts to clone the genes involved would be simplified. By delineating the probable location of the mutations, cosmids already localized to these regions in established cosmid libraries (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003) could be used for transformation and phenotypic rescue, hopefully facilitating the identification of the mutations. The locations of the regulatory mutations on the genetic map were determined in a series of genetic crosses. First, the strains were crossed with *alcoy* linkage tester strains, which carry a series of translocations coupled to specific markers that allow the assignment of a gene to either linkage groups I or II, III or VI, or IV or V (Perkins *et al.*, 1969). Once the possible linkage groups were known, crosses with linkage specific marker carrying strains were performed. The alternative oxidase structural gene *aod-1* and the regulatory gene *aod-2* were previously mapped near the centromeres of linkage groups IV and II, respectively (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983).

Mutations *E1* and *E11* of the *aod-4* complementation group mapped to the right arm of linkage group V (Table 13; Fig. 24A). The *aod-4* gene is most likely located between the *lys-2* and *his-6* markers, near the *inl* marker. Linkage to *inl* was determined to be between 1 and 35% recombination, depending on the cross. This was a surprisingly large discrepancy, but some mapping distances have been reported to vary about 10 fold in crosses involving the same regions (markers) when using strains with different genetic backgrounds (Davis, 2000). Indeed, strains carrying different alleles of the *rec-1* locus have been shown to affect recombination on the right arm of linkage group V approximately 30 fold (Catcheside and Austin, 1969). Thus, the recombination frequencies of 1 to 35% between the *aod-4* alleles and *inl* were near the previously seen range of variation in recombination frequencies for this region. The nature of the *rec-1* locus in the different strains used in the crosses shown in Table 13 is unknown.

Mutation *E2* of the *chl-1* complementation group was closely linked to *nuc-2*, a marker on the right arm of linkage group II, with only 3% recombination observed between the genes (Table 14; Fig. 24B). The data suggested that *chl-1* was most likely located between the *arg-5* and *arg-12* markers.

Mutation *E3* mapped to linkage group II, with 8% recombination with the marker *arg-5* (Table 15; Fig. 24B). The recombination frequency between *E3* and *arg-5* was similar to the recombination frequency of 7% reported for *aod-2* and *arg-5* (Bertrand *et al.*, 1983), further supporting the identification of *E3* as an allele of *aod-2* as suggested by the lack of complementation in the *E3*, *aod-2* heterokaryon (see section 3.10).

Preliminary mapping of mutation E12 with the *alcoy* strain did not indicate on which linkage group the *aod-6* gene would be found, since the recombination frequencies suggested that the E12 mutation was not linked to any of the *alcoy* markers (Table 16). The *aod-6* gene could be located on linkage group VII, which is not marked in the *alcoy* strain, or it could fall on one of the ends of the arms of the other linkage groups, with a large physical distance from any *alcoy* marker and translocation site (Davis, 2000).

3.15 Rescue and identification of isolated mutations

To isolate and define the nature of the genes affected in the alternative oxidase regulatory mutants and the chloramphenicol resistant mutant, I wished to screen

Mated	Number of		Number of	Number of	Percentage	p Value
Strains	Progeny	Marker	Parental	Recombinant	Recombinant	(χ ² Analysis)
997		al-1	27	23	46	< 0.75
(alcoy, A)						
x	50	cot-1	42	8	16	< 0.001
EN195-109						
(aod-4, pan-2, a)		ylo-1 ¹ (27)	13	14	52	< 0.90
998		al-1	21	38	64	< 0.05
(alcoy, a)						
x NL61-130	59	cot-1	46	13	22	< 0.001
(aod-4, nic-1, A)		ylo-1 (24)	50	9	38	< 0.25
EN195-109		÷1	120	11	Q	< 0.001
$(a \circ a - 4, p \circ a n - 2, a)$	140	ini	129	11	ð	< 0.001
1243 (inl, cot-1, A)	140	cot-1	68	72	51	< 0.75
NL61-130 (aod-4, nic-1, A) x	148	inl	141	7	5	< 0.001
1244 (inl, cot-1, a)		cot-1	85	63	43	< 0.10
EN195-109		caf-1	70	30	30	< 0.001
(aod-4, pan-2, a)		-				
x 3752	100	al-3	78	22	22	< 0.001
(caf-1, al-3, his-6, A)		his-6	68	32	32	< 0.001

Table 13.Mapping of the *aod-4* gene.

Table 13 continued	Table 13 continued									
Mated Strains	Number of Progeny	Marker	Number of Parental	Number of Recombinant	Percentage Recombinant	p Value (χ ² Analysis)				
NL61-130		caf-1	78	26	25	< 0.001				
(aod-4 , nic-1 , A)										
x	104	al-3	96	8	8	< 0.001				
3753		1. 6	7.5	20	20	< 0.001				
(caf-1, al-3, his-0, a)		nis-o	75	29	28	< 0.001				
2E1a-57										
(aod-4, inl, cot-1, A)		inl	76	23	23	< 0.001				
x	99									
7094		mcb	84	15	15	< 0.001				
(mcb, a)										
E11a-40										
(aod-4, inl, A)		inl	62	33	35	< 0.005				
х	95									
7094		mcb	56	39	41	< 0.10				
(<i>mcb</i> , <i>a</i>)										
2E1a-57		al-3	85	4	5	< 0.001				
(aod-4, inl, cot-1, A)										
X 2752	89	inl	88	1	1	< 0.001				
(caf-1, al-3, his-6, a)		his-6	74	15	17	< 0.001				
(,,,,,,,,,										
2E1a-57		lys-2	81	13	14	< 0.001				
(aod-4, inl, cot-l, A)		_								
X 7255	94	leu-2	82	12	13	< 0.001				
1200 (cvh-2, lvs-2 leu-2		inl	92	2	2	< 0.001				
mei-2, a)			~ =	-	-	0.001				



156

Mated	Number of	Marker	Number of	Number of	Percentage	p Value		
Strains	Progeny		Parental	Recombinant	Recombinant	(χ ² Analysis)		
998		al-1	50	0	0	< 0.001		
(alcoy, a)								
х	50	cot-1	24	26	52	< 0.90		
EN294-46								
(chl-1 , pyr-6 , A)		<i>ylo-1</i> ⁻¹ (21)	8	13	62	< 0.50		
1206								
(al-1, arg-5, a)		al-1	35	35	50	> 0.995		
х	70							
EN294-46		arg-5	42	28	40	< 0.10		
(chl-1, pyr-6, A)								
EN294-46								
(chl-1, pyr-6, A)		cot-5	59	34	37	< 0.10		
х	93							
7356		thr-2	67	26	28	< 0.001		
(cot-5, het-COR, pyr-4, thr-2, a)								
EN294-46		ro-7	30	16	35	< 0.05		
(chl-1, pyr-6, A)		-	2.5	10				
X	46	arg-5	36	10	22	< 0.001		
$(r_0, 7, arg, 5, rin, 1, a)$		nin I	22	22	50	> 0.005		
(ro-r, arg-s, rip-1, a)		пр-т	23	23	50	~ 0.995		
E2a-119		cot-5	21	29	58	< 0.25		
(chl-1, arg-5, pyr-6, A)								
x	50	thr-2	28	22	44	< 0.50		
7356								
(cot-5, het-COR,		arg-5	40	10	20	< 0.001		
pyr-4, thr-2, a)								

Table 14.Mapping of the chl-1 gene.

Table 14 continued				_		
Mated Strains	Number of Progeny	Marker	Number of Parental	Number of Recombinant	Percentage Recombinant	<i>p</i> Value (χ ² Analysis)
2998 (pyr-4, arg-12, a) x EN294-46 (chl-1, pyr-6, A)	50	arg-12	42	8	16	< 0.001
nuc-2 (<i>nuc-2</i> , <i>a</i>) x E2a-119 (<i>chl-1</i> , <i>arg-5</i> , <i>pyr-6</i> , <i>A</i>)	100	arg-5 nuc-2	86 97	14 3	14 3	< 0.001 < 0.001

Mated Strains	Number of Progeny	Marker	Number of Parental	Number of Recombinant	Percentage Recombinant	<i>p</i> Value (χ ² Analysis)
998		al-1	42	8	16	< 0.001
(alcoy, a)						
x	50	cot-1	24	26	52	< 0.90
EN14-158						
(aod-2, ad-2, A)		<i>ylo-1</i> ¹ (30)	13	17	57	< 0.50
1206 (al-1, arg-5, a) x EN14-158 (aod-2, ad-2, A)	50	al-1 arg-5	29 46	21 4	42 8	< 0.50 < 0.001

Table 15.Mapping of the E3 mutation.

Mated Strains	Number of Progeny	Marker	Number of Parental	Number of Recombinant	Percentage Recombinant	<i>p</i> Value (χ ² Analysis)		
998 (alaon a)		al-1	26	16	38	< 0.25		
(<i>acoy</i> , <i>a</i>) X EI 62-2	42	cot-1	17	25	60	< 0.25		
(aod-6, trp-4, A)		<i>ylo-1</i> ¹ (16)	5	9	56	< 0.75		

Table 16.Mapping of the *aod-6* gene.

established *N. crassa* genomic libraries for clones with the ability to restore inducible alternative respiration to the mutant strains. Since the isolated mutations had been roughly mapped, I was able to focus on specific regions of the genome to locate the appropriate clones. The theory for rescuing a mutant gene is based on the premise that transformation of a mutant strain with a wild-type copy of the altered gene should rescue the ability of that strain either to grow in the presence of antimycin A, in the case of the alternative oxidase regulatory mutations, or to induce alternative respiration in the presence of chloramphenicol, in the case of the *chl-1* mutation. Previous work had shown that transformation of an *aod-1* mutant strain with a wild-type copy of *aod-1* was able to restore chloramphenicol inducible alternative oxidase activity (Tanton *et al.*, 2003), so this approach seemed reasonable.

Genetic mapping placed the *aod-4* gene on the right arm of linkage group V, with 1-35% recombination with the marker *inl* (see section 3.14; Table 13; Fig. 24A). Supercontigs 3, 30 and 13 of the *N. crassa* genome sequence were assembled and placed in this region, and cover about 2.6 Mbp of sequence (Fig. 24A; assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003). It seems likely that the *aod-4* gene is located within this region. Cosmids and bacterial artificial chromosomes (BACs) containing inserts from this region were identified in the genome sequencing project (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003). Most of the 2.6 Mbp region can be covered with three fold redundancy using 214 available cosmids and 32 available BACs from established libraries. However, there are sections totaling approximately 36 kbp that are not covered by any available library, as sequencing was done using a whole genome shotgun approach (Galagan *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, there are two gaps of unknown size between the three supercontigs, and the *aod-4* gene could be located within one of these gaps. Nevertheless, I decided to attempt to rescue *aod-4* by transforming a mutant strain with clones derived from this region.

Initial attempts at gene rescue were done via electroporation. Tests of transformation frequency using the hygromycin resistance marker showed that the transformation was much more successful if the resistance gene was carried on a linear fragment less than 10 kbp (data not shown). Thus, I analyzed the sequence of 135 cosmids and 21 BACs, which cover approximately 2 Mbp of the region likely to carry the

aod-4 gene, for open reading frames (ORFs) and restriction sites. The remaining 79 cosmids and 11 BACs, which cover about 600 kbp of supercontig 3 distal to the *al-3* sequence, have yet to be analyzed and isolated. The sequence analysis revealed several enzymes that could be used to insure that each predicted ORF (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003) for the sequence was present on at least two distinct restriction fragments no larger than 10 kbp. No striking candidate genes were recognized when these ORFs were examined for similarity to known signaling components. By far the most common characterization of these ORFs was as a hypothetical or predicted protein (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003). The cosmids and BACs were grown individually and then combined into pools of 5 to 10 clones. DNA was isolated from these pools of clones, digested with the appropriate restriction enzymes, and used in transformation experiments. Since this approach was labour intensive, I also attempted transformation of sphaeroplasts with uncut pools of cosmid and BAC DNA.

Preliminary assays for rescue of growth in the presence of antimycin A of the *aod-4* strain EN195-109 by transformation with either cut or uncut pools of the BACs and cosmids from the 2 Mbp region of the right arm of linkage group V have been unsuccessful. A number of possibilities could explain the lack of success. The *aod-4* gene could lie on the region of supercontig 3 that has not yet been tested. It is also conceivable that the *aod-4* gene lies in one of the gaps between supercontigs or in one of the areas that is not represented by the available libraries. Another possibility is that single clones from the tested region could have been under-represented when the pools were isolated. I am currently isolating each BAC and cosmid individually for use in transformation experiments to rule out the latter possibility.

The *chl-1* gene was also mapped and found to be on the right arm of linkage group II near the *nuc-2* gene (see section 3.14; Table 14; Fig. 24B). The *chl-1* gene is most likely between the *arg-5* and *arg-12* markers. This region is covered by portions of supercontigs 4 and 20, which consist of 1.9 Mbp of sequence (Fig. 24B; assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003). Again, there is a gap of unknown size between these supercontigs. There are cosmids and BACs available for supercontig 4, but approximately 200 kbp of sequence between *arg-5* and the centromere is not covered by clones in any available library. This lack of coverage is most likely because supercontig 20 contains centromeric sequences that were covered by random clones during the shotgun sequencing (Galagan *et al.*, 2003). Since the *chl-1* mutant strains can grow in the presence of antimycin A, transformants cannot be selected based on rescue of growth as in the case of rescuing the *aod-4* mutation. Therefore, I have used individual cosmids from the region near the *nuc-2* marker for transformation of the *chl-1* strain EN294-46. Individual transformants were tested for alternative respiration when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol. No transformants have been obtained that have restored the ability of the strain to induce alternative oxidase activity in the presence of chloramphenicol. The possibility that the *chl-1* mutation cannot be rescued because it is dominant to the wild-type version of the gene is ruled out by the complementation analysis, which showed that *chl-1* strains were complemented by a number of other strains to give chloramphenicol inducible alternative oxidase activity (see section 3.10).

I have also been involved in several attempts to rescue the *aod-2* mutation. The aod-2 complementation group was mapped to linkage group II, showing 7% recombination with the arg-5 marker and 16% recombination with the thr-3 marker (Bertrand et al., 1983; H. Bertrand, personal communication). These markers also surround the centromere, and the aod-2 gene is believed to be located between the arg-5 marker and the centromere (H. Bertrand, personal communication). As mentioned above, the centromeric region of linkage group II is not well covered by available genomic libraries. Nevertheless, cosmids and BACs that have been located in this region (assembly version 3, Neurospora genome sequence, Galagan et al., 2003), and that are available, have been isolated and used to transform an *aod-2* mutant strain. None of the transformants isolated and tested to date have chloramphenicol inducible alternative respiration or the capability for growth in the presence of antimycin A (data not shown; T. Aziz, C. Nargang and F. Nargang, personal communication). The *aod-2* gene could be in a region near the centromere that is not available in the genomic libraries or that has not yet been successfully sequenced and placed in the N. crassa genome sequence due to the highly repetitive nature of the DNA in this region.

3.16 Two-Dimensional gel electrophoresis

Although it was clear from this study and previous studies (see section 1.9; Edwards *et al.*, 1976; Bertrand *et al.*, 1983) that alternative oxidase regulatory mutations can be isolated, it is unknown if any of these mutations have more global effects on mitochondrial biogenesis in addition to, or rather than, specific effects on alternative oxidase regulation. To address this possibility, I wished to analyze mitochondria isolated from non-induced and chloramphenicol induced cultures of various strains by 2-D gel electrophoresis to see if the mitochondrial proteome was significantly altered.

It was possible that highly hydrophobic mitochondrial membrane proteins would not be solubilized during the preparation of mitochondrial proteins for 2-D gel analysis (Berkelman and Stenstedt, 1998). To insure that mitochondrial membrane proteins entered the first dimension, non-SDS containing gel, I transferred 2-D gels of mitochondrial proteins from wild-type strain NCN246 to nitrocellulose and decorated the blot with antiserum to the outer membrane proteins Tom70, Tom40, Tom22, and the inner membrane protein AAC (Fig. 25). Tom40 is an integral β-barrel protein of the MOM (see section 1.4; Truscott *et al.*, 2003; Rehling *et al.*, 2003), while AAC is a polytopic integral protein of the MIM (Saraste and Walker, 1982). Tom70 is anchored to the MOM by an N-terminal membrane spanning domain (McBride *et al.*, 1992), while Tom22 is anchored to the MOM via a C-terminal membrane spanning domain (Rodriguez-Cousiño *et al.*, 1998). All of these proteins were detected by immunoblotting (Fig 25, A and B). Thus, it seemed likely that if these proteins were solubilized and entered the gel, then most other membrane proteins would as well.

The identifies of the Tom40 and AAC proteins were further confirmed by picking the identified protein spots from silver stained gels, and obtaining amino acid sequence data for these spots using MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry (Fig. 26, spots 5 and 3, respectively). Using a similar approach of Western blotting (Fig. 25C) and MALDI-TOF sequencing (Fig. 26, spot 6), I also identified the AOD1 protein from a gel of mitochondrial proteins isolated from a chloramphenicol induced culture of NCN246. The AOD1 protein was not detected by immunoblotting of a gel of mitochondrial proteins from a non-induced culture of NCN246 (data not shown). From visual inspection, the alternative oxidase protein spot was not present on silver stained gels containing
Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.





mitochondrial proteins from non-induced cultures of alternative oxidase wild-type strains NCN246, T1P11, and T11-76 (Fig. 27, indicated with an arrow). Five other protein spots were also isolated for sequence determination (Fig. 26). Two of these spots (Fig. 26, spots 1 and 2) were chosen because they were spatially close to the area in which I believed Tom40 would be located from Western analysis, and were thus candidate spots for the Tom40 protein (Fig. 25). The other three spots (Fig. 26, 4,7 and 8) were chosen because of apparent differences in the amounts of these proteins between the non-induced and chloramphenicol induced cultures (Fig. 26; Fig. 27; see below).

Since it appeared that the 2-D gel technique would allow visualization and identification of proteins from *N. crassa* mitochondria, I proceeded with this analysis. The three alternative oxidase wild-type strains NCN246, T1P11 and T11-76 were analyzed, and will eventually serve as controls for all the isolated mutant strains. I chose to analyze three phenotypically different mutant strains: an *aod-1* mutant strain, an *aod-2* mutant strain, and the *chl-1* mutant strain that exhibited a resistance to chloramphenicol. Visual inspection of the gels from non-induced cultures of strains NCN246, T1P11, T11-76, *aod-2*, and *chl-1* revealed no obvious differences (Fig. 27). The gels of the chloramphenicol induced samples from these strains are also visually indistinguishable except that the gels from *aod-1*, *aod-2*, and the *chl-1* strain do not have AOD1 protein (Fig. 27). Though no gross alterations were observed, changes in poorly resolved proteins or weakly stained spots would not be identified by visual inspection.

On the other hand, comparison of silver stained gels between non-induced and chloramphenicol induced cultures did reveal that growth in the presence of chloramphenicol resulted in several obvious differences in mitochondrial proteins in both wild-type and mutant strains (Fig. 27). Sequencing information obtained using MALDI-TOF analysis was performed to identify spots that were obviously different between the two growth conditions. Other protein spots that differ in intensity between the two growth conditions were detected but were not analyzed here. The amounts of others may also vary but were not identified by visual inspection.

Two protein spots appeared darker in the non-induced samples compared to the chloramphenicol induced samples of all the strains analyzed (Fig. 26, spots 4 and 8; Fig. 27). One of these is the HEX-1 protein (Fig. 26, spot 4) of *N. crassa*, which is a major

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



171

A

B

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



B







B

A



B

A

component of Woronin bodies that plug septal openings between cells when hyphae are damaged to prevent the catastrophic loss of cytoplasm from the syncytium (Tenney *et al.*, 2000; Jedd and Chua, 2000). The HEX-1 protein has a peroxisomal targeting signal and fractionates with these dense organelles, not mitochondria. The reproducible presence of this protein in the purified mitochondrial preparations could be a contaminant or it could indicate that HEX-1 also localizes to mitochondria. It is unclear why levels of this protein would be reduced by growth in the presence of chloramphenicol.

Another protein identified was comparatively darker in the non-induced gels of all the strains examined (Fig. 26, spot 8; Fig. 27). This spot was shown to have sequence similarity to a ribonucleotide-diphosphate reductase small chain from *Streptomyces lipmanii* (Borovok *et al.*, 2002). Ribonucleotide reductases accept electrons from thioredoxin or glutaredoxin at a diferric center, and use these electrons to reduce ribonucleotides to deoxyribonucleotides (Jordan and Reichard, 1998; Borovok *et al.*, 2002). It is interesting that conditions that induce alternative oxidase, an enzyme that has been theorized to provide protection against ROS (see section 1.8), results in a reduced amount of a protein that uses the electrons carried by two proteins also involved in protection from ROS (Carmel-Harel and Storz, 2000). Conceivably, ribonucleotide reductase levels could be reduced to allow for an increase in the ROS-protective activities of thioredoxin and glutaredoxin.

A third spot is darker under inducing conditions compared to non-inducing conditions for all the strains examined (Fig. 26, spot 7; Fig. 27). This spot was shown to have sequence similarity to an alcohol dehydrogenase from *Xanthomonas axonopodis* (da Silva *et al.*, 2002) and a glutathione-S-transferase-like protein from *Galleria mellonella* (Li *et al.*, 2002). Glutathione-S-transferases in plants have been shown to be induced by oxidative stress and may catalyze the addition of glutathione to ROS damaged metabolites (Edwards *et al.*, 2000; Marrs, 2002). If this protein is a glutathione-S-transferase, then it could be upregulated in response to increased levels of ROS when chloramphenicol is present.

4 Discussion and Future Work

4.1 Role of the upstream CRE in regulating alternative oxidase

CREs are *cis*-acting regulatory sequences found in a variety of organisms that respond to cAMP levels in the cell and control the expression of a variety of genes (Habener et al., 1995; Montminy, 1997). Both the human MnSOD (Kim et al., 1999) and cytochrome c (Gopalakrishnan and Scarpulla, 1994; Herzig et al., 2000) genes contain CREs in their promoters. Activation of the CRE binding protein (CREB) causes increased transcription of these genes. Thus, CREs are known to be involved in regulating the expression of nuclear encoded mitochondrial proteins. Mitochondrial dysfunction in human cell cultures resulting from loss of mtDNA, or inhibition with a variety of drugs such as antimycin A, oligomycin (a complex V inhibitor) or carbonyl cyanide *p*-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP; an uncoupler of hydrogen ion pumping to electron flow) has been shown to cause phosphorylation of a CREB (Arnould et al., 2002). The phospho-CREB was then able to localize to the nucleus and drive transcription of the CRE regulated c-fos gene and a reporter system consisting of several CRE sites upstream of a luciferase gene. CREs are also known to be used as regulatory elements in N. crassa since the circadian rhythm regulated, glucose repressible gene ccg-1/grg-1 contains an upstream CRE that regulates its transcription (Wang et al., 1994).

The upstream region of the *N. crassa aod-1* gene contains a consensus CRE sequence (Li *et al.*, 1996), as do the alternative oxidase genes from *A. nidulans*, *Gelasinospora spp.* (Tanton *et al.*, 2003) and *M. grisea* (Yukioka *et al.*, 1998a). We were interested in determining if the *N. crassa aod-1* CRE was similarly involved in regulating gene expression.

When this project was begun, gel retardation assays had recently revealed that a protein bound to the *aod-1* CRE of *N. crassa* (now published in Tanton *et al.*, 2003). In an attempt to isolate the CRE binding protein, I tried to develop a yeast one hybrid screen. However, a reporter construct carrying four tandem copies of the CRE upstream of the yeast *HIS3* gene showed such high levels of leaky reporter expression when introduced into the yeast strain that the screen could not be done. It is likely that *S. cerevisiae* contains a protein that bound the *N. crassa* CRE sequence and induced

expression of the reporter. For instance, the *S. cerevisiae* CREB protein Sko1p has been shown to bind a CRE motif (Nehlin *et al.*, 1992) and could have bound our reporter.

Because of the possible role of the CRE in regulating *aod-1* expression, I also characterized the respiration of a number strains of N. crassa with mutations known to affect cAMP signaling pathway(s). The colonial temperature sensitive gene cot-1 is a member of the PKA family and was required for regulation of hyphal elongation, possibly in response to blue light (Yarden et al., 1992; Lauter et al., 1998). Shifting a temperature sensitive allele of *cot-1* to the restrictive temperature caused cells to develop abnormal mitochondrial morphologies (Gorovits et al., 2000). The cAMP dependent protein kinase *cpk* mutation caused PKA kinase activity to become cAMP independent (Murayama *et al.*, 1985). The microcycle blastoconidiation *mcb* gene has homology to a regulatory subunit of PKA and a mutant strain showed a loss of growth polarity (Bruno et al., 1996). Finally, the adenylate cyclase cr-1 mutant strain made little to no endogenous cAMP (Pall et al., 1981). I tested each of these strains for alternative oxidase activity in the presence and absence of chloramphenicol and found that none of the cAMP signaling pathway mutations affected regulation of alternative oxidase. With respect to cr-1, my results concur with a previous study, which also showed that induction of alternative oxidase is unaffected in a cr-1 mutant strain (Pall et al., 1981). Thus, none of these known components of cAMP signaling pathways affect the regulation of *aod-1* in N. crassa.

Later studies in the lab eventually showed that deletion of the CRE did not affect alternative oxidase production under non-inducing conditions or in response to induction by chloramphenicol (Tanton *et al.*, 2003). Thus, the CRE is not required for regulation of *aod-1* expression in response to growth in the presence of chloramphenicol. It is possible that the CRE may play a role in regulation of *aod-1* transcription in response to other signals that could result from unknown stresses or specific effects on individual oxidative phosphorylation components.

4.2 Possible involvement of two-component or retrograde signaling pathways

As discussed in section 1.10.1, regulation of the expression of nuclear encoded mitochondrial proteins could involve a two-component signaling pathway similar to the

stress response two-component pathways found in bacterial and other fungal species. The *N. crassa os-1/nik-1* gene was isolated based on homology to the histidine kinase twocomponent osmosensors of bacteria and yeast (Alex *et al.*, 1996; Schumacher *et al.*, 1997). Mutant strains failed to properly assemble the cell wall and were therefore unable to adapt to increased osmotic pressure. Despite the homology of the histidine kinase domains of *S. cerevisiae sln1* and *N. crassa os-1*, *os-1* was not predicted to have membrane spanning domains. Instead *os-1* had an N-terminal hydrophobic region and may therefore be targeted to the ER or to mitochondria (Schumacher *et al.*, 1997). I tested the alternative oxidase activity of an *os-1* mutant strain to determine if this twocomponent histidine kinase was involved in the signaling pathway responsible for *aod-1* induction. I found that respiration of the *os-1* mutant strain was indistinguishable from wild-type following growth under non-inducing conditions or in the presence of chloramphenicol.

It is also possible that *N. crassa* contains a signaling pathway with homology to the retrograde regulation pathway of *S. cerevisiae* (see section 1.10.3) that modulates nuclear gene expression in response to mitochondrial dysfunction. Using a BLAST search engine, I compared the Rtg1p, Rtg2p and Rtg3p amino acid sequences to the *N. crassa* database (assembly version 2, Galagan *et al.*, 2003) and retrieved a putative *RTG2* orthologue. The *N. crassa rtg-2* gene was mutagenized through the process of RIP, and *rtg-2* mutant strains were obtained (M. Chae and F. Nargang, personal communications). Preliminary results suggest that regulation of alternative oxidase activity in these strains is unaffected.

4.3 Tyrosinase reporter system

Previous attempts to identify *aod-1* regulatory components had shown a bias towards isolation of mutations in the alternative oxidase structural gene (see section 1.11). To avoid this partiality, I developed a reporter system using a 3.3 kbp upstream region of *aod-1* fused to the coding sequence for the enzyme tyrosinase. The tyrosinase reporter construct pBAT was introduced into strain T1P11, producing the reporter strain T11-76. Growth of this strain in the presence or absence of chloramphenicol clearly demonstrated that expression of the tyrosinase reporter was controlled in a manner

similar to *aod-1* gene expression. Colonies of the reporter strains grown in the presence of chloramphenicol, an inducer of *aod-1* gene expression, turned brown within five hours of the addition of the tyrosine solution, while colonies grown under non-inducing conditions remained white. This was the first successful reporter system designed in the lab, and the ability of this reporter to mimic *aod-1* induction was the first step in delineating the functional *aod-1* promoter, as the 3.3 kbp upstream region cloned into pBAT contains the necessary *cis*-acting regulatory sequences responsible for *aod-1* induction by chloramphenicol.

Later work revealed that 250 bp of *aod-1* upstream sequence were sufficient to regulate chloramphenicol induction of an $aod-1^+$ transgene in an aod-1 mutant background (Tanton et al., 2003). The entire aod-1 promoter region could be limited to this 250 bp region. Alternatively, it is possible that further upstream sequences, perhaps including the CRE, are required for regulation of *aod-1* gene expression in response to other treatments or conditions. A new tyrosinase reporter strain with a construct carrying only these 250 bp fused to the tyrosinase coding sequence could be made. This strain, the reporter strain T11-76, and the *aod-1* mutant strain carrying the transgene with only 250 bp of upstream sequence could all be compared for induction of alternative oxidase activity and/or reporter activity during growth in the presence of inhibitors that block electron flow at specific complexes or other stresses, such as temperature, hydrogen peroxide, or different carbon sources. Conceivably, expression of *aod-1* in response to failure of distinct complexes or other stresses could occur through the same *cis*-acting regulatory site(s) as chloramphenicol induction, or through distinct sequences. Mutations in nuclear encoded proteins involved in oxidative phosphorylation could also be crossed into these strains to see if they affect transgenic *aod-1* or reporter gene expression. It is interesting to note that while the *aod-2* mutant strain does not induce *aod-1* expression in response to chloramphenicol or antimycin A, overgrowth of the strain in the presence of chloramphenicol can eventually cause the appearance of cyanide-insensitive respiration (H. Bertrand, personal communication; data not shown). This induction might be construed as evidence that overgrowth of the fungus stimulates another regulatory pathway that is able to induce *aod-1* expression, and perhaps this pathway acts via a different regulatory pathway than induction by chloramphenicol.

4.4 Characterization of the tyrosinase RIP allele

Early in this study, considerable confusion resulted from the use of the T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 strains in the tyrosinase plate assay because they usually remained white during the first hours of the assay, but often turned brown within 1 day of the addition of exogenous tyrosine. At first I believed that this colour change was due to leaky expression from the RIPed T gene. However, the rate of colour change was similar to that seen for the T^+ strain NCN10, suggesting that the level of this putative leaky expression was about the same as levels of endogenous expression. These ambiguous observations, together with the inability to isolate mutants using these strains with the reporter construct, led me to characterize the supposedly RIPed T gene in strains T1P11, T1P11P08 and T1P11P13.

Strain T1P11 was the direct result of a cross designed mutate the T gene by RIP, and strains T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 were progeny of a T1P11 back-cross (S. Free, personal communication). Therefore, all three strains should have carried the same RIP mutations. However, sequencing revealed that only strain T1P11 carries a RIPed allele of the T gene.

The sequenced region of the T1P11 T gene had 89 characteristic RIP base transition mutations that caused 39 missense and 3 nonsense changes to the predicted tyrosinase amino acid sequence. The first non-sense codon truncated the 407 amino acid mature tyrosinase protein to only 72 amino acids. Since this truncation removes one of the conserved copper binding domains (Seo *et al.*, 2003), this mutation most likely destroys tyrosinase activity. In addition, genes affected by RIP are often not transcribed (Rountree and Selker, 1997), so it is unlikely that the RIPed T gene in T1P11 is expressed. The T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 T sequences were identical with each other and showed no evidence of RIP. Apparently these strains did not inherit the RIPed copy of Tfrom T1P11, but rather inherited a T^+ allele from the other parent strain.

The sequences obtained for the strains were compared with those published for strains OR (74-OR8-1*a*; FGSC #988) and TS (69-1113; FGSC #2963; Kupper *et al.*, 1989), and for strain 74-OR23-1VA (FGSC #2489) published on the Whitehead database (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003). The

T1P11P08, T1P11P13, and Whitehead sequences had identity with the OR sequence at seven of eight polymorphic sites between strains OR and TS, while T1P11 had identity with the OR sequence at five of the polymorphic sites. The nucleotide sequence at these polymorphic sites supports the idea that T1P11P08 and T1P11P13 inherited the T allele from the wild-type parent during the back-cross rather than from T1P11. This notion could be confirmed if the T gene from the wild-type parent that was originally crossed to T1P11 were to be sequenced and compared to T1P11 and the offspring.

The T1P11, T1P11P08, T1P11P13, and Whitehead DNA sequences all contained a novel polymorphism at base +1327 that did not alter the amino acid sequence of the protein. The reported nucleotide sequences at this position were not polymorphic between strains OR and TS (Kupper et al., 1989). The T1P11, T1P11P08, T1P11P13, and Whitehead DNA sequences also contained a single base insertion at + 2248 relative to the original OR and TS reported sequences that changed the reading frame, replacing the last 26 amino acids of the published TS and OR sequences with 90 amino acids. It is unlikely that the two differences are due to sequencing errors reported in this thesis since they are present in all three of the strains that I sequenced and in the Whitehead sequence. The polymorphic site and the insertion could be natural variants of the T gene, or the previously published sequences for strains OR and TS could contain sequencing errors. The insertion occurs after the C-terminal site of cleavage for tyrosinase maturation and would not affect the amino acid sequence of the mature protein. Indeed, the amino acid sequence of the mature protein was determined by analysis of chemical cleavage products (Lerch, 1978; Lerch et al., 1982), and this sequence correlated with the amino acid sequence predicted from the T gene sequence (Kupper et al., 1989). The antibody developed against the C-terminal region (Kupper et al., 1990b) would still be expected to recognize a 183 amino acid portion of the C-terminal cleaved region that occurs before the site of insertion. The predicted molecular weight for the published OR and TS protyrosinase polypeptides was 68.6 kDa, while the predicted molecular weight for the translation product of the Whitehead sequence with the single base insertion was 75.8 kDa. Western blotting revealed tyrosinase bands approximately 75, 52 and 46 kDa in size (Kupper et al., 1990b), and in vitro translation of the T mRNA gave a single translation product of about 75 kDa in weight (Kupper et al., 1989). These observations support the

suggestion that the C-terminus of protyrosinase does indeed contain the novel 90 amino acids rather than the published 26 amino acids. This suggestion could be confirmed by directly sequencing the 75kDa tyrosinase precursor polypeptide.

4.5 Analysis of the mutagenic approaches

Two methods were used to generate mutant strains that did not properly induce alternative oxidase. The first method involved directly plating the mutagenized conidia of the reporter strain on chloramphenicol containing media, while the second included an enrichment for mutant conidia by selecting for a lack of growth in antimycin A. The two methods yielded 18 mutant strains, 6 from the first method and 12 from the second.

A comparison of the two methods revealed that the first was approximately 5000 fold more effective than the second in producing isolated mutant strains from a given number of conidia treated (see section 3.8.1; Table 9). The first method yielded 6 mutant strains out of 183, 500 conidia treated or about 3×10^{-3} %, while the second method generated 12 mutants out of 1.8 x 10^9 condia treated or about 7 x 10^{-7} %. One possible reason for this relatively large difference in effectiveness is that conidia containing aod-1 regulatory mutations could have been lost in the second approach during the filtration step, which removes any growing, germinating conidia. Ungerminated conidia could have been caught in growing and branching hyphal strands extending from other conidia and removed from the culture inadvertently. Recessive mutations could also be lost if mutant conidia fused with wild-type conidia, creating a heterokaryon that could properly induce alternative oxidase and grow despite the presence of antimycin A. These fusion events are minimized by agitation of the culture (Davis, 2000), but the four days of growth in liquid culture could give an increased opportunity for heterokaryon formation. In addition, it is possible that *aod-1* regulatory mutant conidia did not survive the four days in antimycin A containing media, as a loss of viability over an enriching starvation period can occur (Davis, 2000).

Although the first method is more effective at generating *aod-1* regulatory mutant strains from a given number of EMS treated conidia, the second method allows a larger number of EMS treated conidia to be screened with much less effort. On average, an evaluation of the colour of colonies from a tyrosinase plate assay took eight hours when

screening the large numbers of colonies derived using the first method, but less than one hour when screening the small numbers of colonies remaining after the enrichment of the second method. Thus, the second approach was less labour-intensive because the majority of the EMS treated conidia, which would not have contained a mutation affecting reporter expression, were able to grow in antimycin A containing media and were removed by filtration.

The second method also involved picking fewer colonies, as 8% of the initially treated conidia were picked as white colonies when the first method was used while only 6×10^{-6} % of the treated conidia were picked with the second method. Therefore, fewer strains had to be re-tested with the tyrosinase plate assay and characterized for their respiratory phenotype. Using the second method, we picked less than one tenth the number of white colonies picked during screening with the first method, and yet isolated double the number of mutant strains. Overall, the likelihood of isolating an *aod-1* regulatory mutant strain from a white colony picked during the initial tyrosinase plate assay was about 27 fold higher with the second method than the first. This increase in efficiency must be due to the filtration enrichment step.

In addition, a number of false positive strains that remained white during the plate assay but did not contain a mutation affecting the regulation of *aod-1* were found using both methods. However, fewer white colonies and fewer false positives were isolated with the second approach as compared to the first. Of 183, 500 conidia screened with the first method, 140 (8 x 10^{-2} %) were false positives, while of 1.8 x 10^{9} conidia screened with the second method, 30 (2 x 10^{-6} %) were false positives. Thus, the second method was 40, 000 fold more effective in removing false positive strains. As expected, the enrichment method removed false positive strains, as these strains would be able to properly induce alternative oxidase in antimycin A containing media and grow.

For both methods combined there were a total of 170 strains that had been picked based on the initial white colony colour, remained white during the subsequent second tyrosinase plate assay, but were able to produce cyanide-insensitive respiration when grown in the presence of chloramphenicol. These false positives from our mutagenesis screen could be the results of mutations to the integrated reporter construct itself. Mutations in the reporter T gene or the 3.3 kbp *aod-1* upstream region could affect

inducible tyrosinase activity, preventing the colour change from occurring during the plate assay. It is unlikely, however, that all 170 strains contain mutations to the reporter construct. Other possibilities include mutations to factors involved in protyrosinase maturation, or in the uptake of tyrosine, although such factors have not yet been identified.

4.6 Isolation of alternative oxidase regulatory mutants

Using the first mutagenic method, six putative *aod-1* regulatory mutants were isolated: *E1*, *E2*, *E3*, *E4*, *E7* and *E15*. Mutations *E1* and *E15* represented two new complementation groups called *aod-4* and *aod-7* that were involved in the regulation of *aod-1* (this study; I. Cleary and F. Nargang, personal communication). Mutation *E2* was the only allele of the *chl-1* gene isolated and appears to be the first chloramphenicol resistant mutation isolated in *N. crassa* (Perkins *et al.*, 2001). Mutation *E3* seemed to be an allele of *aod-2* from complementation and mapping studies. The second method generated twelve putative *aod-1* regulatory mutants: *E5*, *E6*, *E8*, *E9*, *E10*, *E11*, *E12*, *E13*, *E14*, *E16*, *E17*, and *E18*. While mutations *E8*, *E9*, *E11*, *E13*, and *E14* were all allelic to the *E1* mutation and fell into the *aod-4* complementation group, mutations *E10* and *E12* represented two more complementation groups involved in *aod-1* regulation called *aod-5* and *aod-6* (this study; I. Cleary and F. Nargang, personal communication). Mutations *E4*, *E5*, *E6*, *E7*, *E16*, *E17*, and *E18* have not yet been fully characterized.

In crosses of the mutant strains to various auxotrophic and mapping strains, the regulatory mutations were all inherited in a Mendelian fashion, demonstrating that the mutations are in nuclear encoded genes. Ideally, the mutant strains obtained would have been back-crossed several times to a wild-type strain before characterization insure that the effects on alternative oxidase regulation were due to a single mutation. This would have also minimized the possibility that the mutant strains carried secondary mutations that could have affected growth, cytochrome spectra, or other characteristics of each strain. However, time constraints made more than one or two back-crosses impractical. Strains carrying each of the characterized mutations were able to complement strains with mutations from other complementation groups, demonstrating that none of the mutations were dominant.

In total, four novel complementation groups that regulate *aod-1* expression have been isolated by our mutagenesis and selection schemes. Both approaches resulted in the isolation of a similar number of novel complementation groups, although the second method clearly showed a bias towards isolation of mutations in *aod-4*. Only the *aod-4* complementation group had multiple alleles isolated, suggesting that our screen for *aod-1* regulatory components has not been saturated. Perhaps the *aod-4* locus is a hotspot for EMS mutagenesis. The other regulatory loci may also have partial redundancy with one another, *aod-2*, or other as yet unidentified loci, such that only certain mutations within these genes that have a drastic effect on gene function would alter *aod-1* regulation. Another possibility is that *aod-4* mutations are more tolerable in the fungus because the aod-4 gene product is relatively less important for overall function and survival. The other gene products could be essential, so that the mutations that were isolated at a comparatively low frequency at these loci might have only partially affected gene function, allowing the strains to survive but perturbing *aod-1* regulation. Characterization of the gene products of the loci that were mutagenized may provide insight into why the *aod-4* complementation group has been isolated with a relatively high frequency.

Previous studies using UV radiation (Edwards *et al.*, 1976) or *N*- methyl-*N*-nitro-*N*-nitrosoguanidine (MNNG; Bertrand *et al.*, 1983) with subsequent incubation in liquid media containing antimycin A to enrich for alternative oxidase mutants failed to identify the four new regulatory genes described in the present study. The first screen produced six regulatory mutations, three of which were placed in the *aod-1* complementation group (Edwards *et al.*, 1976; Bertrand *et al.*, 1983). Perhaps the other three mutations belong to one or more of the four complementation groups affecting alternative oxidase expression that we have isolated. The mutagenic agent used may also have affected the bias of mutations that were obtained. UV radiation can cause single base pair changes, frameshifts of one to several base pairs, deletions, or chromosomal rearrangements in *N. crassa* (Davis and de Serres, 1970). MNNG causes transition mutations, predominantly AT to GC substitutions, while EMS causes both transition mutations, predominantly GC to AT, and frameshift mutations. The use of EMS instead of UV or MNNG could possibly have facilitated the mutagenesis of our novel regulatory genes.

In addition, the first method involving directly plating EMS treated conidia may have allowed isolation of mutants that were not obtainable in the previous screens. Plating of the conidia immediately after mutagenesis may have allowed strains that would have died in liquid media due to an intolerance of starvation over the enrichment time (see section 4.5) to instead survive on solid media. The second method described in this thesis was based on removal of conidia able to grow in the presence of antimycin A by filtration. However, the original screens utilized inositoless death as an enrichment technique, whereby inositol requiring cells growing and dividing in media lacking inositol burst due to an inability to correctly synthesize the cell wall (Edwards *et al.*, 1976; Bertrand *et al.*, 1983). Mutagenesis of this strain and incubation in media lacking inositol and containing antimycin A caused those cells able to induce alternative oxidase activity. Perhaps the *inl* strain was more sensitive than strain T11-76 to the effects of the mutations that I have isolated and could not survive carrying mutant alleles at these novel loci.

Despite the possibilities listed above, the most likely reason for our isolation of additional alternative oxidase regulatory mutants is the use of the reporter system. Previous methods that relied on a loss of alternative oxidase function clearly led to a bias towards mutations of the structural gene. Perhaps these *aod-1* mutations caused a stronger phenotype than the regulatory mutations and so were isolated with higher frequency.

4.7 Growth rates of isolated mutant strains

Analysis of the growth rates revealed that growth of the *aod-4* mutant strain EN195-109 on non-inducing media at 30°C reduced the growth rate compared to alternative oxidase wild-type strains. Strangely, the growth rate at 30°C was not further reduced by the addition of chloramphenicol, such that the strain grew at a similar rate both with and without chloramphenicol. However, this delayed growth was not seen at room temperature, where growth of EN195-109 on non-inducing media was similar to the rates of the control strains and faster than growth in the presence of chloramphenicol. The *E1* mutation could produce a temperature sensitive effect, causing the *aod-4* gene

product to be less functional at 30°C than at room temperature. However, temperature sensitivity would not explain why the effect of increasing the temperature of growth and adding the inhibitor chloramphenicol were not additive, and there was no further reduction in the strain's growth rate in the presence of chloramphenicol at 30°C. Perhaps the effects of the E1 mutation at 30°C mimic some of the effects of growth in the presence of chloramphenicol so that there is no additive effect. The reduced growth rate in non-inducing conditions could be due to decreased levels of cytochromes aa_3 and b (see section 4.8). However, if this were the case, then the further reduction in the levels of these cytochromes that was seen when the strain was grown in the presence of chloramphenicol would be expected to further reduce the growth rate. A trivial explanation for the inability to see a difference in growth rate between non-induced and chloramphenicol induced cultures could be that the race tubes only measure the rate of elongation and not mycelial mass. Thus, the mass of the culture in the non-induced race tube could be more than that in the chloramphenicol containing race tube. This hypothesis could be tested by obtaining growth data from the mass of mycelia generated during growth of liquid cultures. Other mutations of the *aod-4* complementation group have not been tested for growth rate, though it is known that these strains were also deficient in cytochromes aa_3 and b following growth at 30°C (see section 4.8).

Strains carrying the *chl-1 E2* allele had reduced growth rates at both 30°C and room temperature under all conditions compared to the control strains. This reduced rate could be due to the *E2* mutation itself or to some secondary mutation(s) at other loci. However, comparison of the growth rate of *E2* mutant strain EN294-46 with its *E2* mutant progeny strain E2a-119 revealed that both strains had a reduced growth rate (data not shown). Both strains also exhibited a severely reduced growth rate compared to the initial growth rate after about 7 days of growth at room temperature in the presence of chloramphenicol. It is difficult to explain why a mutation that imparts resistance to the effects of chloramphenicol would also lead to reduced viability in its presence. Perhaps the procedure through which these mutant stains provide resistance to chloramphenicol causes a toxic byproduct to be generated or exhausts the cellular supply of a metabolite, which could lead to a decrease in viability over time.

4.8 Cytochrome spectra of isolated mutant strains

Cytochrome spectra for the mutant strains were obtained from cultures grown at 30°C. The non-induced culture of the *aod-4* strain EN195-109 (carrying the *E1* allele) contained reduced levels of cytochromes aa_3 and b as compared to the other strains, though the levels were higher than in control strains grown in the presence of chloramphenicol. The reduced levels of these cytochromes may explain the reduced growth rate of strain EN195-109 relative to control strains (see section 4.7). Other strains in the aod-4 complementation group, including the E8, E9, E11, and E14 alleles, also showed this reduction in levels of cytochromes aa_3 and b under non-inducing conditions (data not shown; I. Cleary and F. Nargang, personal communication). Thus, the decrease in these cytochromes in the E1 mutant is not allele specific, but occurs in other isolated aod-4 mutant strains. The aod-7 mutant strain also exhibited reduced levels of cytochromes *aa*₃ and *b* in non-inducing conditions, while strains carrying mutations in the aod-1, aod-2, aod-5 or aod-6 complementation groups had wild-type spectra (see section 3.12; I. Cleary and F. Nargang, personal communication). The decrease in cytochromes suggests that the mutations in the *aod-4* gene may not only affect alternative oxidase regulation, but may also affect gene products required for proper synthesis or assembly of the cytochrome respiratory pathway.

The strain carrying the *E2* mutation was the only strain in which growth in the presence of chloramphenicol did not affect the cytochrome spectra. In addition, this strain did not induce alternative oxidase in the presence chloramphenicol, but did in the presence of antimycin A. Taken together, these observations led to the conclusion that this mutation causes the strain to be chloramphenicol resistant.

4.9 The chloramphenicol resistance gene *chl-1*

As described above, the E2 mutation was the only mutation isolated that showed differential expression of *aod-1* in response to chloramphenicol versus antimycin A and has been classified as a chloramphenicol resistant mutation. Since the levels of cytochromes aa_3 and b were not reduced when this strain was grown in chloramphenicol, there was likely no respiratory deficiency under this condition, which would explain why alternative oxidase was not induced by this treatment. Furthermore, the strain was able to induce alternative oxidase in response to growth in the presence of antimycin A. Strains carrying the *E2* mutation were able to complement all the strains tested, so *E2* is the only isolated mutation of this complementation group. To date, there are no known nuclear or mitochondrial encoded chloramphenicol resistance markers in *N. crassa* (J. Chalmers and D. Perkins, personal communication).

mtDNA mutations have been isolated that cause chloramphenicol resistance in *A. nidulans* (Gunatilleke *et al.*, 1975), *P. anserina* (Belcour and Begel, 1977), and *S. cerevisiae* (Waxman *et al.*, 1979). Chloramphenicol inhibits bacterial and mitochondrial translation by binding to the ribosome and preventing the association of tRNA with the A site, thereby blocking peptidyl transfer (Schlünzen *et al.*, 2001). These fungal chloramphenicol resistant mitochondrial mutations could affect the rRNA genes encoded in the mtDNA. Mutations in the 23S rRNA gene of *E. coli* (Vester and Garrett, 1988) or of *Halobacterium halobium* (Mankin and Garrett, 1991), or in the mtDNA encoded 16S rRNA gene of mice (Howell and Lee, 1989) have been shown to cause chloramphenicol resistance. However, the *E2* mutation is in a nuclear encoded gene because it segregated in a Mendelian fashion.

Chloramphenicol resistance in several bacterial species has also been shown to be due to chloramphenicol efflux pumps, phosphotransferases, or acetyltransferases (Schlünzen *et al.*, 2001). Chloramphenicol producing *Streptomyces venezuelae* uses a chloramphenicol 3'-*O*-phosphotransferase to modify and inactivate chloramphenicol (Mosher *et al.*, 1995; Izard and Ellis, 2000; Izard, 2001). Many other bacterial species use a chloramphenicol acetyltransferase to inactivate chloramphenicol (Murray and Shaw, 1997). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and other bacterial contain three-component multidrug efflux pumps that can export chloramphenicol (Bissonnette *et al.*, 1991; Hancock and Speert, 2000). Interestingly, expression of a glucose transporter in the fungus *C. albicans* is linked to drug resistance (Varma *et al.*, 2000). The *E2* mutation could be involved in activating one of these systems in *N. crassa*.

4.10 Alternative oxidase expression

Previous Northern analysis has revealed that induction of alternative oxidase activity in wild-type cells by growth in the presence of chloramphenicol or antimycin A caused an increase in the steady state levels of *aod-1* mRNA (Li *et al.*, 1996; Tanton *et al.*, 2003; this study). Nuclear run-on assays showed that non-induced wild-type cultures constitutively expressed *aod-1* at a low level, and treatment with antimycin A caused an increase in the amount of transcription (Tanton *et al.*, 2003). Thus, regulation of *aod-1* expression under normal conditions and in response to inducing treatments occurs at the level of the transcript, through increased transcription of the gene and possibly increased stability of the mRNA. Northern blots of non-induced cultures usually show little to no *aod-1* mRNA accumulation, and Western blots of these non-induced cultures show no protein (Li *et al.*, 1996; Tanton *et al.*, 2003; this study). The lack of AOD1 protein in non-induced cultures suggests that *aod-1* regulation also occurs post-transcriptionally, by reducing the stability of the small amount of constitutively expressed mRNA, and/or by preventing its translation.

Unexpectedly, we found that non-induced cultures of the *T* mutant strain T1P11 and the reporter strain T11-76 contain variable steady state levels of *aod-1* mRNA. Unusually high levels of *aod-1* mRNA have been seen occasionally in uninduced cultures of other alternative oxidase wild-type strains (Tanton *et al.*, 2003) but never as consistently as in strains T1P11 and T11-76. In all cases where *aod-1* mRNA has been found in non-induced cultures, no alternative oxidase activity nor AOD1 protein has been detected (this study; Tanton *et al.*, 2003). Again, this suggests that *aod-1* expression is regulated post-transcriptionally, and directly implies control at the translational level.

Strains T1P11 and T11-76 could have a higher level of constitutive *aod-1* transcription than wild-type. Alternatively, these strains may have a reduced rate of degradation that allows the steady state *aod-1* mRNA level to become higher than in other alternative oxidase wild-type strains. The possibility that the accumulation of mRNA in non-induced cultures is due to the tyrosinase null mutation has been ruled out by demonstrating that the *T* mutation does not co-segregate with the accumulation of *aod-1* mRNA (K. Lam and F. Nargang, personal communication). Therefore, an unknown gene is responsible for this phenotype.

The aberrant accumulation of *aod-1* mRNA in these strains had not been discovered before we decided to use the tyrosinase reporter system. Although we have been able to isolate regulatory mutations using these strains, it is possible that the

background of constitutively high accumulation of *aod-1* mRNA could have precluded the isolation of weaker regulatory mutations. That is, a weak mutation could theoretically cause an inability to induce alternative oxidase expression in a different strain, but if the reason for accumulation of *aod-1* mRNA in the background and reporter strains is due to increased transcription, a weak regulatory mutation might not have a pronounced affect on induction. On the other hand, we have observed no aod-1 transcript in the aod-4, aod-5 and *aod*-7 mutant strains isolated using the T11-76 reporter system (see section 3.13; I. Cleary and F. Nargang, personal communication). Thus, the mutants either prevent aod-1 transcription or increase the level of an aod-1 mRNA degradation system under both noninducing and inducing conditions. Nuclear run-on assays of the alternative oxidase regulatory mutant strains grown under non-inducing and inducing conditions could determine if the effects are at the transcriptional or post-transcriptional level. Nevertheless, mutations affecting alternative oxidase expression have been isolated, which was the desired result at the outset of the study. The accumulation of aod-1 mRNA in the reporter strain under non-inducing conditions has not precluded the goal of this study from being reached.

4.11 Mapping and rescue of isolated mutations

Genetic mapping placed mutations *E1* and *E11* from the *aod-4* complementation group on the right arm of linkage group V, with 1-35% recombination with the marker *inl*. Recombination frequencies for different regions of the genome have been reported to vary up to ten fold if the crosses involved used strains with different genetic backgrounds (Perkins and Bojko, 1992; Davis, 2000). Several genes in the *uvs-6* epistasis group are involved in the recombinational repair system in *N. crassa*, and mutations in some of these genes, such as *mei-2* and *mei-3*, can reduce meiotic recombination and increase the frequency of chromosomal non-disjunction (Perkins *et al.*, 2001). However, the decrease in recombination frequency seen is accompanied by a high percentage of inviable and white spores from the cross. Aside from crosses involving the *alcoy* strain, which contains multiple chromosomal translocations, I did not observe a high proportion of inviable spores during the mapping crosses. Thus, it is unlikely that different alleles of

genes involved in genome wide recombination caused the wide range in recombination frequencies seen in the mapping crosses for the *E1* and *E11* mutations.

Several genes and *cis*-acting sequences have been implicated in affecting recombination at specific loci or regions of the N. crassa genome (Catcheside and Corcoran, 1973; Catcheside, 1974b; Catcheside, 1986). Different alleles of these genes and sequences have been found in different natural isolates of N. crassa. Inheritance of different alleles of the rec-1 gene caused an eight fold variation in recombination frequency between alleles of *nit-2* (linkage group I; Catcheside, 1970), up to a thirty fold range in recombination frequency between alleles of his-1 (linkage group V; Jessop and Catcheside, 1965; Catcheside and Austin, 1969), and a two fold variation in recombination frequency between asp and ad-7 (linkage group V; Catcheside, 1974a). Similarly, the rec-2 gene affected the recombination frequency between alleles of his-3 by five fold (linkage group I; Angel et al., 1970), between arg-3 and sn by two fold (linkage group I; Catcheside and Corcoran, 1973), between his-3 and ad-3A by four fold (linkage group I; Catcheside, 1979), and between pyr-3 and leu-2 by up to ten fold (linkage group IV; Catcheside and Corcoran, 1973). The *rec-3* gene affected the recombination frequency between alleles of his-2 by eight fold, between sn and his-2 by twenty fold (linkage group I; Catcheside and Corcoran, 1973), and two different alleles of rec-3 affected recombination frequency at the am locus up to twenty-five fold (linkage group V; Catcheside 1975). The cis-acting sequence cog modulated the effect of rec-2 on recombination between *his-3* alleles by six fold, which meant that together, *rec-2* and *cog* affected recombination in this region by about 30 fold (Angel et al., 1970). Heterozygosity between the strains in the cross at another *cis*-acting region, *ss*, affected recombination between alleles of *nit-2* between two and twenty fold (Catcheside, 1981). In combination, the ss sequence and rec-1 affected recombination in this region by about 100 fold. Unfortunately, not all lab stock strains have been characterized for their alleles at the *rec* loci, nor we do not know the genetic background of a number of the strains that were used for mapping the mutations. However, clearly there are recombinational control systems that are operating in the region in which the *E1* and *E11* mutations map that cause large variations in recombinational frequency.

By mapping the *E1* and *E11* mutations to the right arm of linkage group V, I have narrowed the search for the *aod-4* gene and the attempts to rescue the *E1* mutation have been limited to those genomic DNA library clones with sequences specific to this region. Continuing attempts at rescuing the ability of an *E1* strain to grow in the presence of antimycin A involve transforming the strain with cosmid and BAC clones from three supercontigs localized to this region that cover about 2.6 Mbp of sequence (assembly version 3, *Neurospora* genome sequence, Galagan *et al.*, 2003). Thus, mapping these mutations has reduced the search for *aod-4* from over 40 Mbp of estimated total genomic sequence (Galagan *et al.*, 2003) to 2.6 Mb. Unfortunately, the sequence and clone availability for this region is not contiguous, with two gaps of unknown size between the supercontigs and about 36 kbp of sequence not present in available genomic clones. It is possible that the *aod-4* gene lies in one of these gaps or unavailable regions, in which case the rescue would be unsuccessful. Another update of the *N. crassa* sequencing project could provide us with the clone sequence information to cover these regions.

The *E2* mutation from the *chl-1* complementation group was mapped to the right arm of linkage group II and most likely lies within the markers *arg-5* and *arg-12*, with 3% recombination obtained with the marker *nuc-2*. Again, the sequence information for this region is not contiguous, with a gap of unknown size between two supercontigs that cover 1.9 Mbp of this region. Selection for rescue of the *chl-1* mutation is more difficult than for *aod-4* because the *chl-1* mutant strain is able to grow in the presence of antimycin A. Nevertheless, a *chl-1* mutant strain has been transformed with cosmids near the *nuc-2* marker and transformants have been assayed for the induction of alternative oxidase in the presence of chloramphenicol. Identification of a novel *N. crassa* antibiotic resistance gene would be valuable for use as a resistance marker in this fungus.

Current mapping in the lab has placed the *aod-5* gene on linkage group VI, and the *aod-7* gene on linkage group IV, most likely on the left arm (I. Cleary and F. Nargang, personal communication). Initial mapping of the *aod-6* gene with the *alcoy* strain did not reveal any linkage to the *alcoy* markers. Thus, the *aod-6* gene could be on linkage group VII, which is not part of the translocations that make up the *alcoy* strain, or it could be fairly distal on one of the arms of any other linkage group as these regions can still recombine in an *alcoy* cross (Perkins *et al.*, 1969; Davis, 2000). Taken together,

these mapping data show that each of the newly isolated complementation groups is at a distinct location of the genome from one another, and from *aod-1* and *aod-2*. This effectively rules out any possibility that intra-allelic complementation caused an over-estimation of the number of new alternative oxidase regulatory genes identified.

4.12 Mitochondrial proteome analysis

Mitochondrial proteins from NCN246, T1P11, T11-76, *aod-1*, *aod-2*, and *chl-1* strains grown in the presence or absence of chloramphenicol were analyzed by twodimensional electrophoresis to reveal if any of these mutations dramatically affected the mitochondrial proteome. At the outset of these experiments, we were concerned that hydrophobic mitochondrial membrane proteins, which represent a sizable proportion of the proteome, might not be released from the MOM and MIM, and would not be present on the gels. To determine if these proteins would enter the gel, samples from wild-type strain NCN246 were subjected to 2-D electrophoresis and Western blots for the MOM proteins Tom70, Tom40 and Tom22, and the MIM proteins AOD1, and AAC were analyzed. All these proteins were detected on the blot, and the corresponding spots for Tom40, AAC, and AOD1 on another set of gels were picked and sequenced. MALDI-TOF sequencing confirmed that 2-D gels did contain these membrane proteins.

Comparison of the gels from the mutant strains *aod-1*, *aod-2*, and *chl-1* (EN294-46) with the gels from wild-type strain NCN246, *T* mutant strain T1P11, and reporter strain T11-76 showed that the mutations were not associated with global changes of the mitochondrial proteome that could be detected by visual inspection. As expected, all of the non-induced strains and the induced mutant strains did not contain the protein identified as AOD-1 from Western analysis. We are awaiting the establishment of a differential fluorescent staining system for co-separating samples in the department (Ettan DIGE system from Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, San Francisco, CA) to optimize reproducibility and quantification. Computer analysis of such an analysis may reveal more data than visual inspection.

I did notice that for all the strains examined, certain spots were reproducibly different between all non-induced and all chloramphenicol induced samples. Two spots that appeared darker in non-induced samples than in induced samples were picked for MALDI-TOF sequencing. One is the previously identified *N. crassa* HEX-1 protein (Tenney *et al.*, 2000; Jedd and Chua, 2000). The *hex-1* gene encodes the major protein of Woronin bodies, which plug septal pores between cells when hyphae are damaged to prevent the loss of cytoplasm from the syncytium. The HEX-1 protein has a peroxisomal targeting signal and fractionates with these organelles. The reproducible presence of this protein in the purified mitochondrial preparations from non-induced cells could be a contaminant from damaging the cells during harvesting, or it could indicate that HEX-1 also localizes to mitochondria. It is unclear why levels of this protein would be reduced by treatment with chloramphenicol. Perhaps growth in the presence of chloramphenicol has a secondary effect that reduces hyphal damage that occurs during growth.

The second spot has homology to the small subunit of the ribonucleotidediphosphate reductase of *Streptomyces lipmanii* (Borovok *et al.*, 2002). Ribonucleotide reductases use electrons gained from thioredoxin or glutaredoxin to catalyze the reduction of ribonucleotides to deoxyribonucleotides (Jordan and Reichard, 1998; Borovok *et al.*, 2002). Thioredoxin and glutaredoxin are involved in protection against ROS (Carmel-Harel and Storz, 2000). Perhaps the level of ribonucleotide reductase is reduced in chloramphenicol induced cells to allow these two enzymes to use their electrons for ROS reduction. Treatment with chloramphenicol could cause an increase in ROS by impairing cytochrome mediated respiration. In response, the cell induces expression of alternative oxidase, which has been implicated to play a protective role against reactive oxygen species (see sections 1.7.5 and 1.8). At the same time, the cell could decrease expression of the ribonucleotide reductase to allow thioredoxin and glutaredoxin to reduce ROS.

A third spot was picked for sequencing because it was darker under inducing conditions than non-inducing conditions in all samples. The sequence obtained has homology to an alcohol dehydrogenase from *Xanthomonas axonopodis* (da Silva *et al.*, 2002) and a glutathione-S-transferase-like protein from *Galleria mellonella* (Li *et al.*, 2002). In plants, oxidative stress induces glutathione-S-transferases, which are then thought to add glutathione to ROS damaged metabolites (Edwards *et al.*, 2002). An increase in ROS due to growth in the presence of chloramphenicol could result in an upregulation of a glutathione-S-transferase to deal with the cellular damage.

4.13 Summary

Apart from the previously identified *aod-2* mutation and the uncharacterized ANT-2, ANT-3, and ANT-5 mutations (Edwards et al., 1976), the mutations obtained during this study represent the only regulatory mutations isolated for induction of alternative oxidase in any organism. Four novel complementation groups have been identified and implicated in alternative oxidase regulation. Thus, there is at least one regulatory pathway involving several individual components that is responsible for inducing expression of a nuclear encoded gene in response to mitochondrial dysfunction. Further study of these mutations will provide insight into the nature of this pathway, and whether it functions solely to affect alternative oxidase induction, or to regulate a subset of nuclear genes in a more general pathway of communication between mitochondria and the nucleus. The success of the mutagenic screen for regulatory elements is most likely due to the use of the tyrosinase reporter system and the use of the model organism N. crassa. Another possible approach would be to screen micro-arrays generated from noninduced and induced cultures to identify differentially expressed transcripts. However, there is no assurance that alternative oxidase regulatory gene products would be differentially expressed – they could instead be differentially localized or activated. Additional future work lies in saturation of our mutagenic screen and in identification of the genes that we have mutated, which should be facilitated by the mapping of the mutations. Once we have identified one or more of the genes that regulated alternative oxidase production, the genes could be analyzed for expression differences in inducing and non-inducing conditions. This would reveal whether or not a microarray approach could be useful in isolating future mutants.

References

- Abe, Y., T. Shodai, T. Muto, K. Mihara, H. Torii, S. Nishikawa, T. Endo, and D. Kohda. 2000. Structural basis of presequence recognition by the mitochondrial protein import receptor Tom20. *Cell.* **100**:551-560.
- Abe, F., K. Saito, K. Miura, and K. Toriyama. 2002. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the alternative oxidase gene among rice varieties differing in low temperature tolerance. *FEBS Lett.* 527:181-185.
- Adams, K.L., D.O. Daley, Y.L. Qiu, J. Whelan, and J.D. Palmer. 2000. Repeated, recent and diverse transfers of a mitochondrial gene to the nucleus in flowering plants. *Nature*. **408**:354-357.
- Affourtit, C., M.S. Albury, K. Krab, and A.L. Moore. 1999. Functional expression of the plant alternative oxidase affects growth of the yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**:6212-6218.
- Affourtit, C., M.S. Albury, P.G. Crichton, and A.L. Moore. 2002. Exploring the molecular nature of alternative oxidase regulation and catalysis. *FEBS Lett.* **510**:121-126.
- Ahting, U., C. Thun, R. Hegerl, D. Typke, F.E. Nargang, W. Neupert, and S. Nussberger. 1999. The TOM core complex: the general protein import pore of the outer membrane of mitochondria. J. Cell Biol. 147:959-968.
- Ajayi, W.U., M. Chaudhuri, and G.C. Hill. 2002. Site-directed mutagenesis reveals the essentiality of the conserved residues in the putative diiron active site of the trypanosome alternative oxidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**:8187-8193.
- Akins, R.A., and A.M. Lambowitz. 1985. General method for cloning *Neurospora crassa* nuclear genes by complementation of mutants. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **5**:2272-2278.
- Albury, M.S., P. Dudley, F.Z. Watts, and A.L. Moore. 1996. Targeting the plant alternative oxidase protein to *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* mitochondria confers cyanide-insensitive respiration. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271:17062-17066.
- Albury, M.S., C. Affourtit, P.G. Crichton, and A.L. Moore. 2002. Structure of the plant alternative oxidase. Site-directed mutagenesis provides new information on the active site and membrane topology. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**:1190-1194.
- Alconada, A., M. Kubrich, M. Moczko, A. Honlinger, and N. Pfanner. 1995. The mitochondrial receptor complex: the small subunit Mom8b/Isp6 supports association of receptors with the general insertion pore and transfer of preproteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15:6196-6205.

- Alex, L.A., K.A. Borkovich, and M.I. Simon. 1996. Hyphal development in *Neurospora crassa*: involvement of a two-component histidine kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:3416-3421.
- Allen, J.F. 1993. Redox control of transcription: sensors, response regulators, activators and repressors. *FEBS Lett.* **332**:203-207.
- Allen, J.F. 2003. The function of genomes in bioenergetic organelles. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* **358**:19-37; discussion 37-18.
- Amor, Y., M. Chevion, and A. Levine. 2000. Anoxia pretreatment protects soybean cells against H₂O₂-induced cell death: possible involvement of peroxidases and of alternative oxidase. *FEBS Lett.* **477**:175-180.
- Andersson, M.E., and P. Nordlund. 1999. A revised model of the active site of alternative oxidase. *FEBS Lett.* **449**:17-22.
- Andersson, S.G., and C.G. Kurland. 1999. Origins of mitochondria and hydrogenosomes. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 2:535-541.
- Andersson, S.G., O. Karlberg, B. Canback, and C.G. Kurland. 2003. On the origin of mitochondria: a genomics perspective. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 358:165-177; discussion 177-169.
- Angel, T., B. Austin, and D.G. Catcheside. 1970. Regulation of recombination at the *his-*3 locus in *Neurospora crassa. Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* 23:1229-1240.
- Arnould, T., S. Vankoningsloo, P. Renard, A. Houbion, N. Ninane, C. Demazy, J. Remacle, and M. Raes. 2002. CREB activation induced by mitochondrial dysfunction is a new signaling pathway that impairs cell proliferation. *EMBO J.* 21:53-63.
- Atamna, H., P.B. Walter, and B.N. Ames. 2002. The role of heme and iron-sulfur clusters in mitochondrial biogenesis, maintenance, and decay with age. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 397:345-353.
- Austin, B., R.M. Hall, and B.M. Tyler. 1990. Optimized vectors and selection for transformation of *Neurospora crassa* and *Aspergillus nidulans* to bleomycin and phleomycin resistance. *Gene*. **93**:157-162.
- Backert, S., B.L. Nielsen, and T. Borner. 1997. The mystery of the rings: structure and replication of mitochondrial genomes from higher plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* 2:477-483.
- Bahr, J.T., and W.D. Bonner, Jr. 1973. Cyanide-insensitive respiration. I. The steady states of skunk cabbage spadix and bean hypocotyl mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 248:3441-3445.
- Bauer, M.F., C. Sirrenberg, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 1996. Role of Tim23 as voltage sensor and presequence receptor in protein import into mitochondria. *Cell.* 87:33-41.
- Bauer, M.F., S. Hofmann, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 2000. Protein translocation into mitochondria: the role of TIM complexes. *Trends Cell Biol.* **10**:25-31.
- Belcour, L., and O. Begel. 1977. Mitochondrial genes in *Podospora anserina*: recombination and linkage. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **153**:11-21.
- Bendall, D.S., and R. Hill. 1956. Cytochrome components in the spadix of *Arum maculatum*. *New Phytol.* **55**:206-212.
- Bendall, D.S., and W.D. Bonner, Jr. 1971. Cyanide-insensitive respiration in plant mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* **47**:236-245.
- Berkelman, T., and T. Stenstedt. 1998. 2-D electrophoresis Using immobilized pH gradients principles and methods. Amersham Pharmacia Biotech Inc., Piscataway.
- Berridge, M.J., P. Lipp, and M.D. Bootman. 2000. The versatility and universality of calcium signaling. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 1:11-21.
- Berthold, D.A. 1998. Isolation of mutants of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* alternative oxidase (ubiquinol:oxygen oxidoreductase) resistant to salicylhydroxamic acid. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1364**:73-83.
- Berthold, D.A., M.E. Andersson, and P. Nordlund. 2000. New insight into the structure and function of the alternative oxidase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **1460**:241-254.
- Berthold, D.A., N. Voevodskaya, P. Stenmark, A. Graslund, and P. Nordlund. 2002. EPR studies of the mitochondrial alternative oxidase. Evidence for a diiron carboxylate center. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**:43608-43614.
- Bertrand, H., and T.H. Pittenger. 1969. Cytoplasmic mutants selected from continuously growing cultures of *Neurospora crassa*. *Genetics*. **61**:643-659.
- Bertrand, H., F.E. Nargang, R.A. Collins, and C.A. Zagozeski. 1977. Nuclear cytochrome-deficient mutants of *Neurospora crassa*: isolation, characterization, and genetic mapping. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 153:247-257.
- Bertrand, H., A. Argan, and N.A. Szakacs. 1983. Genetic control of the biogenesis of cyanide insensitive respiration in *Neurospora crassa. In* Mitochondria. R.J.

Schweyen, K. Wolf, and F. Kaudewitz, editors. Walter de Gruyter Co., Berlin. 495-507.

- Bertrand, H. 1995. Senescence is coupled to induction of an oxidative phosphorylation stress response by mitochondrial DNA mutations in *Neurospora. Can. J. Bot.* 73 (Suppl. 1):S198-S204.
- Birky, C.W., Jr. 2001. The inheritance of genes in mitochondria and chloroplasts: laws, mechanisms, and models. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* **35**:125-148.
- Birnboim, H.C., and J. Doly. 1979. A rapid alkaline extraction procedure for screening recombinant plasmid DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 7:1513-1523.
- Bissonnette, L., S. Champetier, J.P. Buisson, and P.H. Roy. 1991. Characterization of the nonenzymatic chloramphenicol resistance (cmlA) gene of the In4 integron of Tn1696: similarity of the product to transmembrane transport proteins. J. Bacteriol. 173:4493-4502.
- Blanchard, J.L., and M. Lynch. 2000. Organellar genes: why do they end up in the nucleus? *Trends Genet.* 16:315-320.
- Bonner, W.D., Jr., D.S. Bendall, and M. Pleniscar. 1967. Cyanide Insensitive Respiration. *Fed. Proc.* **26**:731 Abstract #2647.
- Bonner, W.D., Jr., S.D. Clarke, and P.R. Rich. 1986. Partial purification and characterization of the quinol oxidase activity of *Arum maculatum* mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* **80**:838-842.
- Borghouts, C., A. Werner, T.E. Elthon, and H.D. Osiewacz. 2001. Copper-modulated gene expression and senescence in the filamentous fungus *Podospora anserina*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **21**:390-399.
- Borovok, I., R. Kreisberg-Zakarin, M. Yanko, R. Schreiber, M. Myslovati, F. Aslund, A. Holmgren, G. Cohen, and Y. Aharonowitz. 2002. *Streptomyces* spp. contain class Ia and class II ribonucleotide reductases: expression analysis of the genes in vegetative growth. *Microbiology*. 148:391-404.
- Boyer, P.D. 1997. The ATP synthase--a splendid molecular machine. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **66**:717-749.
- Brandt, U., and B. Trumpower. 1994. The protonmotive Q cycle in mitochondria and bacteria. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **29**:165-197.
- Breckenridge, D.G., M. Stojanovic, R.C. Marcellus, and G.C. Shore. 2003. Caspase cleavage product of BAP31 induces mitochondrial fission through endoplasmic

reticulum calcium signals, enhancing cytochrome *c* release to the cytosol. *J. Cell Biol.* **160**:1115-1127.

- Breidenbach, R.W., M.J. Saxton, L.D. Hansen, and R.S. Criddle. 1997. Heat generation and dissipation in plants: can the alternative oxidative phosphorylation pathway serve a thermoregulatory role in plant tissues other than specialized organs? *Plant Physiol.* 114:1137-1140.
- Brix, J., S. Rudiger, B. Bukau, J. Schneider-Mergener, and N. Pfanner. 1999. Distribution of binding sequences for the mitochondrial import receptors Tom20, Tom22, and Tom70 in a presequence-carrying preprotein and a non-cleavable preprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 274:16522-16530.
- Brunk, U.T., and A. Terman. 2002. The mitochondrial-lysosomal axis theory of aging: accumulation of damaged mitochondria as a result of imperfect autophagocytosis. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 269:1996-2002.
- Bruno, K.S., R. Aramayo, P.F. Minke, R.L. Metzenberg, and M. Plamann. 1996. Loss of growth polarity and mislocalization of septa in a *Neurospora* mutant altered in the regulatory subunit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *EMBO J.* **15**:5772-5782.
- Bui, E.T., P.J. Bradley, and P.J. Johnson. 1996. A common evolutionary origin for mitochondria and hydrogenosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **93**:9651-9656.
- Cain, K., S.B. Bratton, C. Langlais, G. Walker, D.G. Brown, X.M. Sun, and G.M. Cohen.
 2000. Apaf-1 oligomerizes into biologically active approximately 700-kDa and inactive approximately 1.4-MDa apoptosome complexes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:6067-6070.
- Carafoli, E. 2003. Historical review: Mitochondria and calcium: ups and downs of an unusual relationship. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 28:175-181.
- Carmel-Harel, O., and G. Storz. 2000. Roles of the glutathione- and thioredoxindependent reduction systems in the *Escherichia coli* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* responses to oxidative stress. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **54**:439-461.
- Catcheside, D.G., and B. Austin. 1969. The control of allelic recombination at histidine loci in *Neurospora crassa. Am. J. Bot.* **56**:685-690.
- Catcheside, D.E. 1970. Control of recombination within the *nitrate-2* locus of *Neurospora crassa*: an unlinked dominant gene which reduces prototroph yields. *Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* 23:855-865.
- Catcheside, D.G., and D. Corcoran. 1973. Control of non-allelic recombination in *Neurospora crassa. Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* 26:1337-1353.

- Catcheside, D.E. 1974. A second locus subject to recombination control by the $rec-l^+$ gene in *Neurospora crassa. Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* **27**:561-575.
- Catcheside, D.G. 1974. Fungal genetics. Annu. Rev. Genet. 8:279-300.
- Catcheside, D.G. 1975. Occurrence in wild strains of *Neurospora crassa* of genes controlling genetic recombination. *Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* 28:213-225.
- Catcheside, D.E.A. 1979. Effect of *rec-2*⁺ on the formation of double mutant recombinants in *Neurospora crassa. Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* **32**:261-265.
- Catcheside, D.E. 1981. Genes in *Neurospora* that suppress recombination when they are heterozygous. *Genetics*. **98**:55-76.
- Catcheside, D.E. 1986. A restriction and modification model for the initiation and control of recombination in *Neurospora*. *Genet. Res.* 47:157-165.
- Chang, C., and R.C. Stewart. 1998. The two-component system. Regulation of diverse signaling pathways in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. *Plant Physiol.* 117:723-731.
- Chaudhuri, M., and G.C. Hill. 1996. Cloning, sequencing, and functional activity of the *Trypanosoma brucei brucei* alternative oxidase. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **83**:125-129.
- Chaudhuri, M., R. Sharan, and G.C. Hill. 2002. Trypanosome alternative oxidase is regulated post-transcriptionally at the level of RNA stability. *J. Eukaryot. Microbiol.* **49**:263-269.
- Chelstowska, A., Z. Liu, Y. Jia, D. Amberg, and R.A. Butow. 1999. Signaling between mitochondria and the nucleus regulates the expression of a new D-lactate dehydrogenase activity in yeast. *Yeast*. **15**:1377-1391.
- Chen, Z., H. Silva, and D.F. Klessig. 1993. Active oxygen species in the induction of plant systemic acquired resistance by salicylic acid. *Science*. **262**:1883-1886.
- Chinnery, P.F., and D.M. Turnbull. 2001. Epidemiology and treatment of mitochondrial disorders. *Am. J. Med. Genet.* **106**:94-101.
- Coffin, J.W., R. Dhillon, R.G. Ritzel, and F.E. Nargang. 1997. The Neurospora crassa cya-5 nuclear gene encodes a protein with a region of homology to the Saccharomyces cerevisiae PET309 protein and is required in a post-transcriptional step for the expression of the mitochondrially encoded COXI protein. Curr. Genet. 32:273-280.

- Considine, M.J., D.O. Daley, and J. Whelan. 2001. The expression of alternative oxidase and uncoupling protein during fruit ripening in mango. *Plant Physiol.* **126**:1619-1629.
- Considine, M.J., R.C. Holtzapffel, D.A. Day, J. Whelan, and A.H. Millar. 2002. Molecular distinction between alternative oxidase from monocots and dicots. *Plant Physiol.* **129**:949-953.
- Contamine, V., and M. Picard. 2000. Maintenance and integrity of the mitochondrial genome: a plethora of nuclear genes in the budding yeast. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 64:281-315.
- Curran, S.P., D. Leuenberger, W. Oppliger, and C.M. Koehler. 2002. The Tim9p-Tim10p complex binds to the transmembrane domains of the ADP/ATP carrier. *EMBO J.* **21**:942-953.
- da Silva, A.C., J.A. Ferro, F.C. Reinach, C.S. Farah, L.R. Furlan, R.B. Quaggio, C.B. Monteiro-Vitorello, M.A. van Sluys, N.F. Almeida, L.M. Alves, A.M. Do Amaral, M.C. Bertolini, L.E. Camargo, G. Camarotte, F. Cannavan, J. Cardozo, F. Chambergo, L.P. Ciapina, R.M. Cicarelli, L.L. Coutinho, J.R. Cursino-Santos, H. El-Dorry, J.B. Faria, A.J. Ferreira, R.C. Ferreira, M.I. Ferro, E.F. Formighieri, M.C. Franco, C.C. Greggio, A. Gruber, A.M. Katsuyama, L.T. Kishi, R.P. Leite, E.G. Lemos, M.V. Lemos, E.C. Locali, M.A. Machado, A.M. Madeira, N.M. Martinez-Rossi, E.C. Martins, J. Meidanis, C.F. Menck, C.Y. Miyaki, D.H. Moon, L.M. Moreira, M.T. Novo, V.K. Okura, M.C. Oliveira, V.R. Oliveira, H.A. Pereira, A. Rossi, J.A. Sena, C. Silva, R.F. De Souza, L.A. Spinola, M.A. Takita, R.E. Tamura, E.C. Teixeira, R.I. Tezza, M. Trindade Dos Santos, D. Truffi, S.M. Tsai, F.F. White, J.C. Setubal, and J.P. Kitajima. 2002. Comparison of the genomes of two *Xanthomonas* pathogens with differing host specificities. *Nature*. 417:459-463.
- Daley, D.O., R. Clifton, and J. Whelan. 2002. Intracellular gene transfer: reduced hydrophobicity facilitates gene transfer for subunit 2 of cytochrome *c* oxidase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **99**:10510-10515.
- Daley, D.O., M.J. Considine, K.A. Howell, A.H. Millar, D.A. Day, and J. Whelan. 2003. Respiratory gene expression in soybean cotyledons during post-germinative development. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 51:745-755.
- Davis, R.H., and F.J. de Serres. 1970. Genetic and microbiological research techniques for *Neurospora crassa*. *Methods Enzymol.* **17A**:70-143.
- Davis, R.H. 2000. *Neurospora*: contributions of a model organism. Oxford University Press, Inc., New York.

- Day, D.A., J. Whelan, A.H. Millar, J.N. Siedow, and J.T. Wiskich. 1995. Regulation of alternative oxidase in plants and fungi. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol.* 22:497-509.
- Day, D.A., and J.T. Wiskich. 1995. Regulation of alternative oxidase activity in higher plants. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 27:379-385.
- de Grey, A.D. 2002. Three detailed hypotheses implicating oxidative damage to mitochondria as a major driving force in homeotherm aging. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **269**:1995.
- de Grey, A.D. 2002. The reductive hotspot hypothesis of mammalian aging: membrane metabolism magnifies mutant mitochondrial mischief. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **269**:2003-2009.
- Dekker, P.J., M.T. Ryan, J. Brix, H. Muller, A. Honlinger, and N. Pfanner. 1998.
 Preprotein translocase of the outer mitochondrial membrane: molecular dissection and assembly of the general import pore complex. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 18:6515-6524.
- Desagher, S., and J.C. Martinou. 2000. Mitochondria as the central control point of apoptosis. *Trends Cell Biol.* **10**:369-377.
- Dietmeier, K., A. Honlinger, U. Bomer, P.J. Dekker, C. Eckerskorn, F. Lottspeich, M. Kubrich, and N. Pfanner. 1997. Tom5 functionally links mitochondrial preprotein receptors to the general import pore. *Nature*. 388:195-200.
- Di Mauro, S., A.L. Andreu, and D.C. De Vivo. 2002. Mitochondrial disorders. J. Child Neurol. 17:3835-45; discussion 33846-37.
- Djajanegara, I., P.M. Finnegan, C. Mathieu, T. McCabe, J. Whelan, and D.A. Day. 2002. Regulation of alternative oxidase gene expression in soybean. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 50:735-742.
- Donzeau, M., K. Kaldi, A. Adam, S. Paschen, G. Wanner, B. Guiard, M.F. Bauer, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 2000. Tim23 links the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes. *Cell*. 101:401-412.
- Doolittle, W.F., Y. Boucher, C.L. Nesbo, C.J. Douady, J.O. Andersson, and A.J. Roger.
 2003. How big is the iceberg of which organellar genes in nuclear genomes are but the tip? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 358:39-57; discussion 57-38.
- Downie, J.A., and P.B. Garland. 1973. An antimycin A- and cyanide-resistant variant of *Candida utilis* arising during copper-limited growth. *Biochem. J.* **134**:1051-1061.
- Dry, I.B., A.L. Moore, D.A. Day, and J.T. Wiskich. 1989. Regulation of alternative pathway activity in plant mitochondria: nonlinear relationship between electron

flux and the redox poise of the quinone pool. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 273:148-157.

- Du, C., M. Fang, Y. Li, L. Li, and X. Wang. 2000. Smac, a mitochondrial protein that promotes cytochrome c-dependent caspase activation by eliminating IAP inhibition. *Cell.* 102:33-42.
- Dufour, E., J. Boulay, V. Rincheval, and A. Sainsard-Chanet. 2000. A causal link between respiration and senescence in *Podospora anserina*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 97:4138-4143.
- Dyall, S.D., and P.J. Johnson. 2000. Origins of hydrogenosomes and mitochondria: evolution and organelle biogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **3**:404-411.
- Earley, F.G., S.D. Patel, I. Ragan, and G. Attardi. 1987. Photolabelling of a mitochondrially encoded subunit of NADH dehydrogenase with [³H]dihydrorotenone. *FEBS Lett.* **219**:108-112.
- Eaton, S., K. Bartlett, and M. Pourfarzam. 1996. Mammalian mitochondrial betaoxidation. *Biochem. J.* **320**:345-357.
- Eaton, S. 2002. Control of mitochondrial beta-oxidation flux. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **41**:197-239.
- Edwards, D.L., E. Rosenberg, and P.A. Maroney. 1974. Induction of cyanide-insensitive respiration in *Neurospora crassa. J. Biol. Chem.* 249:3551-3556.
- Edwards, D.L., J.H. Chalmers, Jr., H.J. Guzik, and J.T. Warden. 1976. Assembly of the cyanide-insensitive respiratory pathway in *Neurospora crassa*. *In* Genetics and Biogenesis of Chloroplasts and Mitochondria. T.H. Bucher, W. Neupert, W. Sebald, and S. Werner, editors. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam. 865-872.
- Edwards, R., D.P. Dixon, and V. Walbot. 2000. Plant glutathione S-transferases: enzymes with multiple functions in sickness and in health. *Trends Plant Sci.* **5**:193-198.
- Elthon, T.E., C.R. Stewart, C.A. McCoy, and W.D. Bonner, Jr. 1986. Alternative respiratory path capacity in plant mitochondria: effect of growth temperature, the electrochemical gradient, and assay pH. *Plant Physiol.* **80**:378-383.
- Elthon, T.E., and L. McIntosh. 1987. Identification of the alternative terminal oxidase of higher plant mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 84:8399-8403.
- Elthon, T.E., R.L. Nickels, and L. McIntosh. 1989. Monoclonal antibodies to the alternative oxidase of higher plant mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* **89**:1311-1317.

- Erecinska, M., and B.T. Storey. 1970. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. VII. Kinetics of flavoprotein oxidation in skunk cabbage mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 46:618-624.
- Ewbank, J.J., T.M. Barnes, B. Lakowski, M. Lussier, H. Bussey, and S. Hekimi. 1997. Structural and functional conservation of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* timing gene *clk-1*. Science. 275:980-983.
- Fang, J., and D.S. Beattie. 2003. Alternative oxidase present in procyclic *Trypanosoma brucei* may act to lower the mitochondrial production of superoxide. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 414:294-302.
- Feldman, J.F., and J.P. Thayer. 1974. Cyclic AMP-induced tyrosinase synthesis in Neurospora crassa. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 61:977-982.
- Finkel, T. 1998. Oxygen radicals and signaling. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 10:248-253.
- Finnegan, P.M., J. Whelan, A.H. Millar, Q. Zhang, M.K. Smith, J.T. Wiskich, and D.A. Day. 1997. Differential expression of the multigene family encoding the soybean mitochondrial alternative oxidase. *Plant Physiol.* 114:455-466.
- Foury, F., and M. Kucej. 2002. Yeast mitochondrial biogenesis: a model system for humans? *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **6**:106-111.
- Fox, A.S., and W.D. Gray. 1950. Immunogenetic and biochemical studies of *Neurospora crassa*: differences in tyrosinase activity between mating types of strain 15300 (albino-2). *Genetics*. 36:538-546.
- Fox, A.S., and J.B. Burnett. 1959. The genetics and biochemistry of tyrosinase in *Neurospora crassa. In Pigment Cell Biology. M. Gordon, editor. Academic Press* Inc., New York.
- Friedrich, T., G. Hofhaus, W. Ise, U. Nehls, B. Schmitz, and H. Weiss. 1989. A small isoform of NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) without mitochondrially encoded subunits is made in chloramphenicol-treated *Neurospora crassa. Eur. J. Biochem.* 180:173-180.
- Frietag, M., L.M. Ciuffetti, and E.U. Selker. 2001. Expression and visualization of green fluorescent protein (GFP) in *Neurospora crassa. Fungal Genet. Newsl.* **48**:15-19.
- Fuentes, A.M., I. Connerton, and S.J. Free. 1994. Production of tyrosinase defective mutants of *Neurospora crassa. Fungal Genet. Newsl.* **41**:38-39.
- Galagan, J.E., S.E. Calvo, K.A. Borkovich, E.U. Selker, N.D. Read, D. Jaffe, W.
 Fitzhugh, L.J. Ma, S. Smirnov, S. Purcell, B. Rehman, T. Elkins, R. Engels, S.
 Wang, C.B. Nielsen, J. Butler, M. Endrizzi, D. Qui, P. Ianakiev, D. Bell-Pedersen,

M.A. Nelson, M. Werner-Washburne, C.P. Selitrennikoff, J.A. Kinsey, E.L. Braun, A. Zelter, U. Schulte, G.O. Kothe, G. Jedd, W. Mewes, C. Staben, E. Marcotte, D. Greenberg, A. Roy, K. Foley, J. Naylor, N. Stange-Thomann, R. Barrett, S. Gnerre, M. Kamal, M. Kamvysselis, E. Mauceli, C. Bielke, S. Rudd, D. Frishman, S. Krystofova, C. Rasmussen, R.L. Metzenberg, D.D. Perkins, S. Kroken, C. Cogoni, G. Macino, D. Catcheside, W. Li, R.J. Pratt, S.A. Osmani, C.P. Desouza, L. Glass, M.J. Orbach, J.A. Berglund, R. Voelker, O. Yarden, M. Plamann, S. Seiler, J. Dunlap, A. Radford, R. Aramayo, D.O. Natvig, L.A. Alex, G. Mannhaupt, D.J. Ebbole, M. Freitag, I. Paulsen, M.S. Sachs, E.S. Lander, C. Nusbaum, and B. Birren. 2003. The genome sequence of the filamentous fungus *Neurospora crassa. Nature.* **422**:859-868.

- Garcia-Borron, J.C., and F. Solano. 2002. Molecular anatomy of tyrosinase and its related proteins: beyond the histidine-bound metal catalytic center. *Pigment Cell Res.* **15**:162-173.
- Garesse, R., and C.G. Vallejo. 2001. Animal mitochondrial biogenesis and function: a regulatory cross-talk between two genomes. *Gene*. **263**:1-16.
- Gest, H., and N.H. Horowitz. 1958. Activation and thermostability of *Neurospora crassa* tyrosinase. J. Gen. Microbiol. **18**:64-70.
- Gomes, C.M., J. Le Gall, A.V. Xavier, and M. Teixeira. 2001. Could a diiron-containing four-helix-bundle protein have been a primitive oxygen reductase? *Chembiochem.* 2:583-587.
- Gonzalez-Meler, M.A., M. Ribas-Carbo, L. Giles, and J.N. Siedow. 1999. The effect of growth and measurement temperature on the activity of the alternative respiratory pathway. *Plant Physiol.* **120**:765-772.
- Gopalakrishnan, L., and R.C. Scarpulla. 1994. Differential regulation of respiratory chain subunits by a CREB-dependent signal transduction pathway. Role of cyclic AMP in cytochrome *c* and COXIV gene expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**:105-113.
- Gorovits, R., K.A. Sjollema, J.H. Sietsma, and O. Yarden. 2000. Cellular distribution of COT1 kinase in *Neurospora crassa*. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **30**:63-70.
- Graff, C., T.H. Bui, and N.G. Larsson. 2002. Mitochondrial diseases. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol.* **16**:715-728.
- Gray, M.W., G. Burger, and B.F. Lang. 1999. Mitochondrial evolution. *Science*. **283**:1476-1481.

Green, D.R. 2000. Apoptotic pathways: paper wraps stone blunts scissors. Cell. 102:1-4.

- Griffiths, A.J.F., R.A. Collins, and F.E. Nargang. 1995. Mitochondrial Genetics of *Neurospora. In* The Mycota II Genetics and Biotechnology. Kück, editor. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Griswold, C.M., A.L. Matthews, K.E. Bewley, and J.W. Mahaffey. 1993. Molecular characterization and rescue of acatalasemic mutants of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics*. **134**:781-788.
- Grover, S.D., and G.G. Laties. 1978. Characterization of the binding properties of disulfuram, an inhibitor of cyanide resistant respiration. *In* Plant Mitochondria. G. Ducet and C. Lance, editors. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam. 259-266.
- Guenebaut, V., A. Schlitt, H. Weiss, K. Leonard, and T. Friedrich. 1998. Consistent structure between bacterial and mitochondrial NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I). J. Mol. Biol. 276:105-112.
- Gunatilleke, I.A., C. Scazzocchio, and H.N. Arst, Jr. 1975. Cytoplasmic and nuclear mutations to chloramphenicol resistance in *Aspergillus nidulans*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **137**:269-276.
- Habener, J.F., C.P. Miller, and M. Vallejo. 1995. cAMP-dependent regulation of gene transcription by cAMP response element-binding protein and cAMP response element modulator. *Vitam. Horm.* **51**:1-57.
- Hachiya, N., R. Alam, Y. Sakasegawa, M. Sakaguchi, K. Mihara, and T. Omura. 1993. A mitochondrial import factor purified from rat liver cytosol is an ATP-dependent conformational modulator for precursor proteins. *EMBO J.* 12:1579-1586.
- Hagerhall, C. 1997. Succinate: quinone oxidoreductases. Variations on a conserved theme. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1320**:107-141.
- Hancock, R.E., and D.P. Speert. 2000. Antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: mechanisms and impact on treatment. *Drug Resist. Updat.* **3**:247-255.
- Hancock, J.T., R. Desikan, and S.J. Neill. 2001. Role of reactive oxygen species in cell signaling pathways. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **29**:345-350.
- Hatefi, Y. 1985. The mitochondrial electron transport and oxidative phosphorylation system. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 54:1015-1069.
- Hearing, V.J., and K. Tsukamoto. 1991. Enzymatic control of pigmentation in mammals. *FASEB J.* **5**:2902-2909.
- Hekimi, S., and L. Guarente. 2003. Genetics and the specificity of the aging process. *Science*. **299**:1351-1354.

- Hell, K., W. Neupert, and R.A. Stuart. 2001. Oxa1p acts as a general membrane insertion machinery for proteins encoded by mitochondrial DNA. *EMBO J.* **20**:1281-1288.
- Henry, M.F., and E.D. Nyns. 1975. Cyanide-insensitive respiration. An alternative mitochondrial pathway. *Subcell. Biochem.* **4**:1-65.
- Henry, M.F., W.D. Bonner, Jr., and E.J. Nyns. 1977. Involvement of iron in the biogenesis of the cyanide-insensitive respiration in the yeast *Saccharomycopsis lipolytica*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **460**:94-100.
- Herzig, R.P., S. Scacco, and R.C. Scarpulla. 2000. Sequential serum-dependent activation of CREB and NRF-1 leads to enhanced mitochondrial respiration through the induction of cytochrome *c. J. Biol. Chem.* **275**:13134-13141.
- Hill, K., K. Model, M.T. Ryan, K. Dietmeier, F. Martin, R. Wagner, and N. Pfanner. 1998. Tom40 forms the hydrophilic channel of the mitochondrial import pore for preproteins. *Nature*. 395:516-521.
- Hirsch, H.M. 1954. Environmental factors influencing the differentiation of protoperithecia and their relation to tyrosinase and melanin formation in *Neurospora crassa. Physiol. Plant.* 7:72-97.
- Hobbs, A.E., M. Srinivasan, J.M. McCaffery, and R.E. Jensen. 2001. Mmm1p, a mitochondrial outer membrane protein, is connected to mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) nucleoids and required for mtDNA stability. J. Cell Biol. 152:401-410.
- Hoefnagel, M.H., A.H. Millar, J.T. Wiskich, and D.A. Day. 1995. Cytochrome and alternative respiratory pathways compete for electrons in the presence of pyruvate in soybean mitochondria. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **318**:394-400.
- Hoefnagel, M., P.R. Rich, Q. Zhang, and J.T. Wiskich. 1997. Substrate kinetics of the plant mitochondrial alternative oxidase and the effects of pyruvate. *Plant Physiol.* 115:1145-1153.
- Hoefnagel, M.H., and J.T. Wiskich. 1998. Activation of the plant alternative oxidase by high reduction levels of the Q-pool and pyruvate. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **355**:262-270.
- Hohmann, S. 2002. Osmotic stress signaling and osmoadaptation in yeasts. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* **66**:300-372.
- Honda, Y., and S. Honda. 1999. The *daf-2* gene network for longevity regulates oxidative stress resistance and Mn-superoxide dismutase gene expression in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *FASEB J.* **13**:1385-1393.

- Honlinger, A., U. Bomer, A. Alconada, C. Eckerskorn, F. Lottspeich, K. Dietmeier, and N. Pfanner. 1996. Tom7 modulates the dynamics of the mitochondrial outer membrane translocase and plays a pathway-related role in protein import. *EMBO* J. 15:2125-2137.
- Hoppins, S.C., R.D. Taylor, and F.E. Nargang. In Press. Import of Proteins into Mitochondria. *In Press*.
- Horowitz, N.H., and S. Shen. 1952. Neurospora tyrosinase. J. Biol. Chem. 197:513-520.
- Horowitz, N.H., and M. Fling. 1956. Studies of tyrosinase production by a heterokaryon of *Neurospora. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **42**:498-501.
- Howell, N., and A. Lee. 1989. Sequence analysis of mouse mitochondrial chloramphenicol-resistant mutants. *Somat. Cell Mol. Genet.* 15:237-244.
- Huang, X., U. Von Rad, and J. Durner. 2002. Nitric oxide induces transcriptional activation of the nitric oxide-tolerant alternative oxidase in *Arabidopsis* suspension cells. *Planta*. **215**:914-923.
- Huh, W.K., and S.O. Kang. 1999. Molecular cloning and functional expression of alternative oxidase from *Candida albicans. J. Bacteriol.* **181**:4098-4102.
- Huh, W.K., and S.O. Kang. 2001. Characterization of the gene family encoding alternative oxidase from *Candida albicans*. *Biochem. J.* **356**:595-604.
- Huq, S., and J.M. Palmer. 1978. Isolation of a cyanide-resistant duroquinol oxidase from *Arum maculatum* mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* **95**:217-220.
- Hwang, C.S., Y.U. Baek, H.S. Yim, and S.O. Kang. 2003. Protective roles of mitochondrial manganese-containing superoxide dismutase against various stresses in *Candida albicans*. *Yeast*. **20**:929-941.
- Inoue, H., H. Nojima, and H. Okayama. 1990. High efficiency transformation of *Eschericia coli* with plasmids. *Gene*. **96**:23-28.
- Ito, Y., D. Saisho, M. Nakazono, N. Tsutsumi, and A. Hirai. 1997. Transcript levels of tandem-arranged alternative oxidase genes in rice are increased by low temperature. *Gene*. **203**:121-129.
- Iuchi, S., and E.C.C. Lin. 1988. arcA (dye), a global regulatory gene in Escherichia coli mediating repression of enzymes in aerobic pathways. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 85:1888-1892.

- Iuchi, S., D.C. Cameron, and E.C.C. Lin. 1989. A second global regulator gene (arcB) mediating repression of enzymes in aerobic pathways of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 171:868-873.
- Iuchi, S., Z. Matsuda, T. Fujiwara, and E.C.C. Lin. 1990. The arcB gene of Escherichia coli encodes a sensor-regulator protein for anaerobic repression of the arc modulon. Mol. Microbiol. 4:715-727.
- Iuchi, S., and E.C.C. Lin. 1995. Signal transduction in the arc system for control of operons encoding aerobic respiratory enzymes. *In* Two-Component Signal Transduction. J.A. Hoch and T.J. Silhavy, editors. American Society for Microbiology, Washington DC.
- Izard, T., and J. Ellis. 2000. The crystal structures of chloramphenicol phosphotransferase reveal a novel inactivation mechanism. *EMBO J.* **19**:2690-2700.
- Izard, T. 2001. Structural basis for chloramphenicol tolerance in *Streptomyces venezuelae* by chloramphenicol phosphotransferase activity. *Protein Sci.* **10**:1508-1513.
- James, W.O., and H. Beevers. 1950. The respiration of *Arum* spadix. A rapid respiration, resistant to cyanide. *New Phytol.* **49**:353-374.
- James, W.O., and D.C. Elliott. 1955. Cyanide-resistant mitochondria from the spadix of an *Arum. Nature*. 175:89.
- Jarmuszkiewicz, W., O. Fraczyk, and L. Hryniewiecka. 2001. Effect of growth at low temperature on the alternative pathway respiration in *Acanthamoeba castellanii* mitochondria. *Acta Biochim. Pol.* **48**:729-737.
- Jarmuszkiewicz, W., M. Behrendt, R. Navet, and F.E. Sluse. 2002. Uncoupling protein and alternative oxidase of *Dictyostelium discoideum*: occurrence, properties and protein expression during vegetative life and starvation-induced early development. *FEBS Lett.* **532**:459-464.
- Jedd, G., and N.H. Chua. 2000. A new self-assembled peroxisomal vesicle required for efficient resealing of the plasma membrane. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **2**:226-231.
- Jensen, R.E., A.E. Hobbs, K.L. Cerveny, and H. Sesaki. 2000. Yeast mitochondrial dynamics: fusion, division, segregation, and shape. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* **51**:573-583.
- Jessop, A.P., and D.G. Catcheside. 1965. Interallelic recombination at the *his-1* locus in *Neurospora crassa* and its genetic control. *Heredity*. **20**:237-256.

- Jia, Y., B. Rothermel, J. Thornton, and R.A. Butow. 1997. A basic helix-loop-helixleucine zipper transcription complex in yeast functions in a signaling pathway from mitochondria to the nucleus. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **17**:1110-1117.
- Johnson, C.H., J.T. Prigge, A.D. Warren, and J.E. McEwen. 2003. Characterization of an alternative oxidase activity of *Histoplasma capsulatum*. Yeast. 20:381-388.
- Jordan, A., and P. Reichard. 1998. Ribonucleotide reductases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 67:71-98.
- Joseph-Horne, T., P.M. Wood, C.K. Wood, A.L. Moore, J. Headrick, and D. Hollomon. 1998. Characterization of a split respiratory pathway in the wheat "take-all" fungus, *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var. *tritici. J. Biol. Chem.* **273**:11127-11133.
- Joseph-Horne, T., J. Babij, P.M. Wood, D. Hollomon, and R.B. Sessions. 2000. New sequence data enable modeling of the fungal alternative oxidase and explain an absence of regulation by pyruvate. *FEBS Lett.* **481**:141-146.
- Joseph-Horne, T., D.W. Hollomon, and P.M. Wood. 2001. Fungal respiration: a fusion of standard and alternative components. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **1504**:179-195.
- Karaffa, L., K. Vaczy, E. Sandor, S. Biro, A. Szentirmai, and I. Pocsi. 2001. Cyanideresistant alternative respiration is strictly correlated to intracellular peroxide levels in *Acremonium chrysogenum*. *Free Radic. Res.* 34:405-416.
- Karpova, O.V., E.V. Kuzmin, T.E. Elthon, and K.J. Newton. 2002. Differential expression of alternative oxidase genes in maize mitochondrial mutants. *Plant Cell.* **14**:3271-3284.
- Kaufman, B.A., S.M. Newman, R.L. Hallberg, C.A. Slaughter, P.S. Perlman, and R.A. Butow. 2000. *In organello* formaldehyde crosslinking of proteins to mtDNA: identification of bifunctional proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 97:7772-7777.
- Kearns, A., J. Whelan, S. Young, T.E. Elthon, and D.A. Day. 1992. Tissue-specific expression of the alternative oxidase in soybean and siratro. *Plant Physiol.* 99:712-717.
- Kennell, J.C., R.A. Collins, A.J.F. Griffiths, and F.E. Nargang. In press. Mitochondrial genetics of *Neurospora*. *In press*.
- Kerscher, S.J. 2000. Diversity and origin of alternative NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1459**:274-283.
- Khrapko, K., E. Nekhaeva, Y. Kraytsberg, and W. Kunz. 2003. Clonal expansions of mitochondrial genomes: implications for in vivo mutational spectra. *Mutat. Res.* 522:13-19.

- Kiebler, M., P. Keil, H. Schneider, I.J. van Der Klei, N. Pfanner, and W. Neupert. 1993. The mitochondrial receptor complex: a central role of MOM22 in mediating preprotein transfer from receptors to the general insertion pore. *Cell*. 74:483-492.
- Kim, H.P., J.H. Roe, P.B. Chock, and M.B. Yim. 1999. Transcriptional activation of the human manganese superoxide dismutase gene mediated by tetradecanoylphorbol acetate. J. Biol. Chem. 274:37455-37460.
- Koehler, C.M., E. Jarosch, K. Tokatlidis, K. Schmid, R.J. Schweyen, and G. Schatz. 1998. Import of mitochondrial carriers mediated by essential proteins of the intermembrane space. *Science*. 279:369-373.
- Koehler, C.M., S. Merchant, W. Oppliger, K. Schmid, E. Jarosch, L. Dolfini, T. Junne, G. Schatz, and K. Tokatlidis. 1998. Tim9p, an essential partner subunit of Tim10p for the import of mitochondrial carrier proteins. *EMBO J.* 17:6477-6486.
- Komiya, T., S. Rospert, G. Schatz, and K. Mihara. 1997. Binding of mitochondrial precursor proteins to the cytoplasmic domains of the import receptors Tom70 and Tom20 is determined by cytoplasmic chaperones. *EMBO J.* **16**:4267-4275.
- Kothe, G., M. Deak, and S.J. Free. 1993. Use of the *Neurospora* tyrosinase gene as a reporter gene in transformation experiments. *Fungal Genet. Newsl.* 40:43-45.
- Kothe, G.O., and S.J. Free. 1998. The isolation and characterization of *nrc-1* and *nrc-2*, two genes encoding protein kinases that control growth and development in *Neurospora crassa. Genetics.* **149**:117-130.
- Kovermann, P., K.N. Truscott, B. Guiard, P. Rehling, N.B. Sepuri, H. Muller, R.E. Jensen, R. Wagner, and N. Pfanner. 2002. Tim22, the essential core of the mitochondrial protein insertion complex, forms a voltage-activated and signal-gated channel. *Mol. Cell.* 9:363-373.
- Kumar, A.M., and D. Soll. 1992. *Arabidopsis* alternative oxidase sustains *Escherichia coli* respiration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **89**:10842-10846.
- Kunau, W.H., B. Agne, and W. Girzalsky. 2001. The diversity of organelle protein import mechanisms. *Trends Cell Biol.* **11**:358-361.
- Kupper, U., D.M. Niedermann, G. Travaglini, and K. Lerch. 1989. Isolation and characterization of the tyrosinase gene from *Neurospora crassa*. J. Biol. Chem. 264:17250-17258.
- Kupper, U., M. Linden, K.Z. Cao, and K. Lerch. 1990. Expression of tyrosinase in vegetative cultures of *Neurospora crassa* transformed with a metallothionein promoter/protyrosinase fusion gene. *Curr. Genet.* **18**:331-335.

- Kupper, U., D.M. Niedermann, B.C. Schilling, and K. Lerch. 1990. ATP-induced protyrosinase synthesis and carboxyl-terminal processing in *Neurospora crassa*. *Pigment Cell Res.* 3:207-213.
- Lambers, H. 1980. The physiological significance of cyanide-resistant respiration in higher plants. *Plant Cell Environ.* **3**:293-302.
- Lambers, H. 1982. Cyanide-resistant respiration: a non-phosphorylating electron transport pathway acting as an energy overflow. *Physiol. Plant.* **55**:478-485.
- Lambowitz, A.M., and C.W. Slayman. 1971. Cyanide-resistant respiration in *Neurospora* crassa. J. Bacteriol. 108:1087-1096.
- Lambowitz, A.M., C.W. Slayman, C.L. Slayman, and W.D. Bonner, Jr. 1972. The electron transport components of wild type and *poky* strains of *Neurospora crassa. J. Biol. Chem.* **247**:1536-1545.
- Lambowitz, A.M., E.W. Smith, and C.W. Slayman. 1972. Oxidative phosphorylation in *Neurospora* mitochondria. Studies on wild type, *poky*, and chloramphenicolinduced wild type. J. Biol. Chem. 247:4859-4865.
- Lambowitz, A.M., and D. Zannoni. 1978. Cyanide-insensitive respiration in *Neurospora*. Genetic and biophysical approaches. *In* Plant Mitochondria. G. Ducet and C. Lance, editors. Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, Amsterdam. 283-291.
- Lambowitz, A.M., J.R. Sabourin, H. Bertrand, R. Nickels, and L. McIntosh. 1989. Immunological identification of the alternative oxidase of *Neurospora crassa* mitochondria. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9:1362-1364.
- Lang, B.F., M.W. Gray, and G. Burger. 1999. Mitochondrial genome evolution and the origin of eukaryotes. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* **33**:351-397.
- Langfelder, K., M. Streibel, B. Jahn, G. Haase, and A.A. Brakhage. 2003. Biosynthesis of fungal melanins and their importance for human pathogenic fungi. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* 38:143-158.
- Larsen, P.L. 1993. Aging and resistance to oxidative damage in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **90**:8905-8909.
- Lauter, F.R., U. Marchfelder, V.E.A. Russo, C.T. Yamashiro, E. Yatzkan, and O. Yarden. 1998. Photoregulation of *cot-1*, a Kinase-Encoding Gene Involved in Hyphal Growth in *Neurospora crassa. Fungal Genet. Biol.* **23**:300-310.
- Lemire, B.D., C. Fankhauser, A. Baker, and G. Schatz. 1989. The mitochondrial targeting function of randomly generated peptide sequences correlates with predicted helical amphiphilicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**:20206-20215.

- Lerch, K. 1978. Amino acid sequence of tyrosinase from *Neurospora crassa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* **75**:3635-3639.
- Lerch, K., C. Longoni, and E. Jordi. 1982. Primary structure of tyrosinase from *Neurospora crassa*. I. Purification and amino acid sequence of the cyanogen bromide fragments. J. Biol. Chem. 257:6408-6413.
- Li, Y., T.T. Huang, E.J. Carlson, S. Melov, P.C. Ursell, J.L. Olson, L.J. Noble, M.P. Yoshimura, C. Berger, and P.H. Chan. 1995. Dilated cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. *Nat. Genet.* 11:376-381.
- Li, Q., R.G. Ritzel, L.L. McLean, L. McIntosh, T. Ko, H. Bertrand, and F.E. Nargang. 1996. Cloning and analysis of the alternative oxidase gene of *Neurospora crassa*. *Genetics*. **142**:129-140.
- Li, D., C. Scherfer, A.M. Korayem, Z. Zhao, O. Schmidt, and U. Theopold. 2002. Insect hemolymph clotting: evidence for interaction between the coagulation system and the prophenoloxidase activating cascade. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **32**:919-928.
- Liao, X.S., W.C. Small, P.A. Srere, and R.A. Butow. 1991. Intramitochondrial functions regulate nonmitochondrial citrate synthase (*CIT2*) expression in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11:38-46.
- Liao, X., and R.A. Butow. 1993. *RTG1* and *RTG2*: two yeast genes required for a novel path of communication from mitochondria to the nucleus. *Cell*. **72**:61-71.
- Lill, R., and G. Kispal. 2000. Maturation of cellular Fe-S proteins: an essential function of mitochondria. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **25**:352-356.
- Liu, X., C.N. Kim, J. Yang, R. Jemmerson, and X. Wang. 1996. Induction of apoptotic program in cell-free extracts: requirement for dATP and cytochrome *c. Cell.* **86**:147-157.
- Liu, Z., and R.A. Butow. 1999. A transcriptional switch in the expression of yeast tricarboxylic acid cycle genes in response to a reduction or loss of respiratory function. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **19**:6720-6728.
- Lorin, S., E. Dufour, J. Boulay, O. Begel, S. Marsy, and A. Sainsard-Chanet. 2001.
 Overexpression of the alternative oxidase restores senescence and fertility in a long-lived respiration-deficient mutant of *Podospora anserina*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 42:1259-1267.
- Luciano, P., and V. Geli. 1996. The mitochondrial processing peptidase: function and specificity. *Experientia*. **52**:1077-1082.

- Lynch, A.S., and E.C.C. Lin. 1996. Responses to molecular oxygen. *In Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* Cellular and Molecular Biology, Second Edition. F.C. Neidhardt, editor. American Society for Microbiology, Washington DC.
- Mandavilli, B.S., J.H. Santos, and B. van Houten. 2002. Mitochondrial DNA repair and aging. *Mutat. Res.* **509**:127-151.
- Mankin, A.S., and R.A. Garrett. 1991. Chloramphenicol resistance mutations in the single 23S rRNA gene of the archaeon *Halobacterium halobium*. J. Bacteriol. 173:3559-3563.
- Mannella, C.A., K. Buttle, B.K. Rath, and M. Marko. 1998. Electron microscopic tomography of rat-liver mitochondria and their interaction with the endoplasmic reticulum. *Biofactors*. 8:225-228.
- Margolin, B.S., M. Freitag, and E.U. Selker. 1997. Improved plasmids for gene targeting at the *his-3* locus of *Neurospora crassa* by electroporation. *Fungal Genet. Newsl.* **44**:34-36.
- Margolin, B.S., M. Freitag, and E.U. Selker. 2000. Improved plasmids for gene targeting at the *his-3* locus of *Neurospora crassa* by electroporation: correction. *Fungal Genet. Newsl.* 47:112.
- Marrs, K.A. 2002. The functions and regulation of glutathione S-transferases in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 47:127-158.
- Martin, W., and R.G. Herrmann. 1998. Gene transfer from organelles to the nucleus: how much, what happens, and Why? *Plant Physiol.* **118**:9-17.
- Martin, W., and M. Muller. 1998. The hydrogen hypothesis for the first eukaryote. *Nature*. **392**:37-41.
- Maxwell, D.P., Y. Wang, and L. McIntosh. 1999. The alternative oxidase lowers mitochondrial reactive oxygen production in plant cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 96:8271-8276.
- Maxwell, D.P., R. Nickels, and L. McIntosh. 2002. Evidence of mitochondrial involvement in the transduction of signals required for the induction of genes associated with pathogen attack and senescence. *Plant J.* **29**:269-279.
- Mayer, A., W. Neupert, and R. Lill. 1995. Mitochondrial protein import: reversible binding of the presequence at the trans side of the outer membrane drives partial translocation and unfolding. *Cell.* **80**:127-137.
- McBride, H.M., D.G. Millar, J.M. Li, and G.C. Shore. 1992. A signal-anchor sequence selective for the mitochondrial outer membrane. J. Cell. Biol. 119:1451-1457.

- McCabe, T.C., P.M. Finnegan, A. Harvey Millar, D.A. Day, and J. Whelan. 1998. Differential expression of alternative oxidase genes in soybean cotyledons during postgerminative development. *Plant Physiol.* **118**:675-682.
- McCaig, T.N., and R.D. Hill. 1977. Cyanide-insensitive respiration in wheat: cultivar differences and effects of temperature, carbon dioxide, and oxygen. *Can. J. Bot.* **55**:549-555.
- McIntosh, L. 1994. Molecular biology of the alternative oxidase. *Plant Physiol.* **105**:781-786.
- McNulty, A.K., and W.R. Cummins. 1987. The relationship between respiration and temperature in leaves of the arctic plant *Saxifraga cernua*. *Plant Cell Environ*. **10**:319-325.
- Meeuse, B.J.D. 1975. Thermogenic respiration in aroids. *Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol.* **26**:117-126.
- Melov, S., P. Coskun, M. Patel, R. Tuinstra, B. Cottrell, A.S. Jun, T.H. Zastawny, M. Dizdaroglu, S.I. Goodman, T.T. Huang, H. Miziorko, C.J. Epstein, and D.C. Wallace. 1999. Mitochondrial disease in superoxide dismutase 2 mutant mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 96:846-851.
- Michea-Hamzehpour, M., and G. Turian. 1987. GMP-stimulation of the cyanideinsensitive mitochondrial respiration in heat-shocked conidia of *Neurospora crassa. Experientia.* **43**:439-440.
- Michel, H., J. Behr, A. Harrenga, and A. Kannt. 1998. Cytochrome c oxidase: structure and spectroscopy. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct.* 27:329-356.
- Milani, G., W. Jarmuszkiewicz, C.M. Sluse-Goffart, A.Z. Schreiber, A.E. Vercesi, and F.E. Sluse. 2001. Respiratory chain network in mitochondria of *Candida parapsilosis*: ADP/O appraisal of the multiple electron pathways. *FEBS Lett.* 508:231-235.
- Milisav, I., F. Moro, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 2001. Modular structure of the TIM23 preprotein translocase of mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**:25856-25861.
- Millar, A.H., J.T. Wiskich, J. Whelan, and D.A. Day. 1993. Organic acid activation of the alternative oxidase of plant mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* **329**:259-262.
- Millar, A.H., M. Hoefnagel, D.A. Day, and J.T. Wiskich. 1996. Specificity of the organic acid activation of alternative oxidase in plant mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 111:613-618.

- Millenaar, F.F., J.J. Benschop, A.M. Wagner, and H. Lambers. 1998. The role of the alternative oxidase in stabilizing the in vivo reduction state of the ubiquinone pool and the activation state of the alternative oxidase. *Plant Physiol.* **118**:599-607.
- Millenaar, F.F., M.A. Gonzalez-Meler, F. Fiorani, R. Welschen, M. Ribas-Carbo, J.N. Siedow, A.M. Wagner, and H. Lambers. 2001. Regulation of alternative oxidase activity in six wild monocotyledonous species. An in vivo study at the whole root level. *Plant Physiol.* **126**:376-387.
- Minagawa, N., S. Sakajo, T. Komiyama, and A. Yoshimoto. 1990. Essential role of ferrous iron in cyanide-resistant respiration in *Hansenula anomala*. FEBS Lett. 267:114-116.
- Minagawa, N., S. Koga, M. Nakano, S. Sakajo, and A. Yoshimoto. 1992. Possible involvement of superoxide anion in the induction of cyanide-resistant respiration in *Hansenula anomala*. *FEBS Lett.* **302**:217-219.
- Mitchell, P. 1979. Keilin's respiratory chain concept and its chemiosmotic consequences. *Science*. **206**:1148-1159.
- Miyadera, H., H. Amino, A. Hiraishi, H. Taka, K. Murayama, H. Miyoshi, K. Sakamoto, N. Ishii, S. Hekimi, and K. Kita. 2001. Altered quinone biosynthesis in the longlived *clk-1* mutants of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Biol. Chem. 276:7713-7716.
- Mizutani, A., N. Miki, H. Yukioka, H. Tamura, and M. Masuko. 1996. A possible mechanism of control of rice blast disease by a novel alkoxyiminoacetamide fungicide, SSF126. *Phytopathol.* 86:295-300.
- Montminy, M. 1997. Transcriptional regulation by cyclic AMP. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **66**:807-822.
- Moore, A.L., W.D. Bonner, Jr., and P.R. Rich. 1978. The determination of the protonmotive force during cyanide-insensitive respiration in plant mitochondria. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **186**:298-306.
- Moore, A.L., and J.N. Siedow. 1991. The regulation and nature of the cyanide-resistant alternative oxidase of plant mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **1059**:121-140.
- Moore, A.L., G. Leach, D.G. Whitehouse, C.W.M. van Den Bergen, A.M. Wagner, and K. Krab. 1994. Control of oxidative phosphorylation in plant mitochondria: the role of the non-phosphorylating pathways. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1187**:145-151.
- Moore, A.L., A.L. Umbach, and J.N. Siedow. 1995. Structure-function relationships of the alternative oxidase of plant mitochondria: a model of the active site. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* **27**:367-377.

- Moreira, D., and P. Lopez-Garcia. 1998. Symbiosis between methanogenic archaea and delta-proteobacteria as the origin of eukaryotes: the syntrophic hypothesis. J. Mol. *Evol.* **47**:517-530.
- Moro, F., C. Sirrenberg, H.C. Schneider, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 1999. The TIM17.23 preprotein translocase of mitochondria: composition and function in protein transport into the matrix. *EMBO J.* 18:3667-3675.
- Morris, S.M., Jr. 2002. Regulation of enzymes of the urea cycle and arginine metabolism. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 22:87-105.
- Mosher, R.H., D.J. Camp, K. Yang, M.P. Brown, W.V. Shaw, and L.C. Vining. 1995. Inactivation of chloramphenicol by O-phosphorylation. A novel resistance mechanism in *Streptomyces venezuelae* ISP5230, a chloramphenicol producer. J. Biol. Chem. 270:27000-27006.
- Muhlenhoff, U., and R. Lill. 2000. Biogenesis of iron-sulfur proteins in eukaryotes: a novel task of mitochondria that is inherited from bacteria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **1459**:370-382.
- Murakami, H., D. Pain, and G. Blobel. 1988. 70-kD heat shock-related protein is one of at least two distinct cytosolic factors stimulating protein import into mitochondria. *J. Cell Biol.* **107**:2051-2057.
- Murayama, T., I. Uno, K. Hamamoto, and T. Ishikawa. 1985. A cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphate-dependent protein kinase mutant of *Neurospora crassa. Arch. Microbiol.* **142**:109-112.
- Murcha, M.W., T. Huang, and J. Whelan. 1999. Import of precursor proteins into mitochondria from soybean tissues during development. *FEBS Lett.* **464**:53-59.
- Murray, I.A., and W.V. Shaw. 1997. O-Acetyltransferases for chloramphenicol and other natural products. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **41**:1-6.
- Nehlin, J.O., M. Carlberg, and H. Ronne. 1992. Yeast *SKO1* gene encodes a bZIP protein that binds to the CRE motif and acts as a repressor of transcription. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **20**:5271-5278.
- Neupert, W., and M. Brunner. 2002. The protein import motor of mitochondria. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **3**:555-565.
- Newmeyer, D.D., and S. Ferguson-Miller. 2003. Mitochondria: releasing power for life and unleashing the machineries of death. *Cell*. **112**:481-490.
- Noji, H., R. Yasuda, M. Yoshida, and K. Kinosita, Jr. 1997. Direct observation of the rotation of F1-ATPase. *Nature*. **386**:299-302.

- Nosek, J., L. Tomaska, H. Fukuhara, Y. Suyama, and L. Kovac. 1998. Linear mitochondrial genomes: 30 years down the line. *Trends Genet.* 14:184-188.
- Nosek, J., and L. Tomaska. 2003. Mitochondrial genome diversity: evolution of the molecular architecture and replication strategy. *Curr. Genet. In Press.*
- Nunnari, J., T.D. Fox, and P. Walter. 1993. A mitochondrial protease with two catalytic subunits of nonoverlapping specificities. *Science*. **262**:1997-2004.
- Nunnari, J., W.F. Marshall, A. Straight, A. Murray, J.W. Sedat, and P. Walter. 1997. Mitochondrial transmission during mating in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is determined by mitochondrial fusion and fission and the intramitochondrial segregation of mitochondrial DNA. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 8:1233-1242.
- Pall, M.L., J.M. Trevillyan, and N. Hinman. 1981. Deficient cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphate control in mutants of two genes of *Neurospora crassa*. Mol. Cell. Biol. 1:1-8.
- Palmer, J.D. 1976. The organization and regulation of electron transport in plant mitochondria. *Ann. Rev. Plant Physiol.* 27:133-157.
- Palmer, J.D. 1997. Genome evolution. The mitochondrion that time forgot. *Nature*. **387**:454-455.
- Palmgren, M.G. 2001. Plant plasma membrane H⁺-ATPases: powerhouses for nutrient uptake. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* **52**:817-845.
- Paquin, B., M.J. Laforest, L. Forget, I. Roewer, Z. Wang, J. Longcore, and B.F. Lang. 1997. The fungal mitochondrial genome project: evolution of fungal mitochondrial genomes and their gene expression. *Curr. Genet.* 31:380-395.
- Parsons, H.L., J.Y. Yip, and G.C. Vanlerberghe. 1999. Increased respiratory restriction during phosphate-limited growth in transgenic tobacco cells lacking alternative oxidase. *Plant Physiol.* **121**:1309-1320.
- Paschen, S.A., U. Rothbauer, K. Kaldi, M.F. Bauer, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 2000. The role of the TIM8-13 complex in the import of Tim23 into mitochondria. *EMBO J.* 19:6392-6400.
- Pastore, D., D. Trono, M.N. Laus, N. Di Fonzo, and S. Passarella. 2001. Alternative oxidase in durum wheat mitochondria. Activation by pyruvate, hydroxypyruvate and glyoxylate and physiological role. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **42**:1373-1382.
- Perkins, D.D., D. Newmeyer, C.W. Taylor, and D.C. Bennett. 1969. New markers and map sequences in *Neurospora crassa*, with a description of mapping by

duplication coverage, and of multiple translocation stocks for testing linkage. *Genetica*. **40**:247-278.

- Perkins, D.D., and M. Bojko. 1992. The basis of decreased recombination in certain outcrosses of *Neurospora crassa*. *Genome*. **35**:503-509.
- Perkins, D.D., A. Radford, and M.S. Sachs. 2001. The Neurospora compendium chromosomal loci. Academic Press, San Diego.
- Pfanner, N., and W. Neupert. 1985. Transport of proteins into mitochondria: a potassium diffusion potential is able to drive the import of ADP/ATP carrier. *EMBO J.* 4:2819-2825.
- Pfanner, N., M.G. Douglas, T. Endo, N.J. Hoogenraad, R.E. Jensen, M. Meijer, W. Neupert, G. Schatz, U.K. Schmitz, and G.C. Shore. 1996. Uniform nomenclature for the protein transport machinery of the mitochondrial membranes. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 21:51-52.
- Popov, V.N., R.A. Simonian, V.P. Skulachev, and A.A. Starkov. 1997. Inhibition of the alternative oxidase stimulates H₂O₂ production in plant mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* 415:87-90.
- Poyton, R.O., and J.E. McEwen. 1996. Crosstalk between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **65**:563-607.
- Pozzan, T., P. Magalhaes, and R. Rizzuto. 2000. The comeback of mitochondria to calcium signaling. *Cell Calcium*. **28**:279-283.
- Prasad, T.K., M.D. Anderson, B.A. Martin, and C.R. Stewart. 1994. Evidence for chilling-induced oxidative stress in maize seedlings and a regulatory role for hydrogen peroxide. *Plant Cell*. **6**:65-74.
- Pystina, N.V., and R.A. Danilov. 2001. Experimental data from three native representatives of natural communities in north-eastern Russia: does the activity of the alternative respiratory pathway in leaves depend on the carbohydrate status? *Bulg. J. Plant Physiol.* 27:104-108.
- Rabilloud, T. 1998. Use of thiourea to increase the solubility of membrane proteins in two-dimensional electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis*. **19**:758-760.
- Race, H.L., R.G. Herrmann, and W. Martin. 1999. Why have organelles retained genomes? *Trends Genet.* **15**:364-370.
- Raskin, I., A. Ehmann, W.R. Melander, and B.J.D. Meeuse. 1987. Salicylic acid: a natural inducer of heat production in *Arum* lilies. *Science*. **237**:1601-1602.

- Rasmusson, A.G., I.M. Moller, and J.M. Palmer. 1990. Component of the alternative oxidase localized to matrix surface of the inner membrane of plant mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* **259**:311-314.
- Rehling, P., N. Pfanner, and C. Meisinger. 2003. Insertion of hydrophobic membrane proteins into the inner mitochondrial membrane--a guided tour. J. Mol. Biol. 326:639-657.
- Rhoads, D.M., and L. McIntosh. 1991. Isolation and characterization of a cDNA clone encoding an alternative oxidase protein of *Sauromatum guttatum* (Schott). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. **88**:2122-2126.
- Rhoads, D.M., and L. McIntosh. 1992. Salicylic acid regulation of respiration in higher plants: alternative oxidase expression. *Plant Cell*. **4**:1131-1139.
- Rhoads, D.M., and L. McIntosh. 1993. Cytochrome and alternative pathway respiration in tobacco. Effects of salicylic acid. *Plant Physiol.* **103**:877-883.
- Rhoads, D.M., and L. McIntosh. 1993. The salicylic acid-inducible alternative oxidase gene *aox1* and genes encoding pathogenesis-related proteins share regions of sequence similarity in their promoters. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **21**:615-624.
- Rhoads, D.M., A.L. Umbach, C.R. Sweet, A.M. Lennon, G.S. Rauch, and J.N. Siedow. 1998. Regulation of the cyanide-resistant alternative oxidase of plant mitochondria. Identification of the cysteine residue involved in alpha-keto acid stimulation and intersubunit disulfide bond formation. J. Biol. Chem. 273:30750-30756.
- Ribas-Carbo, M., J.A. Berry, J. Azcon-Bieto, and J.N. Siedow. 1994. The reaction of the plant mitochondrial cyanide-resistant alternative oxidase with oxygen. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1188**:205-212.
- Ribas-Carbo, M., A.M. Lennon, S.A. Robinson, L. Giles, J.A. Berry, and J.N. Siedow. 1997. The regulation of electron partitioning between the cytochrome and alternative pathways in soybean cotyledon and root mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 113:903-911.
- Ribas-Carbo, M., R. Aroca, M.A. Gonzalez-Meler, J.J. Irigoyen, and M. Sanchez-Diaz. 2000. The electron partitioning between the cytochrome and alternative respiratory pathways during chilling recovery in two cultivars of maize differing in chilling sensitivity. *Plant Physiol.* **122**:199-204.
- Rich, P.R. 1978. Quinol oxidation in *Arum maculatum* mitochondria and its application to the assay, solubilisation and partial purification of the alternative oxidase. *FEBS Lett.* **96**:252-256.

- Rich, P.R., and W.D. Bonner, Jr. 1978. EPR studies of higher plant mitochondria. II. Center S-3 of succinate dehydrogenase and its relation to alternative respiratory oxidations. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 501:381-395.
- Rizhsky, L., H. Liang, and R. Mittler. 2002. The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **130**:1143-1151.
- Robson, C.A., and G.C. Vanlerberghe. 2002. Transgenic plant cells lacking mitochondrial alternative oxidase have increased susceptibility to mitochondriadependent and -independent pathways of programmed cell death. *Plant Physiol.* 129:1908-1920.
- Roderick, H.L., M.J. Berridge, and M.D. Bootman. 2003. Calcium-induced calcium release. *Curr. Biol.* 13:R425.
- Rodriguez-Cousino, N., F.E. Nargang, R. Baardman, W. Neupert, R. Lill, and D.A. Court. 1998. An import signal in the cytosolic domain of the *Neurospora* mitochondrial outer membrane protein TOM22. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:11527-11532.
- Roise, D., F. Theiler, S.J. Horvath, J.M. Tomich, J.H. Richards, D.S. Allison, and G. Schatz. 1988. Amphiphilicity is essential for mitochondrial presequence function. *EMBO J.* 7:649-653.
- Rossignol, R., B. Faustin, C. Rocher, M. Malgat, J.P. Mazat, and T. Letellier. 2003. Mitochondrial threshold effects. *Biochem. J.* **370**:751-762.
- Rothermel, B.A., A.W. Shyjan, J.L. Etheredge, and R.A. Butow. 1995. Transactivation by Rtg1p, a basic helix-loop-helix protein that functions in communication between mitochondria and the nucleus in yeast. J. Biol. Chem. **270**:29476-29482.
- Rothermel, B.A., J.L. Thornton, and R.A. Butow. 1997. Rtg3p, a basic helix-loophelix/leucine zipper protein that functions in mitochondrial-induced changes in gene expression, contains independent activation domains. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272:19801-19807.
- Rountree, M.R., and E.U. Selker. 1997. DNA methylation inhibits elongation but not initiation of transcription in *Neurospora crassa. Genes Dev.* **11**:2383-2395.
- Saika, H., K. Ohtsu, S. Hamanaka, M. Nakazono, N. Tsutsumi, and A. Hirai. 2002. *AOX1c*, a novel rice gene for alternative oxidase; comparison with rice *AOX1a* and *AOX1b*. *Genes Genet. Syst.* 77:31-38.
- Saisho, D., E. Nambara, S. Naito, N. Tsutsumi, A. Hirai, and M. Nakazono. 1997. Characterization of the gene family for alternative oxidase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **35**:585-596.

- Saisho, D., M. Nakazono, K.H. Lee, N. Tsutsumi, S. Akita, and A. Hirai. 2001. The gene for alternative oxidase-2 (AOX2) from Arabidopsis thaliana consists of five exons unlike other AOX genes and is transcribed at an early stage during germination. Genes Genet. Syst. 76:89-97.
- Sakajo, S., N. Minagawa, T. Komiyama, and A. Yoshimoto. 1991. Molecular cloning of cDNA for antimycin A-inducible mRNA and its role in cyanide-resistant respiration in *Hansenula anomala*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 1090:102-108.
- Sakajo, S., N. Minagawa, and A. Yoshimoto. 1993. Characterization of the alternative oxidase protein in the yeast *Hansenula anomala*. *FEBS Lett.* **318**:310-312.
- Sakajo, S., N. Minagawa, and A. Yoshimoto. 1997. Effects of nucleotides on cyanideresistant respiratory activity in mitochondria isolated from antimycin A-treated yeast *Hansenula anomala*. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 61:396-399.
- Sakano, S. 1998. Revision of biochemical pH-stat: involvement of alternative pathway metabolisms. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **39**:467-473.
- Sambrook, J., and D.W. Russell. 2001. Molecular cloning. A laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- Saraste, M., and J.E. Walker. 1982. Internal sequence repeats and the path of polypeptide in mitochondrial ADP/ATP translocase. *FEBS Lett.* **144**:250-254.
- Saraste, M. 1999. Oxidative phosphorylation at the fin de siecle. Science. 283:1488-1493.
- Sastre, J., F.V. Pallardo, and J. Vina. 2003. The role of mitochondrial oxidative stress in aging. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **35**:1-8.
- Schleyer, M., and W. Neupert. 1985. Transport of proteins into mitochondria: translocational intermediates spanning contact sites between outer and inner membranes. *Cell.* 43:339-350.
- Schlunzen, F., R. Zarivach, J. Harms, A. Bashan, A. Tocilj, R. Albrecht, A. Yonath, and F. Franceschi. 2001. Structural basis for the interaction of antibiotics with the peptidyl transferase centre in eubacteria. *Nature*. 413:814-821.
- Schonbaum, G.R., W.D. Bonner, Jr., B.T. Storey, and J.T. Bahr. 1971. Specific inhibition of the cyanide-insensitive respiratory pathway in plant mitochondria by hydroxamic acids. *Plant Physiol.* 47:124-128.
- Schultz, B.E., and S.I. Chan. 2001. Structures and proton-pumping strategies of mitochondrial respiratory enzymes. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct.* **30**:23-65.

- Schumacher, M.M., C.S. Enderlin, and C.P. Selitrennikoff. 1997. The osmotic-1 locus of *Neurospora crassa* encodes a putative histidine kinase similar to osmosensors of bacteria and yeast. *Curr. Microbiol.* 34:340-347.
- Schwab, A.J. 1973. Mitochondrial protein synthesis and cyanide-resistant respiration in copper-depleted, cytochrome oxidase-deficient *Neurospora crassa*. *FEBS Lett.* 35:63-66.
- Schweizer, M., M.E. Case, C.C. Dykstra, N.H. Giles, and S.R. Kushner. 1981.
 Identification and characterization of recombinant plasmids carrying the complete qa gene cluster from Neurospora crassa including the qa-1⁺ regulatory gene.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 78:5086-5090.
- Sekito, T., J. Thornton, and R.A. Butow. 2000. Mitochondria-to-nuclear signaling is regulated by the subcellular localization of the transcription factors Rtg1p and Rtg3p. *Mol. Biol. Cell.* 11:2103-2115.
- Selker, E.U. 1990. Premeiotic instability of repeated sequences in *Neurospora crassa*. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* **24**:579-613.
- Sen, C.K., and L. Packer. 1996. Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription. *FASEB J.* **10**:709-720.
- Senoo-Matsuda, N., K. Yasuda, M. Tsuda, T. Ohkubo, S. Yoshimura, H. Nakazawa, P.S. Hartman, and N. Ishii. 2001. A defect in the cytochrome *b* large subunit in complex II causes both superoxide anion overproduction and abnormal energy metabolism in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Biol. Chem. 276:41553-41558.
- Seo, S.Y., V.K. Sharma, and N. Sharma. 2003. Mushroom tyrosinase: recent prospects. J. Agric. Food Chem. **51**:2837-2853.
- Sharpless, T.K., and R.A. Butow. 1970. An inducible alternate terminal oxidase in *Euglena gracilis* mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. **245**:58-70.
- Shaw, J.M., and J. Nunnari. 2002. Mitochondrial dynamics and division in budding yeast. *Trends Cell Biol.* **12**:178-184.
- Shi, N.Q., J. Cruz, F. Sherman, and T.W. Jeffries. 2002. SHAM-sensitive alternative respiration in the xylose-metabolizing yeast *Pichia stipitis*. *Yeast*. **19**:1203-1220.
- Siedow, J.N., and A.L. Moore. 1993. A kinetic model for the regulation of electron transfer through the cyanide-resistant pathway in plant mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1142**:165-174.

- Siedow, J.N., A.L. Umbach, and A.L. Moore. 1995. The active site of the cyanideresistant oxidase from plant mitochondria contains a binuclear iron center. *FEBS Lett.* **362**:10-14.
- Siedow, J.N., and A.L. Umbach. 2000. The mitochondrial cyanide-resistant oxidase: structural conservation amid regulatory diversity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **1459**:432-439.
- Simon, D.K., and D.R. Johns. 1999. Mitochondrial disorders: clinical and genetic features. *Annu. Rev. Med.* **50**:111-127.
- Simons, B.H., F.F. Millenaar, L. Mulder, L.C. van Loon, and H. Lambers. 1999. Enhanced expression and activation of the alternative oxidase during infection of Arabidopsis with *Pseudomonas syringae* pv tomato. *Plant Physiol.* 120:529-538.
- Sirrenberg, C., M.F. Bauer, B. Guiard, W. Neupert, and M. Brunner. 1996. Import of carrier proteins into the mitochondrial inner membrane mediated by Tim22. *Nature*. 384:582-585.
- Sluse, F.E., and W. Jarmuszkiewicz. 1998. Alternative oxidase in the branched mitochondrial respiratory network: an overview on structure, function, regulation, and role. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 31:733-747.
- Staben, C., B. Jensen, M. Singer, J. Pollock, M. Schechtman, J. Kinsey, and E. Selker. 1989. Use of a bacterial Hygromycin B resistance gene as a dominant selectable marker in *Neurospora crassa* transformation. *Fungal Genet. Newsl.* 36:79-81.
- Stegink, S.J., and J.N. Siedow. 1986. Binding of butyl gallate to plant mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* **80**:196-201.
- Storey, B.T., and J.T. Bahr. 1969. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. I. Electron transport between succinate and oxygen in skunk cabbage mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 44:115-125.
- Storey, B.T., and J.T. Bahr. 1969. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. II. Oxidative phosphorylation in skunk cabbage mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 44:126-134.
- Storey, B.T. 1970. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. IV. Oxidation rates of the respiratory carriers of mung bean mitochondria in the presence of cyanide. *Plant Physiol.* 45:447-454.
- Storey, B.T. 1970. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. VI. Flavoprotein components of the respiratory chain of mung bean mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 46:13-20.

- Storey, B.T. 1970. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. VIII. Reduction kinetics of the respiratory chain carriers of mung bean mitochondria with reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide. *Plant Physiol.* **46**:625-630.
- Storey, B.T. 1976. The respiratory chain of plant mitochondria. XVIII. Point of interaction of the alternative oxidase with the respiratory chain. *Plant Physiol.* 58:521-525.
- Stuart, R. 2002. Insertion of proteins into the inner membrane of mitochondria: the role of the Oxa1 complex. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1592**:79-87.
- Surpin, M., and J. Chory. 1997. The co-ordination of nuclear and organellar genome expression in eukaryotic cells. *Essays Biochem.* **32**:113-125.
- Susin, S.A., H.K. Lorenzo, N. Zamzami, I. Marzo, B.E. Snow, G.M. Brothers, J. Mangion, E. Jacotot, P. Costantini, M. Loeffler, N. Larochette, D.R. Goodlett, R. Aebersold, D.P. Siderovski, J.M. Penninger, and G. Kroemer. 1999. Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. *Nature*. 397:441-446.
- Tanton, L.L. 2003. Alternative oxidase expression in *Neurospora crassa. Thesis* for Department of Biological Sciences, University of Alberta, Edmonton.
- Tanton, L.L., C.E. Nargang, K.E. Kessler, Q. Li, and F.E. Nargang. 2003. Alternative oxidase expression in *Neurospora crassa. Fungal Genet. Biol.* **39**:176-190.
- Tenney, K., I. Hunt, J. Sweigard, J.I. Pounder, C. McClain, E.J. Bowman, and B.J. Bowman. 2000. *Hex-1*, a gene unique to filamentous fungi, encodes the major protein of the Woronin body and functions as a plug for septal pores. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* 31:205-217.
- Tissiers, A., H.K. Mitchell, and F.A. Haskins. 1953. Studies on the respiratory system of the poky strain of *Neurospora*. J. Biol. Chem. **205**:423-433.
- Truscott, K.N., P. Kovermann, A. Geissler, A. Merlin, M. Meijer, A.J. Driessen, J. Rassow, N. Pfanner, and R. Wagner. 2001. A presequence- and voltage-sensitive channel of the mitochondrial preprotein translocase formed by Tim23. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 8:1074-1082.
- Truscott, K.N., K. Brandner, and N. Pfanner. 2003. Mechanisms of protein import into mitochondria. *Curr. Biol.* **13**:R326-337.
- Turpaev, K.T. 2002. Reactive oxygen species and regulation of gene expression. *Biochemistry (Mosc.).* 67:281-292.

- Umbach, A.L., and J.N. Siedow. 1993. Covalent and noncovalent dimers of the cyanideresistant alternative oxidase protein in higher plant mitochondria and their relationship to enzyme activity. *Plant Physiol.* **103**:845-854.
- Umbach, A.L., J.T. Wiskich, and J.N. Siedow. 1994. Regulation of alternative oxidase kinetics by pyruvate and intermolecular disulfide bond redox status in soybean seedling mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* **348**:181-184.
- Umbach, A.L., and J.N. Siedow. 1996. The reaction of the soybean cotyledon mitochondrial cyanide-resistant oxidase with sulfhydryl reagents suggests that alpha-keto acid activation involves the formation of a thiohemiacetal. J. Biol. Chem. 271:25019-25026.
- Umbach, A.L., and J.N. Siedow. 2000. The cyanide-resistant alternative oxidases from the fungi *Pichia stipitis* and *Neurospora crassa* are monomeric and lack regulatory features of the plant enzyme. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **378**:234-245.
- Umbach, A.L., M.A. Gonzalez-Meler, C.R. Sweet, and J.N. Siedow. 2002. Activation of the plant mitochondrial alternative oxidase: insights from site-directed mutagenesis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. 1554:118-128.
- van Buuren, K.J., P.F. Zuurendonk, B.F. van Gelder, and A.O. Muijsers. 1972. Biochemical and biophysical studies on cytochrome *aa*₃. V. Binding of cyanide to cytochrome *aa*₃. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **256**:243-257.
- Vanderleyden, J., C. Peeters, H. Verachtert, and H. Bertrand. 1980. Stimulation of the alternative oxidase of *Neurospora crassa* by nucleoside phosphates. *Biochem. J.* **188**:141-144.
- Vanderleyden, J., E. van Den Eynde, and H. Verachtert. 1980. Nature of the effect of adenosine 5'-monophosphate on the cyanide-insensitive respiration in mitochondria of *Moniliella tomentosa*. *Biochem. J.* **186**:309-316.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., and L. McIntosh. 1992. Lower growth temperature increases alternative pathway capacity and alternative oxidase protein in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **100**:115-119.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., and L. McIntosh. 1994. Mitochondrial electron transport regulation of nuclear gene expression. Studies with the alternative oxidase gene of tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **105**:867-874.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., A.E. Vanlerberghe, and L. McIntosh. 1994. Molecular genetic alteration of plant respiration. Silencing and overexpression of alternative oxidase in transgenic tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **106**:1503-1510.

- Vanlerberghe, G.C., and L. McIntosh. 1996. Signals regulating the expression of the nuclear gene encoding alternative oxidase of plant mitochondria. *Plant Physiol.* 111:589-595.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., and L. McIntosh. 1997. Alternative oxidase: from gene to function. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48:703-734.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., L. McIntosh, and J.Y. Yip. 1998. Molecular localization of a redoxmodulated process regulating plant mitochondrial electron transport. *Plant Cell*. 10:1551-1560.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., J.Y. Yip, and H.L. Parsons. 1999. In organello and in vivo evidence of the importance of the regulatory sulfhydryl/disulfide system and pyruvate for alternative oxidase activity in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* **121**:793-803.
- Vanlerberghe, G.C., C.A. Robson, and J.Y. Yip. 2002. Induction of mitochondrial alternative oxidase in response to a cell signal pathway down-regulating the cytochrome pathway prevents programmed cell death. *Plant Physiol.* **129**:1829-1842.
- Varma, A., B.B. Singh, N. Karnani, H. Lichtenberg-Frate, M. Hofer, B.B. Magee, and R. Prasad. 2000. Molecular cloning and functional characterisation of a glucose transporter, *CaHGT1*, of *Candida albicans*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 182:15-21.
- Veiga, A., J.D. Arrabaca, and M.C. Loureiro-Dias. 2003. Cyanide-resistant respiration, a very frequent metabolic pathway in yeasts. *FEM Yeast Res.* **3**:239-245.
- Veiga, A., J.D. Arrabaca, F. Sansonetty, P. Ludovico, M. Corte-Real, and M.C. Loureiro-Dias. 2003. Energy conversion coupled to cyanide-resistant respiration in the yeasts *Pichia membranifaciens* and *Debaryomyces hansenii*. *FEM Yeast Res.* 3:141-148.
- Verhagen, A.M., P.G. Ekert, M. Pakusch, J. Silke, L.M. Connolly, G.E. Reid, R.L. Moritz, R.J. Simpson, and D.L. Vaux. 2000. Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. *Cell.* **102**:43-53.
- Vester, B., and R.A. Garrett. 1988. The importance of highly conserved nucleotides in the binding region of chloramphenicol at the peptidyl transfer centre of *Escherichia coli* 23S ribosomal RNA. *EMBO J.* 7:3577-3587.
- Videira, A. 1998. Complex I from the fungus *Neurospora crassa*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*. **1364**:89-100.
- Videira, A., and M. Duarte. 2002. From NADH to ubiquinone in *Neurospora* mitochondria. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1555**:187-191.

von Heijne, G. 1986. Why mitochondria need a genome. FEBS Lett. 198:1-4.

- von Jagow, G., H. Weiss, and M. Klingenberg. 1973. Comparison of the respiratory chain of *Neurospora crassa* wild type and the mi-mutants mi-1 and mi-3. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **33**:140-157.
- von Jagow, G., and C. Bohrer. 1975. Inhibition of electron transfer from ferrocytochrome b to ubiquinone, cytochrome c1 and duroquinone by antimycin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 387:409-424.
- Wagner, A.M. 1995. A role for active oxygen species as second messengers in the induction of alternative oxidase gene expression in *Petunia hybrida* cells. *FEBS Lett.* **368**:339-342.
- Wagner, A.M., and K. Krab. 1995. The alternative respiration pathway in plants: role and regulation. *Physiol. Plant.* **95**:318-325.
- Wallace, D.C. 1999. Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. Science. 283:1482-1488.
- Wang, Z., M. Deak, and S.J. Free. 1994. A *cis*-acting region required for the regulated expression of *grg-1*, a Neurospora glucose-repressible gene. Two regulatory sites (CRE and NRS) are required to repress *grg-1* expression. J. Mol. Biol. 237:65-74.
- Waterhouse, N.J. 2003. The cellular energy crisis: mitochondria and cell death. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* **35**:105-110.
- Waxman, M.F., J.A. Knight, and P.S. Perlman. 1979. Suppression of mitochondriallydetermined resistance to chloramphenicol and paromomycin by nuclear genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol. Gen. Genet.* 167:243-250.
- Wei, Y.H., and H.C. Lee. 2002. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial DNA mutation, and impairment of antioxidant enzymes in aging. *Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood)*. 227:671-682.
- Wendland, J.A., K.B. Lengeler, and E. Kothe. 1996. An instant preparation method for nucleic acids of filamentous fungi. *Fungal Genet. Newsl.* **43**:54-55.
- Westermann, B. 2002. Merging mitochondria matters: cellular role and molecular machinery of mitochondrial fusion. *EMBO Rep.* **3**:527-531.
- Whelan, J., L. McIntosh, and D.A. Day. 1993. Sequencing of a soybean alternative oxidase cDNA clone. *Plant Physiol.* **103**:1481.
- Whelan, J., A.H. Millar, and D.A. Day. 1996. The alternative oxidase is encoded in a multigene family in soybean. *Planta*. **198**:197-201.

- White, B., and D. Woodward. 1995. A simple method for making disposable race tubes. *Fungal Genet. Newsl.* **42**:79.
- Wiedemann, N., N. Pfanner, and M.T. Ryan. 2001. The three modules of ADP/ATP carrier cooperate in receptor recruitment and translocation into mitochondria. *EMBO J.* **20**:951-960.
- Wu, G., and S.M. Morris, Jr. 1998. Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. *Biochem. J.* **336**:1-17.
- Wurgler-Murphy, S.M., and H. Saito. 1997. Two-component signal transducers and MAPK cascades. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 22:172-176.
- Yaffe, M.P. 1999. The machinery of mitochondrial inheritance and behavior. *Science*. **283**:1493-1497.
- Yamada-Okabe, T., T. Mio, N. Ono, Y. Kashima, M. Matsui, M. Arisawa, and H. Yamada-Okabe. 1999. Roles of three histidine kinase genes in hyphal development and virulence of the pathogenic fungus *Candida albicans*. J. Bacteriol. 181:7243-7247.
- Yanase, S., K. Yasuda, and N. Ishii. 2002. Adaptive responses to oxidative damage in three mutants of *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*age-1*, *mev-1* and *daf-16*) that affect life span. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **123**:1579-1587.
- Yarden, O., M. Plamann, D.J. Ebbole, and C. Yanofsky. 1992. cot-1, a gene required for hyphal elongation in *Neurospora crassa*, encodes a protein kinase. *EMBO J.* 11:2159-2166.
- Yip, J.Y., and G.C. Vanlerberghe. 2001. Mitochondrial alternative oxidase acts to dampen the generation of active oxygen species during a period of rapid respiration induced to support a high rate of nutrient uptake. *Physiol. Plant.* 112:327-333.
- Yoshida, S., and F. Tagawa. 1979. Alteration of the respiratory function in chill-sensitive callus due to low temperature stress. I. Involvement of the alternate pathway. *Plant Cell Physiol.* **20**:1243-1250.
- Young, J.C., N.J. Hoogenraad, and F.U. Hartl. 2003. Molecular chaperones Hsp90 and Hsp70 deliver preproteins to the mitochondrial import receptor Tom70. *Cell*. **112**:41-50.
- Yukioka, H., S. Inagaki, R. Tanaka, K. Katoh, N. Miki, A. Mitzutani, and M. Masuko. 1998. Analysis of alternative oxidase gene in mutants of *Magnaporthe grisea* deficient in alternative, cyanide-resistant, respiration. *Ann. Phytopathol. Soc. Jpn.* 64:282-286.

- Yukioka, H., S. Inagaki, R. Tanaka, K. Katoh, N. Miki, A. Mizutani, and M. Masuko. 1998. Transcriptional activation of the alternative oxidase gene of the fungus *Magnaporthe grisea* by a respiratory-inhibiting fungicide and hydrogen peroxide. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* 1442:161-169.
- Zhang, Z., L. Huang, V.M. Shulmeister, Y.I. Chi, K.K. Kim, L.W. Hung, A.R. Crofts, E.A. Berry, and S.H. Kim. 1998. Electron transfer by domain movement in cytochrome bc₁. Nature. **392**:677-684.
- Zou, H., W.J. Henzel, X. Liu, A. Lutschg, and X. Wang. 1997. Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to *C. elegans* CED-4, participates in cytochrome *c*-dependent activation of caspase-3. *Cell*. **90**:405-413.